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Financial Highlights
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Operating Income
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Includes a $.02 reduction related to discontinued operations, as well as special charges and an impairment charge that offset a gain on noncore property.

“Includes special charges and an imparrment charge. Impact per share was a combined decrease of $0.10.

“Included in this Annuzl Repcrt to Shareholders, we have alsc provided certain non-GAAP financial measures, which include adjusted operating cash flow, adjusted
diluted earnings per share and adjusted return on invested capital. For additional informaticn, including a reconciliation from GAAP financial measures to non-GAAP
financial measures, please review the Non-GAAPR Financial Measurements section located at the end of this report.
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The strength and growing diversity
of our capabilities, brands and
markets drove dynamic growth for
PepsiAmericas in 2007, and fueled
significant shareholder returns. We
built a stronger PepsiAmericas through
Customer Alignment in the U.S. and by
increasing our scale and profitability
in our international markets.
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Total Shareholder Return
(price appreciation, at year-end closing
stock price. plus reinvested dividends)

To Qur Shareholders

For PepsiAmericas and our shareholders, 2007 was a good year. We
committed to manage change in order to drive shareholder value,
and we delivered on that commitment. In a year of significantly
higher raw material costs and continued declines in the carbonated
soft drink category in the U.S., revenues grew to $4.5 billion, adjusted
diluted earnings per share increased 24 percent to $1.64" and
comparable adjusted return on invested capital increased 90 basis
points to 7.9 percent.

Our distinctive capabilities, expanded beverage portfolio and broader
geographic diversity set us apart and drove this strong performance
in 2007.

Scale and profitability. Qur U.S. business is the foundation of
PepsiAmericas, contributing consistent cash flow and over 75 percent
of our operating profits. Though mature, it is the scale of this market
that allows us to maximize the potential of the productivity and
innovation opportunities. We had a full calendar of innovation in 2007,
leveraging our powerful market execution and strong partnership with
PepsiCo, while also maintaining disciplined pricing in our markets to
offset cost increases. At the same time, we introduced productivity
improvements to drive greater efficiencies in our supply chain. The
combined effect was a solid year for our U.S. business.

Carbonated soft drinks (CSDs) remain the biggest part of our business,
with the Pepsi and Mountain Dew trademarks alone comprising over
65 percent of our U.S. volume. While CSDs have declined over the
past several years, innovation, execution and brand strength continue
tc play a key role in supporting this important category for us and
our customers. From this CSD leadership position, we have grown
and built scale in our non-carbonated beverage portfolio, which now
represents over 20 percent of our U.S. volume and is anchored

by Aguafina and Lipton trademarks. The double-digit growth of
non-carbonated beverages and higher pricing drove our revenue
growth and offset higher raw material costs.

Building capabilities. In January of 2007, we implemented
Customer Alignment, the most significant change in how we
manage our U.S. business. This newly rebuilt selling and delivery
organization transformed PepsiAmericas from a decentralized
geographic structure to one built around channels and key customers.
We now have greater expertise and specialization across all our
customer channels — capabilities that set PepsiAmericas apart. We
were recognized by Wal-Mart with a National Vendor of the Year
Award, and we received awards from Kroger and Target as well.
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Building from this, we began work on our next
major productivity initiative, called CO? which
improves our demand planning and forecasting
accuracy, drives warehouse efficiency and loading
accuracy, and includes a powerful selling technology
for our frontline organization. In 2007, we drove
meaningful improvement in forecasting accuracy
that resulted in a reduction in out-of-stocks. The
new selling tools and warehouse processes are
being implemented and will be completed this year.

These efforts reflect our continuing goal to improve
productivity and maximize volume in the U.S. to
ensure our continued strength in market share,
profitability and cash flow.

Investing in growth. Central and Eastern Europe
(CEE) continues to be the most significant source of
our volume and operating profit growth. We have an
expanding presence across 11 countries that includes
high-growth markets with strengthening economies
and consumer spending driving broad-based growth
in beverages. Our markets are fragmented, with
regional players accounting for the majority of the
beverage category. Including acquisition and foreign
currency benefits, our business in Central and
Eastern Europe delivered operating profits of over
$100 millicn, quadruple that of the prior year.

We continue to make significant investments in
people through our “feet on the street” selling
initiative, as well as advertising, marketing and
equipment programs to support our brands. All
categories grew, and all markets contributed,
and there continue to be channel, product and
geographic opportunities.

Most notably, we expanded into Ukraine through
the joint acquisition with PepsiCo of Sandora, the
feading juice company in the country. Ukraine, with
a population of 46 million people and an emerging
economy, adds scale and an important distribution
platform for future growth. In Bulgaria, we made a
minority investment in the Pepsi business as we
continue to expand our territories.

Growing responsibly, Qur success as a company is
the result of purposeful preparation and planning.
There are two things that took on even greater
importance for us this past year, We made an
acticnable commitment to improve diversity and
to foster inclusion within PepsiAmericas. We have
begun the implementation of a thoughtful and
comprehensive plan, and we will closely measure

our progress. In our broader sustainability efforts,
we have also made significant progress in
environmental stewardship and have plans for
further expansion in 2008.

Looking ahead. Raw material costs will again be a
challenge in 2008, but we begin the year with a
stronger platform for growth than ever before. we
have a more effective and efficient U.S. organization
with Customer Alignment and CQO?, an expanded,
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more innovative beverage portfolio, and an
increasingly diverse geographic portfolio. It's this
combination that can drive sustainable growth for
PepsiAmericas.

It is a privilege to be a part of a company with so
much strength and potential. Our brands are world
class, our markets are diverse, and our partnership
with PepsiCo is strong. Most important, though, is
the dedication, talent and drive of the individuals
who bring this company to life.

PepsiAmericas is seven years old, and much has
changed. As we begin 2008, we are more diverse
and more dynamic, What remains the same, however,
is our commitment to you, our shareholders, to
recognize and respond to change and find new
ways to grow and create shareholder value.

Tt Joitnd

Robert C. Pohlad
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
March 4, 2008




Q: Central and Eastern Europe has been a significant contributor of growtn over the past several yedrs.
How do you plan on sustaining this growth?

Ken Keiser: We have executed well on our strategy to build scale and profitability in our Central and Eastern European
business, with a presence now in 11 countries and operating profits exceeding $10C million in 2007, While we expect
strong per capita GDP growth in each country to continue, we have a winning farmula already in place that will help
sustain cur growth.

we will continue to add selling resources to gain distribution and channel penetration, invest in brand-building advertising
and marketing programs, and leverage our effective and efficient go-to-market model. Along with an experienced
management team, we are a strenger, more geographically diverse business today to deliver growth in the future.
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Q: PepsiAmericas made several acquisitions in Central and Eastern Europe. How do you think about your
future acquisition strategy?

Alex Ware: Central and Eastern Europe cantinues to hold significant opportunity for growth through both new geographies
and new product categories. Our acquisition strategy is to expand into bigher-growth markets via meaningful brand
and/or distribution acquisitions, similar to Romania.

We accelerated our growth this year by jointly acquiring Sandora, the leading juice company in Ukraine, with PepsiCo.
This acquisition gives us a new opportunity to grow through new products and a strong distribution platform in a high-
growth, emerging market. On a smaller scale, we also invested in a 20 percent interest in the Bulgaria Pepsi franchise.

Looking ahead, you can expect us to continue to execute against our CEE expansion strategy in a disciplined way as
we look to capture new oppertunities for growth through a more diverse geographic and product portfolio.

Q: How does PepsiAmericas manage through a declining carbonated soft drink (CSD) environment in the U.S.?

Ken Keiser: Innovation and strong marketing programs are key to supporting this important category. We were strong
on both in 2007, with the launch of Diet Pepsi Max and several limited-time offers across our core brands. We expect
consumers, however, to continue to consume fewer CSDs as they seek more variety and healthier beverage alternatives.

Therefore, our portiolio is evolving to meet these needs with non-carbonated beverages now over 20 percent of our

U.S. valurme. We have been able to transfer our CSD leadership position to grow and create scale in non-carbonated
beverages — a perfect example is our Lipton tea portfolio, where we now enjoy a nearly 50 percent share of this category
in the U.S.

Q: How will PepsiAmericas continue to navigate through higher cost of goods sold?

Alex Ware: In 2007, we were able to take rate increases to cover the cost of goods sold. and we expect to do the
same in 2008. Our new sales structure in the U.S., Customer Alignment, and our continued progress in our major
productivity initiative, CQ*, both provide additional capability. flexibility and efficiency to help cover higher costs.
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It is critical that our frontline sales
managers have the right tools to be
successful in the marketplace, Here,
an account sales manager is receiving
cn-the-job coaching that is part of a
newly formalized training process,
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As our business expands into new geographies and product
offerings, we continue to invest in capabilities and capacity
to capture the growth opportunities.

Beginning with our “feet on the street” initiative in Central
and Eastern Europe, we have added selling resources to
drive increased distribution among existing customers and,
importantly, to expand our reach in less developed channels
such as traditional trade and foodservice. As we grew, our
flexible and efficient distribution system atlowed us to utilize
third parties for delivery in the more rural areas. The results
were double-digit volume growth in these channels, with double-
digit single serve growth and expanded operating margins.

To continue to grow and capture the growth potential of these
European markets, we are also investing in needed capacity
and productivity. In 2008, we will add a new aseptic line in
Poland to meet the growing consumer demand for Lipton teas,
as well as an improved logistic center in Hungary, and begin
building a new manufacturing plant in Romania to keep up with
increasing demand.

In the U.S,, our newly rebuilt sales structure — Customer
Alignment — further strengthened our customer service
through channel expertise and specialization. The new
organization drove results, giving us greater visibility to
marketplace opportunities whether they be price, innovation
or marketing programs. And our efforts have been recognized
with awards from some of our largest customers. The
organization is designed well for long-term profitability in
this important 1.5, market.

We are also committed to ensuring our people have the right
tools to be successful in the marketplace. We rolled out a
comprehensive 150-hour training program for our frontline
salespeople, with ongoing coaching sessions and an annual
certification process for our account sales managers. This
training reinforces the best practices around those things that
drive our results — negotiation, strategic planning and selling,

arders more efficiently. This technology, &
accurate demand forecasting, results in fawer out-of- stocks,

customer relationships and business economics. With people
in the right places with the right tools, we are better at doing
business, and help cur customers do theirs better, too.

At the same time, we're investing in productivity across our
supply chain to ensure our largest market ¢continues to drive
profitability and strong cash flows. Most notably, we began work
on our CO* initiative, in which we are leveraging technology
and new processes to ensure more accurate forecasts and
deliveries and, ultimately, fewer out-of-stocks at retail. In 2007,
we drove a 30 percent improvement in forecasting accuracy,
which resulted in a meaningful reduction in out-of-stocks. In
2008, we will continue the rollout of Voicepick technology to
ensure accurate order picking; launch a new selling handheld
to increase selling effectiveness and efficiency; and add new
technology to help drive appropriate inventory levels and
improve working capital. We've also expanded our supply chain
initiatives to include more rigorous SKU rationalization, route
optimization through more centralized dispatch centers, and
warchouse standardization.

We are committed to strengthening our capabilities through
people, process and technology to drive greater efficiencies
and effectiveness across our markets.

O

GIVING BACK

As we begin our journey to increase
diversity and foster even greater
inclusiveness, we do so with clarity,
purpose and a strong foundation buiit on
respect and teamwork. We are defining
a culture that embraces varied customs
and ideas and encourages innovation.
PepsiAmaericas also spent in excess of
$1.5 miltion and volunteered thousands
of hours last year to benefit more than
400 nonprofit organizations in our
communities where we live and work.

PepsiAmericas, Inc. 2007 Annual Report 5
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Diverse. Dynamic.
Growth through expanding Products.

We are in the business of quenciing thirsts, end owr gledel pertfelio oo
continues to axpand to saiislly the changing needs of consumers. |
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Cur non-carbonated
- . R portfelio in the U.S.
. !R't Y 'jr?.. grew 10 percent in 2007,
AN and our multi-brand
) b strategy in the important
\ hydration category will

be key to continuing
this momentum.
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The liquid refreshment beverage {(LRB) category is big,
dynamic and growing, and we are better positioned than even
a year ago to capture that growth with innovative, relevant
and resilient brands across our global portfolio.

In the LU.S., carbonated soft drinks continue to play an important
role in our portfolic — representing the majority of the products
we sell, including the profitable single serve business. Strong
innovation, marketing programs and marketplace execution
help to support this category. We successfully launched

Diet Pepsi Max in 2007, and Diet Mountain Dew continued
to deliver volume gains. As we move into 2008, we have an
exciting promotional calendar led by Pepsi Stuff, a rewards
program against the entire Pepsi trademark with significant
consumer value.

And while we're committed to drive excitement in this vital
CSD category, our pertfolio is evolving to offer the variety
and healthier alternatives consumers want. Qver the past three
years, our non-carbonated beverage portfolio grew double
digits and now represents 20 percent of our U.S. volume. Our
success is led by our three-tea strategy in Lipton — Pureleaf,
Lipton Iced Tea and Brisk — as we innovated and executed well
in this fast-growing category. Our Lipton business grew over
30 percent in 2007, and we now enjoy an almost 50 percent

—

GOING GREEN

Environmental responsibility is
everyone's responsibility at
PepsiAmericas. By installing
energy-efficient lighting, purchasing
rechargeable forkiifts, reducing
bottie weight and eliminating 18%
water as a lubricant in our production

fines, the company continues to 14%

drive greater energy efficiency,
cut waste and reduce water
usage. Alf while lowering our
domestic operating costs and
reaching our highest product
quality scores ever in the U.S.
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U.S. Non-Carb Mix
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share of ready-to-drink teas in the U.5. We also laid the
foundation for a key priority moving forward — to capture
the growth in the hydration category. We have a strong
multi-brand hydration strategy with the relaunch of SoBe
Life Water and Aquafina Alive, new innovation in Propel,

and the new G2 in the important convenience-and-gas
channel. We also have a stronger focus on AMP Energy,

with innovation and marketing activities adding to this
brand's strength. As consumers seek greater variety, our
non-carbonated focus and innovation are quenching the need.

Internationally, we have geographies with robust category
growth rates. We continue to expand our product portfolio
to capture that growth potential. In the Caribbean, we made
meaningful progress in building out our non-carbonated
portfolio, growing over 80 percent in 2007. We continued to
develop strategic partnerships to distribute locally relevant
beverages that complement our existing portfolio and are
leveraging our global portfolio. One example is the success
we have had in Jamaica with the launch of our European
juice brand, Toma. By expanding our portfolio in the
Caribbean, we can accelerate our growth faster than the
total category.

A stranger, broader product portfolio is core to capturing
Central and Eastern European top-line growth opportunities.
Carbonated soft drinks continue to be a growth driver for us
in Europe, led by high single-digit growth in trademark Pepsi.
And the strength of the Lipton brand extends beyond the
U.S., driving a strong No. 1 or No. 2 position in the fast-growing
ready-to-drink tea category in each of our markets. We
expanded our presence in juices, with a successful relaunch
of our Toma brand in the Czech Republic, and doubled our
juice volume in Poland. We also continue to grow our
Frito-Lay snack business in the Czech Republic and Hungary,
driving meaningful share gains. But our most notable product
expansion came from our joint acquisition with PepsiCo of
Sandora, the leading juice company in Ukraine.

A capable and growing sales force and an expanding product
portfolio provide a powerful combination to capture market
share in the fragmented CEE region for years ahead.

PepsiAmericas, Inc. 2007 Annual Report 7
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e Crowth through expanding Markets.

@ Building scale and profitability in our high-growth
. Central and Eastern European markets adds diversity
and strength to our portfolio.

Cur expansion into Ukraine through
Sandora gives PepsiAmericas a new
platform for growth, Sandora

is the market leader in juices. and
serves a population of 46 million,
almost equal to the population we
serve in our U.5. markets.




We continue to increase the availabkility of our
products in CEE through investment in additional
selling resources and capabilities.

We are creating new growth opportunities for PepsiAmericas
through geographic expansion as we leverage our strengthened
capabilities and broadened product portfolio. Central and
Eastern Europe (CEE) has the greatest growth potential, with
the LRB category growing in the mid to high single digits and
regional players accounting for the majority of this category.

We have a strong and growing portfolio, beginning with our
core developing European Union markets, Poland, Hungary,
the Czech Republic and Republic of Slovakia. Since then, we
have added distribution in the Baltic countries in 2006, and
most notably, expanded cur geographic footprint to include
important emerging markets: first, Romania and Moldova in
2006, and then our expansion into Ukraine and Bulgaria this
year. All of these countries have economies that are rapidly
expanding, with fast-growing GDP per capita levels driving
greater demand for all beverages. in fact, all our CEE markets
grew volumes and operating profits on a currency-neutral
basis in 2007.

GROWING RESPONSIBLY

Sustainable growth is growing
responsibly. And we are investing
significant resources to maintain
success in the CEE markets we
serve. Whether we're performing
water efficiency audits in our
plants, reusing sediment from
water as fertilizer for local
farmers, installing electrical energy
monitaring systems or reducing
transportation, this company will o1} 06 07
continue raising the bar — doing International
good for the environment and Operating Income

duci (in mitlions, and includes
reducing our costs. aquisitions and foreign

currency bernefits)

$104.5

$25.9
$5.7

Qur flexible go-to-market model is key to efficiently capturing
the dynamic growth in the CEE markets.

With the Pepsi franchise business, Romania was a significant
source of growth in 2007 — our first full year of 100 percent
ownership. This country is a highly profitable place to do
business and greatly contributed to our CEE margin expansion
in 2007, Strong package and brand innovation, marketing
programs and marketplace execution drove double-digit top-
and bottom-line growth. As we extend our operating model
to this market, we are also working to add products and
capability to ensure we capture the growth potential.

This year, we entered Ukraine with the joint acquisition with
PepsiCo of Sandora, the market-leading juice company.
Ukraine is an important market that adds diversity and scale
to our geographic portfolio, with 46 million people — a population
almost equal to that of our U.S. business. Sandora is a big
business and share leader, bringing diversity to our product
offerings. Sandora brands are well positioned with roughly
half of the fast-growing juice category’s share, and a powerful
distribution system reaching over 90 percent of the trade. And
our partnership with PepsiCo provides a strong platform for
growth in brand development with opportunities for expansion
into other categories. We also extended our footprint to
include Bulgaria, and its nearly 7 million people, through a
20 percent joint venture that will likely build to 100 percent
over the next several years.

Cur actionable and disciplined expansion strategy has
strengthened our increasingly diverse geographic portfolio —
providing us greater opportunities for greater growth. And
we continue to see plenty of opportunities to grow through
continued geographic expansion, along with channel and
product opportunities. It's the combination of these fast-
developing growth markets, along with the highly profitable
and developed U.S. business, that positions us well to deliver
profits and growth to our shareholders.

PepsiAmericas, Inc. 2007 Annual Report 9
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United States

Our U.S. business extends throughout America’s heartland, including 19
states, and accounts for approximately 19 percent of total U.S. PepsiCo
volume. While carbonated soft drinks account for the majority of beverages
we sell, non-carbonated beverages represent over 20 percent of our U.S.
volume mix, anchored by Aguafina and Lipton trademarks. Beyond
brands, package mix is critical to our success, with our higher-margin
single serve package representing approximately 22 percent of our total
bottle and can volume. Our U.S. business accounts for 76 percent of total

company sales,

$3,384.9

2007 Net Sales rn munons)

Channel Mix
Bottle/Can Cases

Product Mix
Bottle/Can Cases

® TM Pepsi 42%
¢ TM Dew 25%
® 5D Flavors 13%
T™M Aquafina 9%
& T Lipton 6%
Other Non-Carbs 5%

#* Large Format 62%4
® Smal!l Format 22%
* Foodservice 16%

Central and Eastern Europe

We market our products now in 11 countries in Central and Eastern
Europe: Romania, Poland, Ukraine, Hungary, the Czech Republic,
Republic of Slovakia, Moldova, Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia and Bulgaria.
During 2007, we acquired Sandora, the leading juice company in Ukraine,
through a joint venture with PepsiCo. Leading brands in Central and
Eastern Europe include Pepsi, Natura water, Lipton lced Tea, and Toma
juice and juice drinks. We also sell Frito-Lay snack foods in Hungary and
the Czech Republic. Qur Central and Eastern European business

accounts for 19 percent of total company sales.

$849.4

2007 Net Sales e murrons)

Channel Mix
Botile/Can Cases

Product Mix
Bottle/Can Cases

* TM Pepsi 42% * Wholesate 38%

® Juice 20% * Large Format 27%
* Water 16% ® Small Format 22%
€SO Flavors 10% Foodservice 13%

Cther 7%
* Slice 5%

Caribbean

We do business in Puerto Rico, Jamaica, the Bahamas, Trinidad and
Tobago, and Barbados, with Puerto Rico comprising over 60 percent of
Caribbean net sales. We have leading share in the dominant carbonated
soft drink category, with a rapidly growing non-carbonated beverage
business. We expanded our juice portfolio and distribution of other
tocally relevant brands such as Maita Polar, a nonalcoholic malt beverage
that is now 4 percent of our total Caribbean volume. We also sell
Frito-Lay snacks and beer in certain markets. Qur Caribbean business

accounts for 5 percent of total company sales.

$245.2
2007 Net Sales o» o tons)

Channel Mix
Bottle/Can Cases

Product Mix
Boltle/Can Cases

* TM Pepsi 52% ® Large Format 43°
CSD Flavors 23% & Small Farmat 34%;
* TM 7UP 11% * Wholesale 17%
Juice 6% Foodservice 6%
* QOther 5%
Water 3%
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Central and
Eastern Europe
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$4.5

billion

AR
$188

million

+90

basis points

International expansion, strengthened capabilities in the U.S,,
and a broader global product portfolio drove revenues up

i -
13 percent to $4.5 billion.

N>

An expanding international footprint that now includes 11 countries
in the high-growth markets of Central and Eastern Europe,
along with consistent execution of our selling and distribution
strategies, drove international to 24 percent of worldwide
operating profits, up from 7 percent a year ago.

Our strong operating performance allowed us to accelerate
capital investments in Central and Eastern Eurcpe, and still
generate $188* million in adjusted operating cash flows, up

8 percent from a year ago.
We are making smart investments, generating our strongest
improvement in comparable adjusted return on invested capital,

driving it to 7.9* percent in 2007, up from 7 percent a year ago.

PepsiAmericas, Inc. 2007 Annual Report 1




PepsiAmericas Board of Directors and Executive Officers
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Board of Directors

Herbert M. Baum
Chairrman, Prosident and
Chief Executive Officer,

The Dial Corporation (Retred)
L3

Richard G. Cline
Chairman, Hawthorne
Investors, Inc.

2. 34

5. Jaraionm Gilsert, Jr., Pere & du

G. Cime
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Michael J. Corliss

Chief Executive Officer,
InvestCo Financial Corporation
L3

Pierre 5. du Pont
Former Governor.
State of Delaware
124

Archie R. Dykes
Director of vanous
corporations

2.3 4

Jarobin Gilbert, Jr.
President and Chief Executive
Officer, DBSS Group, Inc.

"2

James R. Kackley
Director of varous
corporations

13

Matthew M. McKenna
President and

Chief Executive Officer,
Keep America Beautiful, Inc

Reloert €

Robert C. Pohlad
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer,
PepsiAmericas, Inc.

Deborah E. Powell, M.D.
Dean of the University of
Minnesota Medical School
2.3

Executive Officers

Raobert C. Pohlad
Chairman of the Board and
Chisf Executive Officer

Kenneth E. Keiser
President and
Chief Operating Officer

Alexander H. Ware
Executive Vice President and
Chuef Financial Officer

G. Michael Durkin, Jr.
Executive Vice President,
USs.

James R. Rogers
Executive Vice President.
international

Jay S. Hulbert
Executive Vice President,
Worldwide Supply Chamn

Anne D, Sample
Executive Vice President,
Human Resources

Kenneth L. Johnsen
Semor Vice President,
Chief Information Officer

Timothy W. Gorman
Senior Vice President,
Controfler

Andrew R. Stark
Vice President,
Treasurer

Board Committees: | 1 Audit | 2 Governance. Finance and Nominating | 3 Management Resources and Compensation | 4 Affiated Transaction |

‘Committee Chair
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OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Item 1. Business.

General

On November 30, 2000, Whitman Corporation merged with PepsiAmericas, Inc. (the “former
PepsiAmericas™), and in January 2001, the combined entity changed its name to PepsiAmericas, Inc. (referred
to as “PepsiAmericas,” “we,” “our” and “us”), We manufacture, distribute and market a broad portfolio of
beverage products in the United States (“U.S."), Central and Eastern Europe (“CEE”) and the Caribbean, and
have expanded our distribution to include snack foods and beer in certain markets.

We sell a variety of brands that we bottle under licenses from PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo™) or PepsiCo joint
ventures, which accounted for approximately 90 percent of our total net sales in fiscal year 2007. We account
for approximately 19 percent of all PepsiCo beverage products sold in the U.S. In some territories, we
manufacture, package, sell and distribute products under brands licensed by companies other than PepsiCo,
and in some territories we distribute our own brands, such as Toma brands in CEE and the Caribbean and
Sandora brands in Ukraine.

Qur distribution channels for the retail sale of our products include supermarkets, supercenters, club
stores, mass merchandisers, convenience stores, gas stations, small grocery stores, dollar stores and drug stores.
We also distribute our products through various other channels, including restaurants and cafeterias, vending
machines and other formats that provide for immediate consumption of our products. In fiscal year 2007, our
fargest distribution channels were supermarkets and supercenters, and our fastest growing channels were club
stores, drug stores, and dollar stores.

We deliver our products through these channels primarily using a direct store delivery system. In our
territories, we are responsible for selling products, providing timely service to our existing customers, and
identifying and obtaining new customers. We are also responsible for local advertising and marketing, as well
as executing national and regional selling programs created by brand owners in our territories. The bottling
business is capital intensive. Manufacturing operations require specialized high-speed equipment, and distribu-
tion requires investment in trucks and warehouse facilities as well as extensive placement of fountain
equipment, cold drink vending machines and coolers.

In the third quarter of 2007, a PepsiAmericas and PepsiCo joint venture acquired an 80 percent interest in
Sandora LLC (“Sandora”). In the fourth quarter of 2007, the joint venture acquired the remaining 20 percent.
Sandora manufactures and distributes a variety of juice brands and is the market leader in the high growth
juice category in Ukraine. Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, we hold a 60 percent interest and
PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest in the joint venture. In the third quarter of 2007, we purchased a 20 percent
interest in a joint venture that owns Agrima JSC (“Agrima™). Agrima produces, sells and distributes PepsiCo
products and other beverages throughout Bulgaria.

In June 2005, we acquired 49 percent of the outstanding stock of Quadrant-Amroq Bottling Company
Limited (“QABCL” or “Romania”). In July 2006, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 51 percent of
QABCL. QABCL, through its subsidiaries, produces, sells, and distributes Pepsi and other beverages
throughout Romania. In January 2005, we completed the acquisition of Central Investment Corporation
(“CIC™), the seventh largest Pepsi bottler in the U.S. CIC had bottling operations in southeast Florida and
central Ohio.

Our annual, quarterly and current reports, and all amendments to those reports, are included on our
website at www.pepsiamericas.com, and are made available, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable
after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our
corporate governance guidelines, code of conduct, code of ethics and key committee charters are available on
our website and in print upon written request to PepsiAmericas, Inc., 4000 Dain Rauscher Plaza, 60 South
Sixth Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, Attention: Investor Relations.
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Business Segments

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”™ in Item 7
and Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding business and
operating results of our geographic segments. See “Risk Factors” in ltem 1A for additional information
regarding specific risks in our international operations.

Relationship with PepsiCo

PepsiCo beneficially owned approximately 44 percent of PepsiAmericas’ outstanding common stock as of
the end of fiscal year 2007.

While we manage all phases of our operations, including pricing of our products, PepsiAmericas and
PepsiCo exchange production, marketing and distribution information, which benefits both companies’
respective efforts to lower costs, improve quality and productivity and increase product sales. We have a
significant ongoing relationship with PepsiCo and have entered into a number of significant transactions and
agreements with PepsiCo. We expect to enter into additional transactions and agreements with PepsiCo in the
future.

We purchase concentrates from PepsiCo, pay royalties related to Aquafina products, and manufacture,
package, sell, and distribute cola and non-cola beverages under various bottling agreements with PepsiCo.
These agreements give us the right to manufacture, package, sell and distribute beverage products of PepsiCo
in both bottles and cans, as well as fountain syrup in specified territories. These agreements provide PepsiCo
with the ability to set prices of concentrates, as well as the terms of payment and other terms and conditions
under which we purchase such concentrates. See “Franchise Agreements” for discussion of significant
agreements. We also purchase finished beverage and snack food products from PepsiCo, as well as products
from certain affiliates of PepsiCo.,

Other significant transactions and agreements with PepsiCo include arrangements for marketing, promo-
tional and advertising support; manufacturing services related to PepsiCo’s national account customers;
procurement of raw materials; and the acquisition of Sandora (see “Related Party Transactions” in Item 7 and
Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion).

Products and Packaging

Our portfolio of beverage products includes some of the best-recognized trademarks in the world. Our |
three largest brands in terms of volume are Pepsi, Diet Pepsi and Moumtain Dew. While the majority of our |
volume is derived from brands licensed from PepsiCo and PepsiCo joint ventures, we also sell and distribute
brands licensed from others, as well as some of our own brands. Our top five beverage brands in fiscal year
2007 by geographic segment are listed below:

Us. CEE Caribbean

Pepsi Pepsi Pepsi

Mountain Dew Toma Water 7upP

Diet Pepsi Slice Desnoes and Geddes
Aquafina Lipton Iced Teas Malta Polar

Diet Mountain Dew Kristalyviz Aquafina

In addition to the beverage products described above, we distribute snack food preducts in Trinidad and
Tobago, the Czech Republic, and Hungary pursuant to a distribution agreement with Frito-Lay, Inc., a
subsidiary of PepsiCo.

Our beverages are available in different package types, including but not limited to, aluminum cans, glass
and polyethylene terephthalate (“PET”) bottles, paperboard cartons and bag-in-box packages for fountain use.
The can and bottle packages are available in both single-serve and multi-pack offerings.
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Territories

In the U.S., we serve a significant portion of a 19-state region, primarily in the Midwest. Internationally,
we serve Central and Eastern European and Caribbean markets, including Poland, Hungary, the Czech
Republic, Republic of Slovakia, Romania, Ukraine, Puerto Rico, Jamaica, the Bahamas, and Trinidad and
Tobago. We have distribution rights and distribute in Moldova, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Barbados. We
serve areas with a total population of approximately 200 million people in these markets. In addition, through
our Sandora investment, we sell Sandora-branded products to third-party distributors in Belarus, Azerbaijan,
Russia and other countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Although we distribute Frito-Lay products in
Ukraine, we currently do not distribute any Pepsi branded beverage products in the Ukraine. We also have a
20 percent equity investment in Agrima which gives us a market presence in Bulgaria. In fiscal year 2007, we
derived approximately 76 percent of our net sales from U.S. operations and approximately 24 percent of our
net sales from international operations (see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
discussion).

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Qur sales and marketing approach varies by region and channel to respond to unique local competitive
environments. [n the U.S., channels with larger stores can accommodate a number of beverage suppliers and,
therefore, marketing efforts tend to focus on increasing the amount of shelf space and the number of displays
in any given outlet, In locations where our products are purchased for immediate consumption, marketing
efforts are aimed not only at securing the account but also on providing equipment that facilitates the sale of
cold beverages, such as vending machines, coolers and fountain equipment.

Package mix is an important consideration in the development of our marketing plans. Although some
packages are more expensive to produce and distribute, in certain channels those packages may have higher
average selling prices. For example, a packaged product that is sold cold for immediate consumption generally
has better margins than a product that is sold to take home. This cold drink channel includes vending
machines and coolers. We own a majority of the vending machines used to dispense our products. We
refurbish a majority of our cold drink equipment in our refurbishment centers in the U.S. and Puerto Rico.

In the U.S., we distribute directly to a majority of customers in our licensed territories through a direct
store distribution system. Our sales force is key to our selling efforts as it continually interacts with our
customers to promote and sell our products. We utilize Next Generation, a pre-sell system, that allows sales
managers to call accounts in advance to determine how much product and promotional material to deliver. We
have continued to address internal capabilities and efficiencies throughout our organization. In fiscal year
2007, we realigned our organization in the U.S. from a sales organization based on geography to one built
arcund customer channels. This new structure enables us to dedicate more resources and sales support 1o
channels and customers that are growing and helps us to align more directly with the way our customers do
business. We also operate a call center, Pepsi Connect, in Fargo, North Dakota, which enables us to provide
the level of service our customers require in a manner that is cost effective.

In the U.S., the direct store distribution system is used for all packaged goods and certain fountain
accounts. We have the exclusive right to sell and deliver fountain syrup to local customers in our territories.
We have a number of sales people who are responsible for calling on prospective fountain accounts,
developing relationships, selling products and interacting with customers on an ongoing basis. We also
manufacture and distribute fountain products and provide fountain equipment service to PepsiCo customers in
certain of our territories in accordance with various agreements with PepsiCo.

In our international markets, we use both direct store distribution systems and third-party distributors. In
these less developed markets, small retail outlets represent a large percentage of the market. However, with the
emergence of larger, more sophisticated retailers in CEE, the percentage of total soft drinks sold to
supermarkets and other larger accounts is increasing. In order to optimize the infrastructure in CEE and the
Caribbean, we use an alternative sales and distribution strategy in which third-party distributors are utilized in
certain locations in an effort to reduce delivery costs and expand our points of distribution.
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Franchise Agreements

We conduct our business primarily under franchise agreements with PepsiCo. These agreements give us
the exclusive right in specified territories to manufacture, package, sell and distribute PepsiCo beverages, and
to use the related PepsiCo tradenames and trademarks. These agreements require us, among other things, to
purchase concentrates for the beverages solely from PepsiCo, at prices established by PepsiCo, to use only
PepsiCo authorized containers, packages and labeling, and to diligently promote the sale and distribution of
PepsiCo beverages. We also have similar agreements with other brand owners such as Cadbury Schweppes
plc.

Set forth below is a summary of our Master Bottling Agreement with PepsiCo, pursuant to which we
manufacture, package, sell and distribute cola and non-cola beverages in the U.S and in certain countries
outside the 1.S. In addition, we have similar arrangements with other companies whose brands we produce
and distribute. Generally, the franchise agreements exist in perpetuity and contain operating and marketing
commitments and conditions for termination. Also set forth below is a summary of our Master Fountain Syrup
Agreement with PepsiCo, pursuant to which we manufacture, sell and distribute fountain syrup for PepsiCo
beverages.

Master Bottling Agreement. The Master Bottling Agreement (the “Bottling Agreement™) under which
we manufacture, package, sell and distribute cola and non-cola beverages bearing the Pepsi-Cola and Pepsi
trademarks was entered into in November 2000. The Bottling Agreement gives us the exclusive and perpetual
right to distribute cola beverages for sale in specified territories in authorized containers, with the exception of
Romania. In Romania, our agreement has certain performance measures that, if exceeded, enable the
agreement to automatically renew. The Bottling Agreement provides that we will purchase our entire
requirements of concentrates for cola beverages from PepsiCo at prices, and on terms and conditions,
determined from time to time by PepsiCo. PepsiCo has no rights under the Bottling Agreement with respect to
the prices at which we sell our products. PepsiCo may determine from time to time what types of containers
we are authorized to use.

Under the Bottling Agreement, we are obligated to:

(1) maintain plants, equipment, staff and facilities capable of manufacturing, packaging and distributing
the beverages in the authorized containers, and in compliance with all requirements in sufficient
quantities, to meet the demand of the territories;

(2) make necessary adaptations to equipment to permit the successful introduction and delivery of
products in sufficient quantities;

(3) undertake adequate quality control measures prescribed by PepsiCo and allow PepsiCo representatives
to inspect all equipment and facilities to ensure compliance;

(4) vigorously advance the sale of the beverages throughout the territories;

(5) increase and fully meet the demand for the cola beverages in our territories using all approved means
and spend such funds on advertising and other forms of marketing beverages as may be reasonably
required to meet the objective; and

(6) maintain such financial capacity as may be reasonably necessary to assure our performance under the
Bottling Agreement.

The Bottling Agreement requires that we meet with PepsiCo on an annual basis to discuss the business
plan for the following three years. At these meetings, we are obligated to present the plans necessary to
perform the duties required under the Botiling Agreement. These include marketing, management, advertising
and financial plans.

The Bottling Agreement provides that PepsiCo may, in its sole discretion, reformulate any of the cola
beverages or discontinue them, with some limitations, so long as all cola beverages are not discontinued.
PepsiCo may also introduce new beverages under the Pepsi-Cola trademarks or any modification thereof, If
that occurs, we will be obligated to manufacture, package, sell and distribute such new beverages with the
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same obligations as then exist with respect to other cola beverages. We are prohibited from producing or
handling cola products, other than those of PepsiCo, or products or packages that imitate, infringe or cause
confusion with the products, containers or trademarks of PepsiCo. The Bottling Agreement also imposes
requirements with respect to the use of PepsiCo’s trademarks, authorized containers, packaging and labeling.

PepsiCo can terminate the Bottling Agreement if any of the following occur:
(1) we become insolvent, file for bankrupicy or adopt a plan of dissolution or liquidation;

(2) any person or group of persons, without PepsiCo’s consent, acquires the right of beneficial ownership
of more than 15 percent of any class of voting securities of PepsiAmericas, and if that person or
group of persons does not terminate that ownership within 30 days;

(3) any disposition of any voting securities of one of our bottling subsidiaries or substantially all of our
bottling assets without PepsiCo’s consent;

(4) we do not make timely payments for concentrate purchases;
(5) we fail to meet quality control standards on products, equipment and facilities; or

(6) we fail 1o present or carry out approved plans in all material respects and do not rectify the situation
within 120 days.

We are prohibited from assigning, transferring or pledging the Bottling Agreement without PepsiCo’s
prior consent.

Master Fountain Syrup Agreement. 'The Master Fountain Syrup Agreement (the “Syrup Agreement”)
grants us the exclusive right to manufacture, sell and distribute fountain syrup to local customers in our
territories. The Syrup Agreement also grants us the right to act as a manufacturing and delivery agent for
national accounts within our territories that specifically request direct delivery without using a middleman. In
addition, PepsiCo may appoint us to manufacture and deliver fountain syrup to national accounts that elect
delivery through independent distributors. Under the Syrup Agreement, we have the exclusive right to service
fountain equipment for all of the national account customers within our territories. The Syrup Agreement
provides that the determination of whether an account is local or national is at the sole discretion of PepsiCo.

The Syrup Agreement contains provisions that are similar to those contained in the Botiling Agreement
with respect to pricing, territorial restrictions with respect to local customers and national customers electing
direct-to-store delivery only, planning, quality control, transfer restrictions and related matters. The Syrup
Agreement, which we entered into in November 2000, had an initial term of five years and was automatically
renewed for an additional five-year period in November 2005 on the same terms and conditions. The Syrup
Agreement is automatically renewable for additional five-year periods unless PepsiCo terminates it for cause.
PepsiCo has the right to terminate the Syrup Agreement without cause at any time upon 24 months’ notice. If
PepsiCo terminates the Syrup Agreement without cause, PepsiCo is required to pay us the fair market value of
our rights thereunder. The Syrup Agreement will terminate if PepsiCo terminates the Bottling Agreement.

Advertising

We obtain the benefits of national advertising campaigns conducted by PepsiCo and the other beverage
companies whose products we sell. We supplement PepsiCo’s national ad campaigns by purchasing advertising
in our local markets, including the use of television, radio, print and biliboards. We also make extensive use of
in-store, point-of-sale displays to reinforce national and local advertising and to stimulate demand.

Raw Materials and Manufacturing

Expenditures for concentrates constitute our largest individual raw material cost. We buy various soft
drink concentrates from PepsiCo and other soft drink companies, and mix them with other ingredients in our
plants, including water, carbon dioxide and sweeteners, Artificial sweeteners are included in the concentrates
we purchase for diet soft drinks. In addition to soft drink concentrates, we buy juice concentrates for our Toma
and Sandora juice brands.




In addition to concentrates, we purchase sweeteners, glass and PET bottles, aluminum cans, closures,
paperboard cartons, bag-in-box packages, syrup containers, other packaging materials and carbon dioxide. We
purchase raw materials and supplies, other than concentrates, from multiple suppliers. PepsiCo acts as our
agent for the purchase of several such raw materials (see “Related Party Transactions” in Item 7 and Note 22
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of PepsiCo’s procurement services).

A portion of our contractual cost of cans, PET bottles and sweeteners is subject to price fluctuations
based on commeodity price changes in aluminum, PET resin, corn and sugar. We periodically use derivative
financial instruments to hedge the price risk associated with anticipated purchases of commodities.

The mability of suppliers to deliver concentrates or other products to us could adversely affect operating
results. None of the raw materials or supplies in use is currently in short supply, although factors outside of
our conirol could adversely impact the future availability of these supplies.

Seasonality

Sales of our products are seasonal, with the second and third quarters generating higher net sales than the
first and fourth quarters. Approximately 53 percent of our net sales in fiscal year 2007 was generated during
the second and third quarters. Net sales in our CEE operations tend to be more seasonal and sensitive to
weather conditions than our U.S. and Caribbean operations.

Competition

The carbonated soft drink and the non-carbonated beverage markets are highly competitive, Qur principal
competitors are bottlers who produce, package, sell and distribute Coca-Cola products. Additionally, in both
the carbonated soft drink and non-carbonated beverage markets, we also compete with bottlers and distributors
of nationally advertised and marketed products, bottlers and distributors of regionally advertised and marketed
products, and bottlers of private label products sold in chain stores. The industry competes primarily on the
basis of advertising to create brand awareness, price and price promotions, retail space management, customer
service, consumer points of access, new products, packaging innovations and distribution methods. We believe
that brand recognition is a primary factor affecting our competitive position.

Employees |

We employed approximately 20,700 people worldwide as of the end of fiscal year 2007. This included
approximately 12,200 employees in our U.S. operations and approximately 8,500 employees in our interna-
tional operations. Employment levels are subject to seasonal variations. We are a party to collective bargaining
agreements covering approximately 5,700 employees in the U.S. and Puerto Rico. Fourteen agreements
covering approximately 1,570 employees will be renegotiated in 2008. We regard our employee relations as
generally satisfactory.

Government Regulation

Our operations and properties are subject to regulation by vartous federal, state and local governmental
cntities and agencies in the U.S., as well as foreign governmental entities. As a producer of beverage products,
we are subject to production, packaging, quality, labeling and distribution standards in each of the countries
where we have operations including, in the U.S., those of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. In the
U.S., we are also subject to the Soft Drink Interbrand Competition Act, which permits us to retain an exclusive
right to manufacture, distribute and sell a soft drink product in a geographic territory if the soft drink product
is in substantial and effective competition with other products of the same class in the same market or
markets. We believe that there is such substantial and effective competition in each of the exclusive territories
in which we operate. The operations of our production and distribution facilities are subject to various federal,
state and local environmental laws and workplace regulations both in the U.S. and abroad, These laws and
regulations include, in the U.S., the Qccupational Safety and Health Act, the Unfair Labor Standards Act, the
Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act and laws relating to the maintenance of fuel storage tanks, We believe

8




that our current legal and environmental compliance programs adequately address these areas and that we are
in substantial compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Environmental Matters

Current Operations. 'We maintain compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations relating
to materials used in production and to the discharge of wastes, and other laws and regulations relating to the
protection of the environment. The capital costs of such management and compliance, including the
modification of existing plants and the installation of new manufacturing processes, are not material to our
continving operations.

We are defendants in lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course of business, none of which is expected to
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, although amounts recorded in any given period could
be material to the results of operations or cash flows for that period.

Discontinued Operations — Remediation. Under the agreement pursuant to which we sold our subsid-
iaries, Abex Corporation and Pneumo Abex Corporation (collectively, “Pneumo Abex"}, in 1988 and a
subsequent settlement agreement entered into in September 1991, we have assumed indemnification obliga-
tions for certain environmental liabilities of Pneumo Abex, after any insurance recoveries. Pneumo Abex has
been and is subject to a number of environmental cleanup proceedings, including responsibilities under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and other related federal and state
laws regarding release or disposal of wastes at on-site and off-site locations. In some proceedings, federal,
state and local government agencies are involved and other major corporations have been named as potentially
responsible parties. Pneumo Abex is also subject to private claims and lawsuits for remediation of properties
previously owned by Pneumo Abex and its subsidiaries.

There is an inherent uncertainty in assessing the total cost to investigate and remediate a given site. This
is because of the evolving and varying nature of the remediation and allocation process. Any assessment of
expenses is more speculative in an early stage of remediation and is dependent upon a number of variables
beyond the control of any party. Furthermore, there are often timing considerations, in that a portion of the
expense incurred by Pneumo Abex, and any resulting obligation of ours to indemnify Pneumo Abex, may not
occur for a number of years.

In fiscal year 2001, we investigated the use of insurance products to mitigate risks related to our
indemnification obligations under the 1988 agreement, as amended. We oversaw a comprehensive review of
the former facilities operated or impacted by Preumo Abex. Advances in the techniques of retrospective risk
evaluation and increased experience (and therefore available data) at our former facilities made this compre-
hensive review possible. The review was completed in fiscal year 2001 and was updated in fiscal year 2005.

During fiscal year 2007, we recorded a charge of $2.1 million, net of taxes, related to revised estimates
for environmental remediation, legal and related administrative costs. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we
had $40.2 million accrued to cover potential indemnification obligations, compared to $60.3 million recorded
as of the end of fiscal year 2006. The decrease was primarily due to payments made during the year for
remediation activities, legal and administrative fees and settlement costs or negotiations. This indemnification
obligation includes costs associated with approximately 15 sites in various stages of remediation or
negotiations. At the present time, the most significant remaining indemnification obligation is associated with
the Willits site, as discussed below, while no other single site has significant estimated remaining costs
associated with it. Of the total amount accrued, $19.5 million and $26.2 million were classified as a current
liability as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006, respectively. The amounts exclude possible insurance
recoveries and are determined on an undiscounted cash flow basis. The estimated indemnification liabilities
include expenses for the investigation and remediation of identified sites, payments to third parties for claims
and expenses (including product liability and toxic tort claims), administrative expenses, and the expenses of
on-going evaluations and litigation. We expect a significant portion of the accrued liabilities will be spent
during the next five years.




Included in our indemnification obligations is financial exposure related to certain remedial actions
required at a facility that manufactured hydraulic and related equipment in Willits, California, Various
chemicals and metals contaminate this site. A final consent decree was issued in August 1997 and amended in
December 2000 in the case of the People of the State of California and the City of Willits, California v. Remco
Hydraulics, Inc. The final consent decree established a trust (the “Willits Trust™) which is obligated to
investigate and clean up this site. We are currently funding the Willits Trust and the investigation and interim
remediation costs on a year-to-year basis as required in the final amended consent decree. We have accrued
$15.4 million for future remediation and trust administration costs, with the majority of this amount to be
spent over the next several years.

Although we have certain indemnification cobligations for environmental liabilities at a number of sites
other than the site discussed above, including Superfund sites, it is not anticipated that additional expense at
any specific site will have a material effect on us. At some sites, the volumetric contribution for which we
have an obligation has been estimated and other large, financially viable parties are responsible for substantial
portions of the remainder. In our opinion, based upon information currently available, the ultimate resolution
of these claims and litigation, including potential environmental exposures, and considering amounts already
accrued, shouid not have a material effect on our financial condition, although amounts recorded in a given
period could be material to our results of operations or cash flows for that period.

Discontinued Operations — Insurance. During fiscal year 2002, as part of a comprehensive program
concerning environmental liabilities related to the former Whitman Corporation subsidiaries, we purchased
new insurance coverage related to the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and
its subsidiaries. In addition, a trust, which was established in 2000 with the proceeds from an insurance
settlement (the “Trust™), purchased insurance coverage and funded coverage for remedial and other costs
(“Finite Funding™) related to the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and its
subsidiaries.

Essentially all of the asseis of the Trust were expended by the Trust in connection with the purchase of
the insurance coverage, the Finite Funding and related expenses. These actions were taken to fund remediation
and related costs associated with the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and
its subsidiaries and to protect against additional future costs in excess of our self-insured retention. The
original amount of self-insured retention (the amount we must pay before the insurance carrier is obligated to
begin payments) was $114.0 million of which $50.2 million has been eroded, leaving a remaining self-insured
retention of $63.8 million as of the end of fiscal year 2007. The estimated range of aggregate exposure related
only to the remediation costs of such environmental liabilities is approximately $20 million to $45 million. We
had accrued $23.7 million at the end of fiscal year 2007 for remediation costs, which is our best estimate of
the contingent liabilities related to these environmental matters. The Finite Funding may be used to pay a
portion of the $23.7 million and thus reduces our future cash obligations, Amounts recorded in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets related to Finite Funding were $11.5 million and $13.7 million as of the end of
fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, and were recorded in “Other assets,” net of $4.7 million and
$4.2 million recorded in “Other current assets” as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In addition, we had recorded other receivables of $2.6 million and $7.8 million as of the end of fiscal
years 2007 and 2006, respectively, for future probable amounts to be received from insurance companies and
other responsible parties. These amounts were recorded in “Other current assets” as of the end of fiscal year
2007 and in “Other assets™ as of the end of fiscal year 2006 in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Of this total,
no portion of the receivable was reflected as current as of the end of fiscal year 2006.

On May 31, 2005, Cooper Industries, LLC (“Cooper”) filed and later served a lawsuit against us, Pneumo
Abex, LLC, and the Trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”), captioned Cooper Industries, LLC v. PepsiAmericas,
Inc., et al., Case No. 05 CH 09214 (Cook Cty. Cir. Ct.). The claims involve the Trust and insurance policy
described above. Cooper asserts that it was entitled to access $34 million that previously was in the Trust and
that was used to purchase the insurance policy. Cooper claims that Trust funds should have been distributed
for underlying Pneumo Abex asbestos claims indemnified by Cooper. Cooper complains that it was deprived
of access to money in the Trust because of the Trustee’s decision to use the Trust funds to purchase the
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insurance policy described above. Pneumo Abex, LLC, the corporate successor o our prior subsidiary, has
been dismissed from the suit.

During the second quarter of 2006, the Trustee’s motion to dismiss, in which we had joined, was granted
and three counts against us based on the use of Trust funds were dismissed with prejudice, as were all counts
against the Trustee, on the grounds that Cooper lacks standing to pursue these counts because it is not a
beneficiary under the Trust. We then filed a separate motion to dismiss the remaining counts against us. Qur
motion was granted during the second quarter of 2006 and all remaining counts against us were dismissed
with prejudice. Cooper subsequently filed a notice of appeal with regard to all rulings by the court dismissing
the counts against us and the Trustee. Prior to any oral argument, the appellate court on September 7, 2007
issued an opinion affirming the trial court’s opinion. Cooper subsequently filed motion papers asking the
Illinois Supreme Court to accept a discretionary appeal of the rulings. The Trustee then filed an opposition
brief explaining why the Illinois Supreme Court should not allow another appeal, and we joined in that brief.
On November 29, 2007, the Supreme Court of Illinois denied Cooper’s petition for ieave to appeal the
appellate court’s September 7, 2007 ruling. Cooper has until February 27, 2008 to file a petition for certiorari
seeking discretionary review by the United States Supreme Court.

Discontinued Operations — Product Liability and Toxic Tort Claims. We also have certain indemnifi-
cation obligations related to product liability and toxic tort claims that might emanate out of the 1988
agreement with Pneumo Abex. Other companies not owned by or associated with us also are responsible to
Pneumo Abex for the financial burden of all asbestos product liability claims filed against Pneumo Abex after
a certain date in 1998, except for certain claims indemnified by us.

In fiscal year 2004, we noted that three mass-filed lawsuits accounted for thousands of claims for which
Pneumo Abex claimed indemnification. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, these and other related
claims were resolved for an amount we viewed as reasonable given all of the circumstances and consistent
with our prior judgments as to valuation. We have received year-end 2007 claim statistics from law firms and
Pneumo Abex which reflect the resolution of those claims and the remaining cases for which Pneumo Abex
claims indemnification from PepsiAmericas. After giving effect to the noted resolution of prior mass-filed
claims, there are less than 7,500 claims for which indemnification is claimed at the end of fiscal year 2007. Of
these claims, approximately 5,500 are filed in federal court and are subject to orders issued by the Multi-
District Litigation panel, which effectively stay all federal claims, subject to specific requests to activate a
particular claim or a discrete group of claims. The remaining cases are in state court and some are in “pleural
registries” or other similar classifications that cause a case not to be allowed to go to trial unless there is a
specific showing as to a particular plaintiff. Over 50 percent of the state court claims were filed prior to or in
1998. Prior to 1980, sales ceased for the asbestos-containing product claimed to have generated the largest
subset of the open cases, and, therefore, we expect a decreasing rate of individual claims for that subset of
cases. We oversee monitoring of the defense of the underlying claims that are or may be indemnifiable by us.

At the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, we had accrued $4.0 million and $5.5 million, respectively,
related to product liability. These accruals primarily relate to probable asbestos claim settlements and legal
.defense costs. We also have additional amounts accrued for legal and other costs associated with obtaining
insurance recoveries for previously resolved and currently open claims and their related costs. These amounts
are included in the total liabilities of $40.2 million accrued as of the end of fiscal year 2007. In addition to the
known and probable asbestos claims, we may be subject to additional asbestos claims that are possible for
which no reserve had been established as of the end of fiscal year 2007. These additional reasonably possible
claims are primarily asbestos related and the aggregate exposure related to these possible claims is estimated
to be in the range of $4 million to $17 million. These amounts are undiscounted and do not reflect any
insurance recoveries that we will pursue from insurers for these claims.

In addition, three lawsuits have been filed in California, which name several defendants including certain
of our prior subsidiaries. The lawsuits allege that we and our former subsidiaries are liable for personal injury
and/or property damage resuiting from environmental contamination at the Willits facility. There are approx-
imately 125 personal injury plaintiffs in the lawsuits seeking an unspecified amount of damages, punitive
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damages, injunctive relief and medical monitoring damages. We are actively defending the lawsuits. At this
time, we do not believe these lawsuits are material to our business or financial condition.

We have other indemnification obligations related to product liability matters. In our opinion, based on
the information currently available and the amounts already accrued, these claims should not have a material
effect on our financial condition.

We also participate in and monitor insurance-recovery efforts for the claims against Preumo Abex.
Recoveries from insurers vary year by year because certain insurance policies exhaust and other insurance
policies become responsive. Recoveries also vary due to delays in litigation, limits on payments in particular
periods, and because insurers sometimes seek to avoid their obligations based on positions that we believe are
improper. We, assisted by our consultants, monitor the financial ratings of insurers that issued responsive
coverage and the claims submitted by Pneumo Abex.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

QOur executive officers and their ages as of February 22, 2008 were as follows:

Name Age Position

Robert C.Pohlad ............. 53 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Kenneth E. Keiser. .. .......... 56 President and Chief Operating Officer

Alexander H. Ware . .. .. ... .... 45 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
G. Michael Durkin, Jr. ......... 48 Executive Vice President, U.S.

James R. Rogers.............. 53 Executive Vice President, International

Jay S.Hulbert. . .............. 54 Executive Vice President, Worldwide Supply Chain
Anmne D. Sample . .. ... .. ..... 44 Executive Vice President, Human Resources
Kenneth L. Johnsen ........... 46  Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer
Timothy W, Gorman. . ......... 47  Senior Vice President, Controller

Andrew R. Stark . ... ... .. ... .. 44  Vice President, Treasurer

Each executive officer has been appointed to serve until his or her successor is duly appointed or his or
her earlier removal or resignation from office. There are no familial relationships between any director or
executive officer. The following is a brief description of the business background of each of our executive
officers.

Mr. Pohlad became Chief Executive Officer of PepsiAmericas in November 2000, was named Vice
Chairman in January 2001 and became Chairman of the Board in January 2002. From 1987 to present,
Mr. Pohlad has also served as President of Pohlad Companies. Mr. Pohlad is also a director of MAIR
Holdings, Inc. and has served as its Chairman since March 2006,

Mr. Keiser was named President and Chief Operating Officer in Janvary 2002 with responsibilities for the
global operations of PepsiAmericas. Mr. Keiser is also a director of C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc.

Mr. Ware was named Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer in March 2005, From January
2003 to March 2005, Mr. Ware had served as Senior Vice President, Planning and Corporate Development.

Mr. Durkin was named Executive Vice President, U.S. in March 2005. Pri'or to this role, Mr. Durkin
served as Chief Financial Officer of PepsiAmericas since 2000. Mr. Durkin also serves on the Board of
Directors of The Schwan Food Company, Inc, '

Mr. Rogers was named Executive Vice President, International in September 2004. Prior to this
appointment, he served as Executive Vice President/General Manager of Central Europe since August 2000.

Mr. Hulbert was named Executive Vice President, Worldwide Supply Chain in January 2008. Prior to this
appointment, he served as Senior Vice President, Supply Chain since December 2002.
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Ms. Sample was named Executive Vice President, Human Resources in January 2008. Prior to this
appointment, she served as Senior Vice President, Human Resources since May 2001.

Mr. Johnsen was named Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer in July 2001, From November
1997 to June 2001, he served as Chief of Information Technology.

Mr. Gorman was named Senior Vice President, Controller in January 2008. Prior to this appointment, he
served as Vice President and Controller since May 2003, and Vice President, Planning and Reporting from
August 1999 1o May 2003.

Mr. Stark was named Vice President, Treasurer in July 2002. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Stark served
as Assistant Treasurer since August 1998.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following are certain risk factors that could affect our business, financial condition, operating results
and cash flows. These risk factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking
statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because these risk factors could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. The risks we have
highlighted below are not the only ones we face. If any of these events actually occur, our business, financial
condition, operating results or cash flows could be negatively affected. We caution you to keep in mind these
risk factors and to refrain from attributing undue certainty to any forward-looking statements, which speak
only as of the date of this report.

Our operating results may fluctuate based on changes in marketplace conditions, especially customer and
competitor consolidation; changes in consumer preferences, including our consumers’ shift from carbonated
soft drinks to non-carbonated beverages; and unfavorable weather conditions in the territories in which we
operate.

We face intense competition in the carbonated soft drink market and the non-carbonated beverage market
and are impacted by both customer and competitor consolidation. Our response to marketplace competition
and retailer consolidations may result in lower than expected net pricing of our products. Retail consolidation
has increased the importance of our major customers and further consolidation is expected. In addition,
competitive pressures may cause channel and product mix to shift from more profitable channels and packages
and adversely affect our overall pricing. Our efforts to improve pricing may result in lower than expected
volumes. Changes in net pricing and volume could have an adverse effect on our business, resuits of
operations and financial condition.

Health and wellness trends have decreased demand for sugared carbonated soft drinks and shifted interest
to diet soft drinks and non-carbonated beverages. In the U.S., carbonated soft drink volume, which represented
approximately 80 percent of our volume mix, declined 4 percent in both fiscal years 2007 and 2006. In
response to changes in consumers’ preferences, we have increased our emphasis on diet carbonated soft drinks
and non-carbonated beverages, including Aquafina, Sobe, Tropicana juice drinks, Lipton Iced Tea and energy
drinks. Our business could be adversely impacted by a significant decline in sales of sugared carbonated soft
drinks and our inability to offset that decline with sales of diet soft drinks and non-carbonated beverages.
Because we rely mainly on PepsiCo to provide us with the products that we sell. if PepsiCo fails to develop
innovative products that respond to these and other consumer trends, this could put us at a competitive
disadvantage in the marketplace and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Our business could also be adversely affected by other consumer trends, such as consumer health
concerns about obesity, product attributes and ingredients. Consumer preferences may change due to a variety
of factors, inciuding the aging of the general population, changes in social trends, changes in travel, vacation
or leisure activity patterns or a downturn in economic conditions.

Additionally, our business is highly seasonal and unfavorable weather conditions in our markets may
impact sales volume. Sales volumes in our CEE operations tend to be more sensitive to weather conditions
than oor U.S. and Caribbean operations.
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Our business may be adversely impacted by unfavorable global and local economic, political and regulatory
developments or other risks in the countries in which we operate.

Our operations are affected by local and global economic environments, including inflation, recession and
currency volatility. Political and regulatory changes, some of which may be disruptive, can interfere with our
supply chain, our customers and all of our activities in a particular location.

An increase in the price of raw materials, natural gas and fuel or a decrease in the availability of raw mate-
rials, natural gas and fuel could adversely affect our financial condition. Disruption of our supply chain
also could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Increases in the price of ingredients, packaging materials, other raw materials, natural gas and fuel could
adversely impact our earnings and financial condition if we are unable to pass along these higher cosis to our
customers, The inability of suppliers to deliver concentrate, raw materials, other ingredients and products to us
could also adversely affect operating results. The inability of our suppliers to meet our requirements could
result in short-term shortages until alternative sources of supply could be located. In particular, we require
significant amounts of aluminum cans and PET bottle containers to support our requirements. Failure of our
suppliers 10 meet our purchase requirements could reduce our profitability. In addition, we also require access
to significant amounts of water. Any sustained interruption in the supply of these materials or any significant
increase in their prices could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

Energy prices, including the price of natural gas, gasoline and diesel fuel, are cost drivers for our
business. Sustained high energy or commodity prices could negatively impaci our operating results and
demand for our products. Events such as natural disasters could impact the supply of fuel and could impact
the timely delivery of our products to our customers.

Our ability to make, move and sell products is critical to our success. Damage or disruption 1o our supply
chain, including our manufacturing or distribution capabilities, due to weather, natural disaster, fire or
explosion, terrorism, pandemic, strikes or other reasons could impair our ability to manufacture, package, sell
and distribute our products. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of
such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and resuits of operations, as well as require additional resources to restore our supply chain,

The suecessful operation of our business depends upon our relationship with PepsiCo, including its level of
advertising, bottler incentives and brand innovation. We may also have conflicts of interest with PepsiCo.

We operate under various bottling agreements with PepsiCo that allow us to manufacture, package, sell
and distribute carbonated and non-carbonated beverages, Qur inability to comply with the terms and conditions
established in these agreements could result in termination of bottling agreements which would have a material
adverse impact on our short-term and long-term business. These agreements provide that we must purchase all
of the concentrates for PepsiCo beverages at prices and on terms which are set by PepsiCo in its sole
discretion. Any significant concentrate price increases could materially affect our business and financial
results.

PepsiCo’s advertising campaigns and their effectiveness, bottler incentives provided by PepsiCo, and
PepsiCo’s brand innovation directly impact our operations. Bottler incentives cover a variety of initiatives to
support volume and market share growth. The level of support is negotiated regularly and can be increased or
decreased at the discretion of PepsiCo. PepsiCo is under no obligation to continue past levels of support in the
future, Material changes in expected levels of bottler incentive payments and other support arrangements could
adversely affect future results of operations, Furthermore, if the sales volume of sugared carbonated soft drinks
continues to decline, our sales volume growth will increasingly depend on product innovation by PepsiCo.
Even if PepsiCo maintains a robust pipeline of new products, we may be unable to achieve volume growth
through product and packaging initiatives.

PepsiCo also provides procurement services for certain raw materials which result in rebates from vendors
as a result of procurement volume. Cost of goods sold may be negatively impacted if we are unable to
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maintain targeted volume levels to secure such anticipated rebates or if PepsiCo no longer provides this
service on our behalf.

Our past and ongoing relationship with PepsiCo could give rise to conflicts of interest. These potential
conflicts include balancing the objectives of increasing sales volume of PepsiCo beverages and maintaining or
increasing our profitability. Other possible conflicts could relate to the nature, quality and pricing of services
or products provided to us from PepsiCo or by us to PepsiCo.

In addition, under our Master Bottling Agreement, we must obtain PepsiCo’s approval to acquire any
independent PepsiCo bottler. PepsiCo has agreed not to withhold approval for any acquisition within
agreed-upon U.S. territories if we have successfully negotiated the acquisition and, in PepsiCo’s reasonable
judgment, satisfactorily performed our obligations under the Master Bottling Agreement.

As of the end of fiscal year 2007, PepsiCo beneficially owned approximately 44 percent of our commeon
stock. As a result, PepsiCo is able to significantly affect the outcome of our shareholder votes, thereby
affecting matters concerning us. PepsiCo has expressed its intent to reduce its ownership status to 37 percent
over the next several years to return to the ownership levels at the time of the Whitman Corporation and
PepsiAmericas merger, which may impact the market price of our common stock.

A negative change in our credit rating or the availability of capital could impact borrowing costs and
financial results.

We depend, in part, upon the issuance of unsecured debt to fund our operations and contractual
commitments. A number of factors could cause us to incur increased borrowing costs and to have greater
difficulty accessing public and private markets for unsecured debt. These factors include the global capital
market environment and outlook, our financial performance and outlook, and our credit ratings as determined
primarily by rating agencies. It is possible that our other sources of funds, including available cash, bank
facilities and cash flow from operations, may not provide adequate liquidity to fund our operations and
contractual commitments.

Because our international operations are conducted under multiple local currencies, our operating results
experience foreign currency fluctuations.

Our international operations are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations resulting from foreign
currency transactions and translation of the operations’ financial results from local currency into U.S. dollars
upon consolidation. As exchange rates vary, revenue, capital spending and other operating results, when
translated, may differ materially from expectations.

The cost to remediate environmental concerns associated with previously owned subsidiaries could be mate-
rially different than our estimates.

We are subject to federal and state requirements for protection of the environment, including those for the
remediation of contaminated sites related to previously owned subsidiaries. We routinely assess our environ-
mental exposure, including obligations and commitments for remediation of contaminated sites and assess-
ments of ranges and probabilities of recoveries from other potentially responsible parties, including insurance
providers. Due to the regulatory complexities and risk of unidentified contaminants on our former properties,
the potential exists for remediation costs to be materially different from the costs we have estimated.

We cannot predict the outcome of legal proceedings and an adverse determination could negatively impact
our financial results, nor can we predict the nature or outcome of future legal proceedings.

The nature of operations of previously owned subsidiaries exposes us to the potential for various claims
and litigation related to, among other things, personal injury and asbestos product liability claims. The nature
of assets we currently own and operate exposes us to the potential for various claims and litigation related to,
among other things, personal injury and property damage. The resolution of outstanding claims and
assessments may be materially different than what we have estimated.
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In addition, litigation or other claims based on alleged unhealthful properties of soft drinks could be filed
against us and would require our management to devote significant time and resources to dealing with such
claims. While we would not believe such claims to be meritortous, any such claims would be accompanied by
unfavorable publicity that could adversely affect the sales of certain of our products. Qur failure to abide by
laws, orders or other legal commitments could subject us to fines, penalties or other damages, including costs
assoctated with recalling products. We could be required to recall products if they become contaminated or
damaged.

Increases in the cost of compliance with applicable regulations, including those governing the production,
packaging, quality, labeling and distribution of beverage products, could negatively impact our financial
results.

Our operations and properties are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations,
including those governing the production, packaging, quality, labeling and distribution of beverage products,
environmental laws, competition laws, taxes and accounting standards. We are also subject to the jurisdiction
of regulatory agencies of foreign countries. New laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations
could negatively impact our financial results by restricting our ability to distribute products in certain venues
or through higher operating costs to achieve compliance.

Changes in tax laws or in the tax stalus of our international operations could increase our tax Hability and
negatively impact our financial results,

We are subject to taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. As a result, our effective tax rate
could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of carnings in the U.S. and foreign countries with differing
statutory tax rates, legislative changes impacting statutory tax rates, including the impact on recorded deferred
tax assets and liabilities, changes in tax laws or material audit assessments. In addition, deferred tax balances
reflect the benefit of net operating loss carryforwards, the realization of which will depend upon generating
future taxable income in the corresponding tax jurisdiction.

A strike or work stoppage by our union employees, which represent approximately one-fourth of our
workforce, could disrupt our business.

Approximately 28 percent of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. These
agreements expire at various dates, including some in fiscal year 2008. Our inability to successfully renegotiate
these agreements could cause work stoppages and interruptions, which may adversely impact our operating
results. The terms and conditions of existing or renegotiated agreements could also increase our costs or
otherwise affect our ability to fully implement future operational changes to enhance our efficiency.

Qur acquisition strategy may be limited by our ability to successfully consummate proposed acquisitions or
integrate acquired businesses.

We intend to continue to pursue acquiring businesses that would strategically fit within our operations.
We may be unable to consummate, successfully integrate and manage acquired businesses without substantial
costs, delay or difficulties.

Technology failures could disrupt our operations and negatively impact our business.

We rely on information technology systems to process, transmit and store electronic information. If we do
not effectively manage our information technology infrastructure, we could be subject to transaction errors,
processing inefficiencies, the loss of customers, and business disruptions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.




Item 2. Properties.

Our U.S. manufacturing facilities include ten owned and one leased combination bottling/canning plants,
four owned bottling plants and two owned canning plants. International manufacturing facilities include four
owned plants in Ukraine; two owned plants each in Poland, Hungary, the Czech Republic and Romania; and
one owned plant each in Puerto Rico, the Bahamas, Jamaica and Trinidad. The total manufacturing area is
approximately 2.9 million square feet. In addition, we operate 127 distribution facilities in the U.S,, 51
distribution facilities in CEE and 9 distribution facilities in the Caribbean. Seventy-nine of the distribution
facilities are leased and almost 6 percent of our U.S. production is from one leased domestic plant. We believe
all facilities are adequately equipped and maintained and capacity is sufficient for our current needs. We
currently operate a fleet of approximately 5,200 vehicles in the U.S. and approximately 2,000 vehicles
internationally to service and support our distribution system. In addition, we own and lease various industrial
and commercial real estate properties in the U.S.

In fiscal year 2007, we sold the operating assets of a leasing company, Whitman Leasing, which leased
approximately 1,800 railcars comprised of locomotives, flatcars and hopper cars to the successor of the former
Ilinois Central Railroad Company. The lessee exercised a purchase option at the end of the lease agreement.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From approximately 1945 to 1995, various entities owned and operated a facility that manufactured
hydraulic equipment in Willits, California. The plant site is contaminated by vartous chemicals and metals. On
August 23, 1999, an action entitled Donna M. Avila, et al. v. Willits Environmental Remediation Trust, Remco
Hydraulics, Inc., M-C Industries, Inc., Pneumo Abex Corporation and Whitman Corporation, Case
No. C99-3941 CAL, was filed in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California. On January 16,
2001, a second lawsuit, entitled Pamela Jo Alrich, et al. v. Willits Environmental Remediation Trust, et al.,
Case No. C 01 0266 SI, against essentially the same defendants was filed in the same court. In 20086, a third
lawsuit, entitled Nickerman v. Remco Hydraulics, was filed against the same defendants. These three lawsuits
are before the same judge in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California. In these lawsuits,
individual plaintiffs claim that PepsiAmericas is liable for personal injury and/or property damage resulting
from environmental contamination at the facility. There were over 1,000 claims filed in the three lawsuits. The
Court dismissed a large portion of the claims; and in 2006, we settled a significant number of the claims.
Some of the remaining claims may be settled, go to trial or be appealed. As of the end of fiscal year 2007,
there were approximately 125 personal injury plaintiffs in the lawsuits seeking an unspecified amount of
damages, punitive damages, injunctive relief and medical monitoring damages from PepsiAmericas. We are
actively defending the lawsuits. At this time, we do not belicve these lawsuits are material to the business or
financial condition of PepsiAmericas.

On May 31, 2005, Cooper Industries, LLC (“Cooper”) filed and later served a lawsuit against us, Pneumo
Abex, LLC, and the Trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”), captioned Cooper Industries, LLC v. PepsiAmericas,
Inc., et al., Case No. 05 CH 09214 (Cook Cty. Cir. Ct.). The claims involve the Trust and insurance policy
described in “Environmental Matters” in Item 1. Cooper asserts that it was entitled to access $34 million that
previously was in the Trust and that was used to purchase the insurance policy. Cooper claims that Trust funds
should have been distributed for underlying Pneumo Abex claims indemnified by Cooper. Cooper complains
that we deprived it of access to money in the Trust because of the Trustee’s decision to use money in the Trust
to purchase the insurance policy. Pneumo Abex, LLLC, the corporate successor {0 our prior subsidiary, has been
dismissed from the suit,

During the second quarter of 2006, the Trustee’s motion to dismiss, in which we had joined, was granted
and three counts against us based on the use of Trust funds were dismissed with prejudice, as were all counts
against the Trustee, on the grounds that Cooper lacks standing to pursue these counts because it is not a
beneficiary under the Trust. We then filed a separate motion to dismiss the remaining counts against us. Qur
motion was granted during the second quarter of 2006 and all remaining counts against us were dismissed
with prejudice. Cooper subsequently filed a notice of appeal with regard to all rulings by the court dismissing
the counts against us and the Trustee. Prior to any oral argument, the appellate court on September 7, 2007
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issued an opinion affirming the trial court’s opinion. Cooper subsequently filed motion papers asking the
Ilinois Supreme Court to accept a discretionary appeal of the rulings. The Trustee then filed an opposition
brief explaining why the Illinois Supreme Court should not allow another appeal, and we joined in that brief.
On November 29, 2007, the Supreme Court of Illinois denied Cooper’s petition for leave to appeal the
appellate court’s September 7, 2007 ruling. Cooper has until February 27, 2008 to file a petition for certiorari
seeking discretionary review by the United States Supreme Court.

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in numerous other lawsuits in the ordinary course of business,
none of which, in the opinion of management, is expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, although amounts recorded in any given period could be material to the results of operations or
cash flows for that period.

See also “Environmental Matters” in Item 1 and Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

Not applicable,
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PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

The common stock of PepsiAmericas is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the
stock trading symbol “PAS.” The table below sets forth the reported high and low sales prices as reported for
New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions for our common stock and indicates our dividends
declared for each quarterly period for the fiscal years 2007 and 2006.

Common Stock

Dividends
High Low Declared
2007:
First QUATET . . .o oo vt e et e e et e e iia e e $22.32  $2050 $ 0.13
Second QUAITET . ... ..o 26.60 22.27 0.13
Third QUAMET . . .. .ottt e e 32.96 23.47 0.13
Fourth (UATEr. . .. v oottt e a i ae it 35.99 31.27 0.13
2006:
First QUATET .. v\ v vt e ettt i i e $24.82 32325 $0.125
Second QUATET . .. .. oot e 2498 21.15 0.125
Third QUATTET . ... .ottt e e 2341 20.94 0.125
Fourth quarter. . ... ... . ot e e 21.59 19.52 0.125
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the performance of PAS common stock to the Standard &
Poor’s MidCap 400 Index (“MidCap 400™) and to an index of peer companies selected by us (the “Bottling
Group Index”), In the past, we compared ourselves to PBG and CCE, individually; hence they are inciuded in
this graph for comparison purposes. The Bottling Group Index (“BGI”) consists of The Pepsi Bottling Group,
Inc. (“PBG™), Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc. (“CCE”), Coca-Cola Bottling Company Consolidated, Coca-Cola
FEMSA §5.A.B. de C.V. ADRs, and Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottling Company S.A. ADRs. As a result of our
expanding international footprint and its increasingly significant contribution to profit growth, the peer
companies were broadened to include bottlers with greater international presence in similar markets, The graph
assumes the return on $100 invested on December 28, 2002 until December 29, 2007. The returns of each
member of the Bottling Group Index are weighted according to the respective issuers’ stock market
capitalization at the beginning of the return period and include the subsequent reinvestment of dividends into
the respective stock.

350 -
—4—PAS —&— MidCap 400 —&— Bottling Group Index —¥—PBG —&— CCE
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Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-08 Dec-07
2002 2003 2004 2008 2006 2007
PAS . 100.00 13066 16453 182,79 168.61 282.33
MidCap 400 . ... ... ... .. 100.00 13639 15889 178.85 197.31 214.27
BGI .. e e 100,00 12896 14342 15046 174.23  185.07
PBG ... e 100.00 9480 107.08 11444 12524 164.36
CCE .. e 100.00  102.08 98.66 91.42 98.55 128.36

The closing price of our stock on December 28, 2007 was $34.45,

Shareholders
There were 8,371 shareholders of record as of February 22, 2008.
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Share Repurchase Program

See “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters” in Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation

Maximum Number
of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans
or Programs(3)

7,159,500
7,159,500

plans.
Our share repurchase program activity during the fourth quarter ended December 29, 2007 was as
follows:
Total Number of
Shares Purchased
Total as Part of
Number of Publicly
Shares Announced Plans
Period Purchased(1) or Programs(2)
September 30 — October 27, 2007 ... .. ... ......... — 32,840,500
October 28 — November 24,2007 . ... ... ........... — 32,840,500
November 25 — December 29, 2007 . ... ... .. ... ... .. — 32,840,500

For the Quarter Ended, December 29, 2007. ...........

7,159,500

(1) Represents shares purchased in open-market transactions pursuant to our publicly announced repurchase

program.

(2) Represents cumulative shares purchased under previously announced share repurchase authorizations by
the Board of Directors. Share repurchases began in 1999 under an authorization for 15 million shares
announced on November 19, 1999. These amounts are not included in the table above. On December 19,
2002, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 20 miltion additional shares. The Board of
Directors later authorized the repurchase of 20 million additional shares as announced on July 21, 2005.

Share repurchase activity for the last two authorizations is included in the table above.

(3) As noted above, on July 21, 2005 we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of
20 million additional shares under a previously authorized repurchase program. This repurchase authoriza-

tion does not have a scheduled expiration date.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table presents summary operating results and other information of PepsiAmericas and
should be read along with Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations,” the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K (in millions, except per share and employee data).

For the Fiscal Years 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
OPERATING RESULTS:
Net sales:
L $3,384.9 $3,245.8 $3,156.1 $2,825.8 $2,739.4
CEE ... ... e 849.4 484.1 343.5 309.4 310.4
Caribbean .. ........ ... ... . i, 245.2 242.5 226.4 209.5 187.0
Worldwide. . ... ........ ... o $4,479.5 $3,972.4 $3,726.0 $3,344.7 $3,236.8
Operating income:
U S e $ 3316 $ 3301 $ 3877 $ 3323 $ 3157
CEE ... e 100.5 209 1.5 20 0.5
Caribbean . ... ... . 4.0 3.0 4.2 54 0.1
Worldwide. .. ...... ... ... ... ... .. 436.1 356.0 3934 339.7 316.3
Interest EXPENSE, NEt . . . v v e v iy et e rnne e n s as 109.2 101.3 89.9 62.1 69.6
Other (expense) income, net ... ..... ..., .. .een... (0.6} (11.7} (5.0 4.7 {6.2)
Income before income taxes, minority interest and
equity in net earnings (loss} of nenconsolidated
COMPANIES . - . o o oottt e i e e et v emee e 326.3 2430 208.5 282.3 240.5
Income taxes .......... ... ... . ... ... .. . 1120 90.5 108.8 100.4 82.6
Minority Interest . . .. ... ..t e (0.1} 0.2 0.1 0.1 —
Equity in net earnings (loss) of nonconsolidated
COMPANIES. . ..o vttt i it e i i e e e — 5.6 4.9 (0.1) {0.3)
Income from continuing operations .................. 214.2 158.3 1947 181.9 157.6
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax .......... 2.1) — — — —
Netincome. .. ...t et enn $§ 2121 $ 1583 § 1947 $ 1819 § 1576
Weighted average common shares:
Basic ... . e 126.7 127.9 134.7 139.2 143.1
Incremental effect of stock options and awards . ........ 2.5 1.9 2.5 2.6 1.0
Diluted. ... ... .. .. . 129.2 129.8 137.2 141.8 144.1
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations . .. ............... $ 16935 124 § 145 % 131 $ 1.i0
Loss from discontinued operations. .. ................ (0.02) — — — —_
Total .. e $ 167 % 1248 145 % 131 % 110
Diluted earnings per share;
Income from continuing operations . .. ............... $ 166 $ 122 % 142 % 128 $ 1.09
Loss from discontinued operations. . . ................ (0.02) — — — —
Total . ... $§ 164 % 1223 142 % 128 § 1.09
Cash dividends declared per share . . ................. $ 052 % 050 % 034 % 030 8% 004
OTHER INFORMATION:
Total @ssels. . ...t e e $5,308.0 $4,2074 $4,053.8 $3,529.8 $3.596.8
Longtermdebt. . ... ... ... . ... ... ... ..., $1,803.5 $1,490.2 $1,285.9 $1,006.6 $1,078.4
Capital investments. .. ......... ooy $ 2646 § 1693 § 1803 § 121.8 % 1583
Depreciation and amortization . . .. .................. $ 2044 $ 1934 § 1847 § 1764 § 1702
Number of employees. ........... ... ... .......... 20,700 17,100 16,000 15,100 14,500




The following were recorded during the periods presented:

In fiscal year 2007:

We recorded an other-than-temporary marketable securities impairment loss of $4.0 million related to
our common stock investment in Northfield Laboratories, Inc. that is classified as available-for-sale.
The loss was recorded in “Other {expense) income, net.”

We recorded special charges of $6.3 million. In the U.S., we recorded $4.8 million of special charges
primarily related to severance and relocation costs associated with our strategic realignment announced
in the fourth quarter of 2006. In CEE, we recorded special charges of $1.5 million related to lease
termination in Hungary and associated severance costs.

We recorded a gain of $10.2 million related to the sale of railcars and locomotives, which was reflected
in “Other (expense) income, net.”

We recorded a discontinued operations charge of $2.1 million after taxes. The charge related to revised
estimates for environmental remediation, legal, and related administrative costs.

In fiscal year 2006:

We recorded an other-than-temporary marketable securities impairment loss of $7.3 million related to
our common stock investment in Northfield Laboratories, Inc. that is classified as available-for-sale.
The loss was recorded in the “Other (expense) income, net.”

We recorded special charges in CEE of $2.2 million. The special charges related primarily to a
reduction in the workforce. These special charges were primarily for severance costs and related
benefits.

We recorded special charges of $11.5 million in the U.S. related to our strategic realignment to further
strengthen our customer focused go-to-market strategy. These special charges were primarily for
severance and other employee-related costs, including the acceleration of vesting of certain restricted
stock awards. In addition, we incurred costs associated with consulting services in connection with the
realignment project which were included in special charges.

In fiscal year 2005:

We recorded income of $16.6 million related to the proceeds from the settlement of a class action
lawsuit. The lawsuit alleged price fixing related to high fructose corn syrup purchased in the U.S. from
July 1, 1991 through June 30, 1995.

We recorded a $5.6 million benefit associated with a real estate tax refund concerning a previously sold
parcel of land in downtown Chicago. The gain was recorded in “Other (expense) income, net.”

We recorded a $1.1 million net benefit to net income related to the reversal of valuation allowances for
certain net operating loss carryforwards offset by tax contingency requirements. This net benefit was
comprised of interest expense of $0.6 million ($0.4 million after tax) for the tax contingency
requirements recorded in “Interest expense, net” and $1.5 million of tax benefit recorded in “Income
taxes.”

We recorded an expense of $6.1 million related to lease exit costs, which resulted from the relocation
of our corporate offices in the Chicago area. This expense was recorded in “Selling, delivery and
administrative expenses.”

We recorded an expense of $5.6 million related to the loss on the extinguishment of debt. During fiscal
year 2005, we completed a cash tender offer related to $550 million of our outstanding debt. The total
amount of securities tendered was $388 million. The loss was recorded in “Interest expense, net.”

We recorded special charges in CEE of $2.5 million. The special charges related to a reduction in the
workforce and the consolidation of certain production facilities as we rationalized our cost structure,
These special charges were primarily for severance costs, related benefits and asset write-downs.
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In fiscal year 2004:

» In CEE, we recorded special charges of $3.9 million related to the consolidation of certain production
facilities and a reduction in the workforce. These special charges were primarily for severance costs
and related benefits, as well as asset write-downs. Special charges are net of reversals of approximately
$0.4 million recorded in the fourth quarter due to revisions of estimates of the related liabilities as CEE
substantially completed the plans to modify the distribution strategy in all markets,

* We recorded an additional gain of $5.2 million associated with the 2002 sale of a parcel of land in
downtown Chicago. The gain reflected the settlement and final payment on the promissory note related
to the initial sale, for which we had previously provided a full allowance,

We recorded a net gain of $2.7 million relating to a state income tax refund. This gain was comprised
of $0.7 million for consulting expenses (recorded in “Selling, delivery and administrative expenses”),
$0.8 million of interest income (recorded in “Interest expense, net””) and $2.6 million of income tax
benefit, net (recorded in “Income taxes™).

« We recorded a $3.5 million benefit to net income relating to the reversal of certain tax liabilities due to
the settlement of income tax audits through the 2002 tax year. This benefit was comprised of interest
income of $1.1 million ($0.7 million after tax) recorded in *Interest expense, net” and $2.8 million of
tax benefit recorded in “Income taxes.”

In fiscal year 2003:

* Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31 and resulted in an additional week, or
fifty-three weeks, of operating results in fiscal year 2003 in our U.S. operations. PepsiAmericas’ fiscal
year end policy only impacts the U.S. operations. The CEE and Caribbean operations were based upon
a calendar year end and, therefore, did not have an additional week of operating results in fiscal year
2003. All other fiscal years presented in the table of “Selected Financial Data” contain fifty-two weeks
of operating results in the U.S. The 53rd week contributed $33.9 million to net sales and $4.9 million
to operating income in the U.S. in fiscal year 2003.

* We recorded special charges, net of $6.4 million. These charges consisted primarily of a $5.8 million
charge related to the reduction in workforce in the U.S. and charges related to changes in the
production, marketing and distribution strategies in our international operations. The U.S. special
charges were primarily for severance costs and related benefits, including the acceleration of restricted
stock awards. In addition, as a result of excess severance costs identified, we recorded a reversal of
$0.2 million refated to the fiscal year 2003 charge in the U.S. We also recorded special charges of
$0.8 million related to a change in the production and distribution strategy in Barbados, which consisted
primarily of asset write-downs. In addition, we recorded additional special charges of $2.1 million
related to the changes in the marketing and distribution strategy in Poland, the Czech Republic, and
Republic of Slovakia, offset by a special charge reversal of $2.1 million related primarily to favorable
outcomes with outstanding lease commitments and severance in Poland, The initial special charge was
based on an gstimate that no sublease income would offset our lease commitments.

* Investors in our 5150 million, face value 5.79 percent notes notified us that they would exercise their
option to purchase and resell the notes pursuant to the remarketing agreement, unless we elected to
redeem the notes. We exercised our option and elected to redeem the notes at fair value pursuant to the
remarketing agreement. As a result, we recorded a loss on the extinguishment of debt of $8.8 million in
“Interest expense, net.”

We recorded a gain of $2.1 million on the previous sale of a parcel of land in downtown Chicago for
the reversal of accruals related to the favorable resolution of certain contingencies. The gain was
reflected in “Other (expense) income, net.”

We favorably settled a tax refund case with the Internal Revenue Service that arose from the 1990
termination of our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP™). The tax settlement consisted of

$6.4 million of interest income and a tax benefit of $6.0 million recorded in “Income taxes.” During
k
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fiscal year 2003, we recorded a net tax benefit of $7.7 million related primarily to the reversal of
certain tax accruals, offset by additional tax liabilities recorded. Included in the net tax benefit of
$7.7 million are tax benefits of $6.0 million from the favorable seitlement of the ESOP case and a tax
benefit of $6.0 million related mainly to the reversal of tax liabilities due to the settlement of various
income tax audits through the 1999 tax year. These tax benefits were offset, in part, by net additional
tax accruals of $4.3 million for contingent liabilities arising in fiscal year 2003.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements of expected future
developments, as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, The forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer 1o our expectations regarding continuing operating
improvement and other matters. These forward-looking statements reflect our expectations and are based on
currently available data; however, actual results are subject to future risks and uncertainties, which could
materially affect actual performance. Risks and uncertainties that could affect such performance include, but
are not limited to, the following: competition, including product and pricing pressures; changing trends in
consumer tastes; changes in our relationship and/or support programs with PepsiCo and other brand owners;
market acceptance of new product and package offerings; weather conditions; cost and availability of raw
materials; changing legislation, including tax laws; cost and outcome of environmental claims; availability
and cost of capital including changes in our debt ratings; labor and employee benefit costs; unfavorable
Joreign currency rate fluctuations; costs and outcome of legal proceedings; integration of acquisitions; failure
of information technology systems; and general economic, business, regulatory and pelitical conditions in the
countries and territories where we operate. See “Risk Factors” in Item 1A for additional information.

These events and uncertainties are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many are beyond our
control. We assume no obligation to publicly release the result of any revisions that may be made to any
Jorward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements or to reflect the
occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.

Executive Overview

What We Do

We manufacture, distribute, and market a broad portfolio of beverage products in the U.S., CEE and the
Caribbean. We sell a variety of brands that we bottle under franchise agreements with varicus brand owners,
the majority with PepsiCo or PepsiCo joint ventures. In some territories, we manufacture, package, sell and
distribute our own brands, such as Toma brands in CEE and the Caribbean and Sandora brands in Ukraine, We
operate in a significant portion of a 19 state region in the U.S. In CEE, we serve Poland, Hungary, the Czech
Republic, Republic of Slovakia, Romania and Ukraine, with distribution rights in Moldova, Estonia, Latvia
and Lithuania. In addition, we have an equity investment in Agrima, which gives us a market presence in
Bulgaria. In the Caribbean, we serve Puerto Rico, Jamaica, the Bahamas, and Trinidad and Tobago, with
distribution rights in Barbados.

Results of Operations

In the discussion of cur results of operations below, the number of bottle and can cases sold is referred to
as volume. Constant territory refers to the results of operations excluding the non-comparable territories
year-over-year. For fiscal year 2007 comparisons, this excluded the operating results of Sandora and the first
seven months of Romania, as we fully consolidated Romania operating results starting in August 2006. For
fiscal year 2006, this excluded the operating results of Romania. Net pricing is net sales divided by the
number of cases and gallons sold for our core businesses, which include bottles and cans (including bottle and
can volume from vending equipment sales), as well as food service. Changes in net pricing include the impact
of sales price (or rate) changes, as well as the impact of foreign currency translation and brand, package and
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geographic mix. Net pricing and reported volume amounts exclude contract, commissary, and vending (other
than bottles and cans) transactions. Contract sales represent sales of manufactured product to other franchise
bottlers and typically decline as excess manufacturing capacity is utilized. Net pricing and volume also
exclude activity associated with beer and snack food products. Cost of goods sold per unit is the cost of goods
sold for our core businesses divided by the related number of cases and gallons sold.

Fiscal Year 2007 Key Financial Results

« Worldwide net sales increased 12.8 percent, due to volume growth of 7.8 percent and net selling price
increases of 4.8 percent.

* Worldwide cost of goods sold per unit increased 3.9 percent.
* Operating margins increased 70 basis points to 9.7 percent.

+ In fiscal year 2007, we generated operating income of $436.1 million, which included special charges
of $6.3 million. Operating income in fiscal year 2006 of $356.0 million included special charges of
$13.7 million.

* We reported diluted earnings per share of $1.64 for the fiscal year 2007, which includes a loss from
discontinued operations of $0.02, compared to diluted earnings per share of $1.22 in the prior year.

* We generated cash from operating activities of $433.5 million in fiscal year 2007 compared to
$343.8 million in fiscal year 2006.

Our Focus in Fiscal Year 2007

Worldwide. Our results for fiscal year 2007 were generated by both the consistent execution of our
overall strategy and external factors, including the favorable impact of foreign currency translation. Our
strategy was driven by three items. First, we rebuilt our U.S. sales organization from one based on geography
to one built around customer channels. This new structure enables us to dedicate more resources and sales
support to channels and customers, which resulted in our ability to manage a difficult cost environment, as we
executed on innovation, pricing and single-serve distribution. Second, we have made significant progress in
building scale and profitability organically and through acquisitions in CEE. During fiscal year 2007, we
added Ukraine to our operations and entered into Bulgaria through an equity investment. Lastly, the diversity
of our markets and continued capability investment drove our strong performance in fiscal year 2007,

On a worldwide basis, revenue was 12.8 percent higher than the prior year, due to volume growth of
7.8 percent and net selling price increases of 4.8 percent. These increases covered higher raw material costs
and contributed to diluted earnings per share growth of 34.4 percent.

U.S. operations. Price increases in raw materials continued to challenge our business in fiscal year
2007. We were able to successfully offset these higher costs through higher net pricing, product innovation
and the execution of our single-serve initiative. We had a strong innovation calendar, which included the
introduction of Diet Pepsi Max and Lipton White Tea. We also grew our higher margin single-serve package
approximately 1 percent. Volume declined 1.4 percent during fiscal year 2007. We grew our non-carbonated
portfolio 10 percent during the year, which partly offset a 4 percent decline in carbonated soft drink volume,
Non-carbonated beverages are now 20 percent of our portfolio, a two percentage point increase from last year.
This success was driven by volume growth in Trademark Lipton and the successful execution of our hydration
and energy strategy, which will continue in fiscal year 2008.

International operations. We continue to focus on our international markets as a key driver of growth.
These markets now generate over $1 billion in net sales. Constant territory volume grew 7.9 percent. Operating
income in CEE was $100.5 million, an increase of $79.6 million compared to the prior year. Organic growth
contributed one quarter of the increase and the impact of foreign currency translation contributed approx-
imately 30 percentage points of growth, The remainder of the increase was related to acquisitions.
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In CEE, our expanded product portfolio performed well. Carbonated soft drinks grew in the high single
digits due, in part, to strong growth in Trademark Pepsi. Non-carbonated beverages in our portfolio
experienced double-digit growth led by Trademark Lipton. In each CEE market, we held either the number
one or number two position in the fast-growing, ready-to-drink tea category. As a result of the successful
execution of our strategies, volume grew in all CEE countries, with Poland and Romania each experiencing
double-digit volume growth. We added selling resources to increase SKU distribution in existing accounts and
increase business in the less-developed traditional trade. The flexibility in our distribution system allowed us
to effectively utilize third parties for delivery in more rural areas.

In the Caribbean, volume declined 5.0 percent due to continued soft economic conditions and competitive
pressures in Puerto Rico partly offset by volume growth in Jamaica. Operating income decreased $1.0 million
to $4.0 million in fiscal year 2007, Net pricing increased during fiscal year 2007 to offset increases in raw
material and utilities costs.

Focusing on Fiscal Year 2008

In fiscal year 2008, we will continue to execute the strategies already in place. We expect to capture
market share and cash flow opportunities in the U.S., while continuing to focus on growing net sales and
operating income in CEE.

In the U.S., we will focus on non-carbonated beverage growth through our tea, energy and hydration
initiatives. We expect our non-carbonated beverage mix to increase 2 to 3 percentage points to represent
approximately 22 to 23 percent of our portfolio. We plan to strengthen our share position in ready-to-drink
teas with programs and innovation for our three-tea strategy: Lipton Pureleaf, Lipton Iced Tea and Lipton
Brisk. In the energy category, we will focus on Mountain Dew AMP with innovation and marketing. To
support our hydration initiative, we have implemented a multi-brand strategy with the relaunches of SoBe
LifeWater and Aquafina Alive in the enhanced water category and the recently introduced Propel along with
the distribution of G2 by Gatorade in the convenience and gas channel. While we anticipate carbonated soft
drink volume declines will be consistent with fiscal year 2007, we expect that the product innovation from
fiscal year 2007, specifically Diet Pepsi Max, will benefit fiscal year 2008. We will also support carbonated
soft drinks through the new Trademark Mountain Dew program, DEWmocracy. Lastly, we will drive local
marketing efforts to support single-serve growth.

We expect to increase pricing in fiscal year 2008 to cover anticipated higher cost of goods sold. We will
leverage our new revenue management structure for even more targeted pricing opportunities.

We also will continue progress in our supply chain productivity initiative, Customer Optimization to the
Third Power or CO3, with the goal of improving forecasting accuracy and reducing out-of-stocks at our
customers. During fiscal year 2007, we completed the rollout of our demand planning and forecasting tools.
During fiscal year 2008, we will complete our rollout of our new power pre-sell hand-held technology and
will implement warehouse processes including voice-pick and ASN technology, which we expect will drive
pallet accuracy to 99.9 percent. We have also expanded our supply chain initiatives to include formalized SKU
rationalization, route optimization and warehouse standardization. We believe that these efforts will result in
greater productivity in fiscal year 2008,

Internationally, we anticipate opportunities for growth in net sales and operating income in CEE. Like
fiscal year 2007, growth in fiscal year 2008 should be across all categories. We expect relatively strong
macroeconomic factors to continue and favorably impact consumer spending. We anticipate additional
opportunities to add categories in key markets like Ukraine, Romania and Poland. We will continue to invest
in advertising and marketing to build brand equity, which is important as the markets in CEE are fragmented.
Our growth in CEE requires us to add manufacturing capacity with a new aseptic line in Poland, an improved
logistics center in Hungary and a new production facility in Romania. The addition of Sandora adds diversity
to our products and provides opportunities to further expand our portfolio.

In fiscal year 2008, we expect diluted earnings per share to be in the range of $1.77 to $1.83, including
an estimated impact of $0.01 for special charges in the U.S. and Hungary, offset by an estimated $0.01 benefit
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from the impact of the 53rd week in fiscal year 2008. This compares to fiscal year 2007 diluted earnings per
share of $1.64 which included a $0.02 reduction related to discontinued operations. We expect worldwide
volume to increase in the range of 13 to 14 percent, and to improve average net selling price by 2.5 to

3.5 percent. We expect cost of goods sold per unit to increase approximately 6 to 7 percent, and selling,
delivery and administrative (“SD&A™) expenses to be higher by 9 to 10 percent compared to fiscal year 2007.
Overall, we expect to generate operating income growth of 10 to 12 percent. The outlook described above
includes the impact of the 53rd week, which is expected to contribute I percent growth in volume, SD&A
expenses and operating income, as well as the impact of the Sandora acquisition, which is expected to
contribute 10 percent growth in volume, reduce pricing by 2 percent, raise SD&A expenses by 4 percent and
raise operating income by 5 percent to 6 percent.

Qur ability to generate significant operating cash flow makes several options available to us, including
reinvesting in our existing business, pursuing acquisitions with an appropriate expected economic return,
repurchasing our stock and paying dividends to our shareholders. We will continue to examine the optimal
uses of cash to maximize shareholder value,

The above overview should not be considered by itself in determining full disclosure and should be read
in conjunction with the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Items Impacting Comparability
Acquisitions

In the second quarter of 2007, we completed the formation of a joint venture with PepsiCo to acquire an
interest in Sandora, the leading juice company in Ukraine. Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, we
hold a 60 percent interest and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest. In August 2007, the joint venture acquired
80 percent of Sandora. In November 2007, the joint venture completed the acquisition of the remaining
20 percent interest. We fully consolidated the results of operations of the joint venture and report minority
interest in our Consolidated Financial Statements. Due to the timing of the receipt of available financial
information, we record results on a one-month lag basis.

QABCL is a holding company that, through its subsidiaries produces, sells and distributes Pepsi and other
beverages throughout Romania and also has distribution rights in Moldova. In June 2005, we acquired a
49 percent interest in QABCL. This initial investment was recorded under the equity method in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for
Investments in Common Stock”. We recorded our share of QABCL earnings in “Equity in net earnings of
nonconsolidated companies” in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Equity in net earnings of non-
consolidated companies was $5.6 million in fiscal year 2006. In July 2006, we acquired the remaining
51 percent interest in QABCL. QABCL is now a wholly-owned subsidiary which was consolidated in the third
quarter of 2006. Due to the timing of the receipt of available financial information from QABCL, we record
results on a one-month lag basis.

Special Charges

In fiscal year 2007, we recorded special charges of $6.3 million. In the U.S., we recorded $4.8 million of
special charges primarily related to severance and relocation costs associated with our strategic realignment
announced in the fourth quarter of 2006. In CEE, we recorded special charges of $1.5 million related to lease
termination costs in Hungary and associated severance costs,

In fiscal year 2006, we recorded special charges of $11.5 million in the U.S. related to our strategic
realignment to further strengthen our customer focused go-to-market strategy. These special charges were
primarily for severance and other employee related costs, including the acceleration of vesting of certain
restricted stock awards. We also incurred costs for consulting services associated with the strategic realignment
which were included in the special charges. In addition, we recorded special charges of $2.2 million in CEE,
primarily for a reduction in the workforce. These special charges were primarily for severance costs and
related benefits.
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In fiscal year 2005, we recorded special charges of $2.5 million in CEE, primarily for a reduction in the
workforce in CEE and the consclidation of certain production facilities as we rationalized our cost structure.
These special charges were primarily for severance costs, related benefits and asset write-downs.

Marketable Securities Impairment
In fiscal years 2007 and 2006, we recorded other-than-temporary impairment losses of $4.0 million and
$7.3 million, respectively, related to a common stock investment that is classified as available-for-sale on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The loss was recorded in “Other expense, net.”
Gain on Sale of Non-Core Property
In fiscal year 2007, we recorded a gain of $10.2 million related to the sale of non-core property, which
consisted of railcars and locomotives. The gain was recorded in “Other expense, net.”
Fructose Settlement

In fiscal year 2005, we recorded income of $16.6 million related to proceeds we received from the
settlement of a class action lawsuit. The lawsuit alleged price fixing related to high fructose corn syrup
purchased from July 1, 1991 through June 30, 1995.

Lease Exit Costs

In fiscal year 2005, we recorded $1.4 million of expense for the early termination of a real estate lease
for our corporate offices in the Chicago area and $6.1 million of expense related to the remaining obligations
under this lease.

Operating Results — 2007 compared with 2006

Volume. Sales volume growth {decline) for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

2007 2006
0 (1.4% 0.6%
CEBE . e e e e e e e e e e 49.5% 34.5%
Camibbean . .. e e e e e e 5.0% 1.6%
Worldwide. . . .. e e e e e e 7.8% 5.6%
2007 Compared to 2006
Volume Change Us. CEE Caribbean Worldwide
Constant territory volume . . .. ......... ... .. oitn.. 14)% 79% (5.00% 0.1%
Acquisitions . .. ... .. ... . e —% 416% —% 7.7%
Change involume. . ............ ... ... ... ... ..... (1.4)% 49.5% (3.00% 7.8%

In fiscal year 2007, worldwide volume increased 7.8 percent compared to the prior year. The increase in
worldwide volume was attributable to volume growth of 49.5 percent in CEE, due to the incremental impact
of acquisitions and constant territory growth, which was partly offset by volume declines in the U.S. and the
Caribbean.

Volume in the U.S. declined 1.4 percent compared to fiscal year 2006 due to a decline in carbonated soft
drink volume of approximately 4 percent, which was consistent with fiscal year 2006. The non-carbonated
beverage category, excluding water, grew approximately 17 percent driven primarily by Trademark Lipton.
Aquafina volume grew 1.5 percent in fiscal year 2007. Non-carbonated beverages represented 20 percent of
our volume mix during fiscal year 2007 compared to 18 percent in the prior year. Single-serve volume grew
1 percent due mainly to innovation, including Diet Pepsi Max and Mountain Dew Game Fuel, and strong
marketing programs.

29




Volume in CEE increased 49.5 percent in fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006. The increase
was primarily due to acquisitions, which contributed 41.6 percentage points of the increase. The remaining
growth in CEE was due to growth in the non-carbonated beverage category, driven by double-digit growth in
Trademark Lipton and juices and single-digit growth in the water category. Carbonated soft drink volume grew

in the mid-single digits due to growth in Trademark Pepsi.
Volume in the Caribbean declined 5.0 percent in fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006. The

volume decline was driven primarily by soft economic conditions and competitive pressures in Puerto Rico,
partly offset by volume growth in Jamaica. Carbonated soft drink volume declined 11 percent and was partly

offset by double-digit growth in non-carbonated beverages.
Net Sales. Net sales and net pricing statistics for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows (doilar

amounts in millions):

Net Sales 2007 2006 Change

U S e $3,384.9  §$3,245.8 4.3%
CEE . ... e 8494 484.1 75.5%
Caribbean ....... ... . ... i 245.2 242.5 1.1%
Worldwide . . . . oot e $4479.5 $3,9724 12.8%

2007 Compared to 2006
U.S. CEE  Caribbean  Worldwide

Net Sales Change

Volume impact * ... ... ... .. e 12% 71% (4.3)% 0.1%
Net price per case, excluding impact of currency
translation. .. . ... . e e 51% 4.6% 6.8% 4.7%
ACqUISILIONS . . o o v vt e e e —% 45.3% —% 5.6%
Currency translation . . ........ ... ... —% 15.9% (1.2)% 1.9%
NOMFCOTE L\ ettt e i e raeas 04% 26% (0.2)% _0.5%
Changeinmetsales............... ... .. 43% 75.5% 1.1% 12.8%

* The amounts in this table represent the dollar impact on net sales due to changes in volume and are not
intended to equal the absolute change in volume.

Net Pricing Growth ** 2007 @

00 51% 1.1%
CEE. . e e e e 192% 7.2%
Carlbbean . . ... .. e 5.6% 5.4%
Worldwide . . ... e e e e 48% 0.5%

** Includes the impact from acquisitions and currency translation on core revenue.

Net sales increased $507.1 million, or 12.8 percent, to $4,479.5 million in fiscal year 2007 compared to
$3,972.4 million in fiscal year 2006. The increase was primarily due to acquisitions, worldwide rate and mix
increases, volume growth in CEE and the favorable impact of foreign currency translation, which added
1.9 percentage points of the increase.

Net sales in the U.S. in fiscal year 2007 increased $139.1 million, or 4.3 percent, to $3,384.9 million
from $3,245.8 million in fiscal year 2006. The increase in net sales was due to a 5.1 percent increase in net
pricing, driven primarily by rate increases necessary to cover the higher raw material costs, partly offset by a
decline in volume. Package mix also positively contributed to net pricing by approximately 1 percent due to
stronger single-serve package and non-carbonated beverage performance and lower take-home water volume.

Net sales in CEE in fiscal year 2007 increased $365.3 million, or 75.5 percent, to $849.4 million from
$484.1 million in fiscal year 2006, The increase was primarily due to acquisitions, which contributed
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45.3 percentage points of the increase. The remainder of the growth was contributed by our existing markets,
led by Romania and Poland. Net pricing increased 19.2 percent, driven by the favorable impact of foreign
currency translation and improvement in mix.

Net sales in the Caribbean increased $2.7 million, or 1.1 percent, in fiscal year 2007 to $245.2 million
from $242.5 million in fiscal year 2006, The increase was a result of an increase in net pricing of 5.6 percent,
partly offset by a volume decline of 5.0 percent. The increase in net pricing was driven by both rate and mix
increases and from growth in the single-serve package.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold and cost of goods sold per unit statistics for fiscal years 2007
and 2006 were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

Cost of Goods Sold 2007 2006 Change
U S $1,982.0 $1.891.6 4.8%
CEE .. e e e 491.4 292.7 67.9%
Caribbean . ... ... . .. e 182.8 180.0 1.6%
Worldwide . . .. .. ... ... $2,656.2  $2,364.3 12.3%
2007 Compared to 2006

Cost of Goods Sold Change US. CEE  Caribbean  Worldwide
Volume impact * ., . . .. e e (1.1)% 7.0% (4.3)% 0.1%
Cost per case impact, excluding impact obf currency

ranslation. . ... ... ... ... . 52% 1.3% 6.8% 4.1%
Acquisitions . . ... ... .. —% 46.0% —% 5.7%
Currency translation . .. .. ... ..t —% 10.4% (1.2)% 1.2%
Non-core ... ... i 07% 32%  0.3% _1.2%

Change incostof goodssold. .. .................... 48% 619%  1.6% 12.3%

* The amounts in this table represent the dollar impact on cost of goods sold due to changes in volume and
are not intended to equal the absolute change in volume.

Cost of Goods Sold per Unit Increase ** 2007 2006

L0 52% 4.3%
CEE. e e e e e e e 13.0% 5.4%
Caribbean . .. .. .. .. .. e 5.6% 6.4%
Worldwide . . ... ... e e 39% 3.2%

** Includes the impact from acquisitions and currency translation on core cost of goods sold.

Cost of goods sold increased $291.9 million, or 12.3 percent, to $2,656.2 million in fiscal year 2007 from
$2,364.3 million in fiscal year 2006, This increase was driven primarily by the impact of acquisitions, higher
raw material costs and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation, which added 1.2 percentage
points to the increase,

In the U.S,, cost of goods sold increased $90.4 million, or 4.8 percent, to $1,982.0 million in fiscal year
2007 from $1,891.6 million in the prior year. Cost of goods sold per unit increased 5.2 percent in the U.S,,
due to price increases in ingredient costs and a | percentage point increase in mix due to a shift to more
expensive non-carbonated beverages.

In CEE, cost of goods sold increased $198.7 million, or 67.9 percent, to $491.4 million in fiscal year
2007, compared to $292.7 million in the prior year. Acquisitions contributed 46.0 percentage points of the
increase. Constant territory volume growth of 7.9 percent and higher ingredient costs also contributed to the
increase of cost of goods sold. The remainder of the increase was mainly due to the unfavorable impact of
foreign currency translation, which contributed a 10.4 percent increase in cost of goods sold.
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In the Caribbean, cost of goods sold increased $2.8 million, or 1.6 percent, to $182.8 million in fiscal
year 2007, compared to $180.0 million in fiscal year 2006. The increase was mainly driven by an increase in
cost of goods sold per unit of 5.6 percent, attributable to increases in the price of raw materials, partly offset
by a volume decline of 5.0 percent.

Selling, Delivery and Administrative Expenses. SD&A expenses and SD&A expense statistics for fiscal
years 2007 and 2006 were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

SD&A Expenses 2007 2006 Change

U S, e e e $1,0665 $1,012.6 5.3%
CEE .. e e 256.0 168.3 52.1%
Caribbean . ... ... e et 584 57.5 1.6%
Worldwide . . .. .. $1.3809 $1,238.4 11.5%

2007 Compared to 2006

SD&A Expense Change US. CEE  Caribbean  Worldwide
Costimpact., ... .. ... 53% 94% 2.5% 5.8%
Acquisitions . .. .. ...ttt e —% 29.1% —% 39%
Currency translation .. ..................... e —% 13.6% (0.9% _1.8%
Change in SD&A expense . .. ........ ... ... ... ... 53% 52.1%  1.6% 11.5%
SD&A Expenses as a Percent of Net Sales W07 2006
L5 50.P 31.5% 31.2%
CEE . .. e e e 30.1% 34.8%
071V 11 =7 + Y OO 23.8% 23.71%
WOrlAWIE. . .o e e e e e 30.8% 31.2%

In fiscal year 2007, SD&A expenses increased $142.5 million, or 11.5 percent, to $1,380.9 million from
$1,238.4 million in the previous year. The unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation added
1.8 percentage points of the increase. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased to 30.8 percent
in fiscal year 2007, compared to 31.2 percent in fiscal year 2006 due primarily to lower operating costs in
Romania.

In the U.S., SD&A expenses increased $53.9 million, or 5.3 percent, to $1,066.5 million in fiscal year
2007, compared to $1,012.6 million in the prior year. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses were
31.5 percent in fiscal year 2007 compared to 31.2 percent in the prior year. SD& A expenses increased in fiscal
year 2007 primarily due to higher compensation and benefit costs. In fiscal year 2007, SD&A expenses also
included $3.8 million in realized gains from the settlement of derivative financial instruments. These
instruments were used to manage the risks associated with the variability in the market price for forecasted
purchases of diesel fuel. Comparisons between periods were also impacted by various items in fiscal year
2006, including a $3.7 million benefit recorded as a result of a change in our estimate of healthcare costs and
a $9.0 million benefit from lower medical costs, partly offset by a fixed asset charge of $6.5 million for
marketing and merchandising equipment.

In CEE, SD&A expenses increased $87.7 million, or 52.1 percent, to $256.0 million from $168.3 million
in the prior year. Acquisitions contributed 29.1 percentage points of this increase. The remainder of the
increase was due to the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation, volume growth and higher
advertising and marketing expenses. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses improved to 30.1 percent
compared to 34.8 percent in the prior year, primarily due to lower overall operating costs in Romania as
compared to the other markets in CEE.
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In the Caribbean, SD&A expenses increased $0.9 million, or 1.6 percent, to $58.4 million in fiscal year
2007 from $57.5 million in the prior year. SD&A expenses as a percentage of net sales in fiscal year 2007
were essentially flat compared to the prior year.

Special Charges. In fiscal year 2007, we recorded special charges of $6.3 million. In the U.S., we
recorded $4.8 million of special charges associated with our strategic alignment to further strengthen our
customer focused go-to-market strategy, primarily related to severance and relocation costs. In CEE, we
recorded special charges of $1.5 million related to a lease termination in Hungary and associated severance
Ccosts.

Operating Income. Operating income for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 was as follows (dollar amounts in
millions):

2007 2006 Change
U S e e e e $331.6  $330.1 0.5%
CEE . . .. e 100.5 209  3809%
Caribbean .. ... .. ... e 40 _ 50 (20.0)%
Worldwide . ... ..ot e e §i3_6_l $356.0 22.5%

Operating income increased $80.1 million, or 22.5 percent, to $436.1 million in fiscal year 2007,
compared to $356.0 million in fiscal year 2006. The favorable impact of foreign currency translation added
approximately 7 percentage points to the growth in worldwide operating income and acquisitions added
approximately 10 percentage points of growth.

Cperating income in the U.S. increased $1.5 million to $331.6 million in fiscal year 2007, compared to
$330.1 million in fiscal year 2006. The increase was due to lower special charges and higher net pricing,
partly offset by volume declines, higher cost of goods sold and higher SD&A expenses.

Operating income in CEE increased $79.6 million to $100.5 million in fiscal year 2007, compared to
operating income of $20.9 million in fiscal year 2006. This increase was primarily due to acquisitions, which
contributed approximately 45 percentage points of this growth. The remainder of the growth was primanly due
to volume growth, increases in net pricing and the beneficial impact of foreign currency translation, which
contributed approximately 30 percentage points of operating income growth.

Operating income in the Caribbean decreased $1.0 million to $4.0 million in fiscal year 2007, compared
to $5.0 million in fiscal year 2006. The decline in operating income was caused by the soft economic
environment in Puerto Rico, which was partly offset by operating income growth in Jamaica.

Interest Expense and Other Expenses. Net interest expense increased $7.9 million in fiscal year 2007
to $109.2 million, compared to $101.3 million in fiscal year 2006, due primarily to higher interest rates on
floating rate debt and higher overall debt levels related to our acquisitions, partly offset by lower interest
expense related to our securitization program.

We recorded other expense, net, of $0.6 million in fiscal year 2007 compared to other expense, net, of
$11.7 million reported in fiscal year 2006. The decrease in other expense, net, was due primarily to a
$10.2 million gain on the sale of non-core property in fiscal year 2007, offset partly by a $4.0 million other-
than-temporary impairment related to an equity security investment in Northfield Laberatories, Inc.

Income Taxes. The effective income tax rate, which is income tax expense expressed as a percentage of
income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and equity in net earnings of
nonconsolidated companies, was 34.3 percent for fiscal year 2007, compared to 37.2 percent in fiscal year
2006. The effective tax rate decreased from the prior year due, in part, to the mix of country results and the
associated lower in-country tax rates. The effective income tax rate was also favorably impacted by a
reorganization of the legal entity structure in CEE in the second quarter of 2007.

Equity in Net Earnings of Nonconsolidated Companies. In the second quarter of 2005, we acquired a
49 percent interest in QABCL. Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies was $5.6 million in fiscal
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year 2006. With the acquisition of the remaining 51 percent, we consolidated QABCL results beginning in the
third quarter of fiscal year 2006.

Loss on Discontinued Operations. In fiscal year 2007, we recorded a charge of $2.1 million, net of
taxes, related to revised estimates for environmental remediation, legal and related administrative costs.

Net Income. Net income increased $53.8 million to $212.1 million in fiscal year 2007, compared to
$158.3 million in fiscal year 2006. The discussion of our operating results, included above, explains the
increase in net income.

Operating Results — 2006 compared with 2005

Volume. Sales volume growth for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

As Reported 2006 2005

L0 0 0.6% 7.4%
CEE. . . . e e e e 34.5% 3.3%
Canibbean . . ... . e e e e e e s 1.6% 3.4%
Worldwide . . . ... e e e e 5.6% 6.5%

2006 Compared to 2005

Volume Change Us. CEE Caribbean  Worldwide

Constant territory volume . .. ................ ... ..... 0.6% 10.0% 1.6% 2.0%

Acquisitions . .. .. ... ... e —% 245% —% 3.6%
Changeinvolume . ......... ... ovitinrvnennnnnn, 0.6% 34.5% 1.6% 5.6%

In fiscal year 2006, worldwide volume increased 5.6 percent compared to the prior year driven by growth
in all three geographic segments, coupled with the impact of the QABCL acquisition.

Total volume in the U.S. grew 0.6 percent in fiscal year 2006. Non-carbonated beverages grew
approximately 30 percent during fiscal year 2006, driven by the strong growth in both Trademark Aquafina
and Lipton Iced Teas. Trademark Aquafina volume increased approximately 39 percent and Trademark Lipton
volume increased approximately 42 percent during fiscal year 2006. This growth was partially offset by
softness in our carbonated soft drink category, which declined 4 percent compared to fiscal year 2005, This
softness was due in part to our consumers® continued shift into the non-carbonated beverage category. Non-
carbonated beverages constituted 18 percent of our sales volume during fiscal year 2006, an increase of
4 percentage points compared to fiscal year 2005.

Total volume in CEE increased 34.5 percent during fiscal year 2006. The acquisition of QABCL in fiscal
year 2006 contributed 24.5 percentage points of volume growth during the period. The remaining growth was
driven by strong performances across all brands and categories. Carbonated soft drink volume grew approxi-
mately 10 percent during fiscal year 2006, which reflected strong growth in Trademark Slice and Trademark
Pepsi. Non-carbonated beverage growth of approximately 16 percent in fiscal year 2006 was driven by double-
digit growth in Lipton products and the juice category, which includes Tropicana and Toma.

Volume in the Caribbean increased 1.6 percent during fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005.
Volume grew despite the challenging business environment in Puerto Rico and Jamaica during the second
quarter of 2006. Volume growth was driven by 35 percent growth in the non-carbonated beverage category,
partly offset by flat growth in Trademark Pepsi. The non-carbonated beverage category growth was driven
primarily by contributions from Tropicana and energy drinks.
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Net Sales. Net sales and net pricing statistics for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were as follows (dollar
amounts in millions):

Net Sales 2006 2005 Change

L g $3,245.8  $3,156.1 2.3%
CEE ... e e e e e 484.1 343.5 40.9%
Caribbean . .......... .. ... . e 242.5 226.4 7.1%
Worldwide . .. ... ... $3,9724  $3,726.0 6.6%

2006 Compared to 2005

Net Sales Change US. CEE  Caribbean  Worldwide
Volume impact * .. .. ... . ... .. 05% 8.8% 1.4% 1.8%
Net price per case, excluding impact of currency translation, . 1.1% 3.6% 6.6% 1.2%
Acquisitions . ... .. e —% 23.5% —% 2.2%
Currency translation .. ....... ... ... ... . i, —% 3.1% (1.2)% 0.2%
NON-COTE. . ..o e e 12% 19% 03% 1.2%
Change innetsales .. ..... ... .o iiiiniinininn, 28% 409%  7.1% 6.6%

* The amounts in this table represent the dollar impact on net sales due to changes in volume and are not
intended to equal the absolute change in volume.

Net Pricing Growth ** 2006 2005

. e e e e e e 1.1% 3.6%
CEE . . e e e e e e 12% 4.3%
CanibbeaN . . . . ...t e e e e 5.4% 4.2%
Worldwide . . . e e e 0.5% 3.9%

** Ipcludes the impact from acquisitions and currency translation on core revenue.

Net sales in fiscal year 2006 increased $246.4 million, or 6.6 percent, to $3,972.4 million. The acquisition
of QABCL contributed 2.2 percentage points of growth, with the remaining increase driven by volume growth
and an increase in net pricing.

Net sales in the U.S. in fiscal year 2006 increased $89.7 million, or 2.8 percent, to $3,245.8 million. The
increase in net sales was due to the 1.1 percent increase in net pricing and 0.6 percent volume growth. The
improvement in net pricing was driven by rate increases of 2.0 percent, partly offset by a negative package
mix. During fiscal year 2006, a shift in package mix from single-serve to take-home packages caused a
decrease in overall net pricing.

Net sales in CEE increased $140.6 million, or 40.9 percent, to $484.1 million in fiscal year 2006. The
increase reflected the QABCL acquisition, which contributed 23.5 percentage points of growth in net sales.
The remainder of the increase resulted from volume growth and higher net pricing, including a 3.1 percent
contribution to net sales from foreign currency translation. The net pricing increase on a local currency basis
was primarily driven by a higher mix of the single-serve package.

Caribbean net sales increased $16.1 million, or 7.1 percent, to $242.5 million in fiscal year 2006. Both a
net selling price increase of 5.4 percent and volume growth of 1.6 percent drove the increase in net sales. This
level of net selling price increase was necessitated by higher raw materials costs, including sugar.
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Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold and cost of goods sold per unit statistics for fiscal years 2006

and 2005 were as follows {(dollar amounts in miilions):

Cost of Goods Sold 2006 2005 Change

L T 51,8916 §1,784.9 6.0%
CEE . e e 2927 2113 38.5%
Caribbean ........ ... i e 180.0 167.3 7.6%
Worldwide . . ... ... . e $2,364.3  $2,163.5 9.3%

2006 Compared to 2005

Cost of Goods Sold Change us. CEE Caribbean Worldwide
Volume impact * . .. . ... ... .. ... . 05% B87% 1.4% 1.2%
Cost per case impact, excluding impact of currency

translation . .. ... .. ... L. 43% 3.1% 7.7% 4.0%
AcqUIsitions . .. ... .. .. e —% 224% —% 2.2%
Currency translation ... ....... ... ... ... .. ...... ... —% 2.6% (1.3)% 0.2%
NOM-COT. . v ittt ittt e et e b et e e e e e 12% 1.7% (0.2)% L7%

Change incostof goodssold ... ............. ... ... 6.0% 385%  71.6% 9.3%

* The amounts in this table represent the dollar impact on cost of goods sold due to changes in volume and
are not intended to equal the absolute change in volume.

Cost of Goods Sold per Unit Increase** 2006 2005

L 10 43% 3.4%
CEE. . e 54% 11.1%
Caribbean ... ... .. e e 64% 5.8%
Worldwide . . . ... .. e e 32% 4.5%

** Includes the impact from acquisitions and currency translation on core cost of goods sold.

Cost of goods sold increased $200.8 million, or 9.3 percent, to $2,364.3 million. The growth in cost of
goods sold during fiscal year 2006 was driven primarily by cost of goods sold per unit increases, volume
growth and the impact of acquisitions. Worldwide cost of goods sold per unit increases were driven primarily
by increases in raw material costs, including higher concentrate costs, and package mix shifts on a constant
territory basis. Package mix changes were driven by shifts to higher cost products as a result of volume growth
in our non-carbonated beverage portfolio. The worldwide cost of goods sold per unit was favorably impacted
by the conselidation of QABCL during fiscal year 2006.

In the U.S., cost of goods sold increased $106.7 million, or 6.0 percent, to $1,891.6 million during fiscal
year 2006. The increase was primarily driven by a higher cost of goods sold per unit. Cost of goods sold per
unit increased 4.3 percent in the U.S., primarily due to higher raw material prices across all commodities, as
well as the impact of mix shifts to higher cost non-carbonated beverages.

In CEE, cost of goods sold increased $81.4 million, or 38.5 percent, to $292.7 million during fiscal year
2006. Cost of goods sold increased due to the acquisition of QABCL, which contributed 22.4 percentage
points of growth, The remainder of the increase was due to volume growth of 10.0 percent on a constant
territory basis, higher cost of goods sold per unit, and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation,
which increased cost of goods sold 2.6 percent. Cost of goods sold per unit increased 5.4 percent due to higher
concentrate, resin and sugar costs.

In the Caribbean, cost of goods sold increased $12.7 million, or 7.6 percent, to $180.0 million during
fiscal year 2006. The increase was mainly driven by an increase in cost of goods sold per unit of 6.4 percent
and volume growth of 1.6 percent. Cost of goods sold per unit increased due to higher raw material costs,
including concentrate and sweeteners, and higher utility costs.
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Selling, Delivery and Administrative Expenses. SD&A expenses and SD&A statistics for fiscal years

2006 and 2005 were as follows {dollar amounts in millions):

SD&A Expenses 2006 2005 Change

U LS, o e e e $1,012.6  $1,000.1 1.2%
CEE . . e e e e 168.3 128.2 31.3%
Cartbbean . ... .o e e 57.5 54.9 4.7%
Worldwide . ... ..o e $1,2384  §1,183.2 4.7%

2006 Compared to 2005

SD&A Expense Change Us. CEE Caribbean Worldwide
CoSLImpact. .. ... v it e e e e 1.2% 14.2% 5.7% 2.8%
ACQUISILIONS . ... u it e e e e e —% 16.2% —% 1.8%
Currency translation .......... ... ... .o i —% 09% (1.0)% 0.1%
Change in SD&A expense . ... ... oot 12% 313% 47% 4.7%
SD&A Expenses as a Percent of Net Sales 2006 2005
L8157 GO 312% 31.7%
0 ) 34.8% 37.3%
CaribbEaN .« . o vttt e e e e e 23.7% 24.2%
WOrldWidE. .« . e e e e e e 31.2% 31.8%

In fiscal year 2006, SD&A expenses increased $55.2 million, or 4.7 percent, to $1,238.4 million from
$1,183.2 million in the prior year. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased to 31.2 percent in
fiscal year 2006, compared to 31,8 percent in fiscal year 2005 due primarily to the lower operating costs as a
result of cost containment initiatives in both the U.S. and CEE. The QABCL acquisition did not have a
material impact on worldwide SD&A expenses as a percent of net sales.

In the U.S., SD&A expenses increased $12.5 million to $1,012.6 miltion in fiscal year 2006. The increase
in SD&A expenses was due, in part, to higher fuel costs, costs related to the airforce Nutrisoda brand
investment and stock option expense related to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). In addition, we recorded
fixed asset charges of $6.5 million in fiscal year 2006 for marketing and merchandising equipment. These
higher costs were partly offset by lower workers’ compensation costs and lower costs for employee benefits,
driven by a $3.7 million benefit recorded as a result of a change in our estimate of healthcare costs and a
$9.0 million benefit from lower medical spending. In fiscal year 2005, we recorded a $1.4 million expense for
the early termination of a real estate lease for our corporate offices in the Chicago area and $6.1 million of
expense related to the remaining obligations under this lease. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses
decreased to 31.2 percent in fiscal year 2006, compared to 31.7 percent in the prior year.

In CEE, SD&A expenses increased $40.1 million, or 31.3 percent, to $168.3 million in fiscal year 2006.
The QABCL acquisition contributed 16.2 percentage points of the increase. The remaining increase was driven
by 10.0 percent constant territory volume growth and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation,
which increased SD&A expenses 0.9 percent. In addition, spending on advertising and marketing was higher
than in fiscal year 2005 to build brand awareness. Fiscal year 2006 was benefited by a $0.7 million gain on a
sale of land in the Czech Republic, while fiscal year 2005 was benefited by a $1.1 million gain from the sale
of a facility in Hungary. SD&A expenses as a percentage of net sales improved to 34.8 percent in fiscal year
2006, compared to 37.3 percent in the prior year primarily driven by the QABCL acquisition which benefited
this measure by 1.8 percentage points.

SD&A expenses in the Caribbean increased $2.6 million to $57.5 million in fiscal year 2006. SD&A
expenses as a percentage of net sales was 23.7 percent in fiscal year 2006, a decline from 24.2 percent in the
prior year. SD&A expenses in fiscal year 2006 benefited $0.6 million from the sale of a warchouse in
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Barbados, partly offset by severance costs incurred as a result of our entry into a new third-party distributor
arrangement in Jamaica.

Special Charges. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded special charges of $11.5 million in the U.S. related
to our strategic realignment to further strengthen our customer focused go-to-market strategy. These special
charges were primarily for severance and other employee related costs, including the acceleration of vesting of
certain restricted stock awards. We also incurred costs associated with consulting services in connection with
the realignment project, which were included in the special charges.

In addition, in fiscal year 2006, we recorded special charges of $2.2 million in CEE, primarily for a
reduction in the workforce. These special charges were primarily for severance costs and related benefits.

Operating Income. Operating income for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 was as follows (dollar amounts in
millions):

2006 2005 Change
U e e e $330.1  $387.7 (14.9%
CEE o e e e 20.9 1.5 *
Caribbean .. ... ... . e e _ 50 _ 42 19.0%
WOrAWIde ... ..ot $356.0 $393.4  (9.5)%

* Calculation of percentage is not meaningful

Operating income decreased $37.4 million, or 9.5 percent, to $356.0 million in fiscal year 2006. This was
driven by special charges, the operating performance in the U.8. during fiscal year 2006 and fructose
settlement income in fiscal year 2005. The decrease was partly offset by the contribution of the QABCL
acquisition and the strong operating performance in CEE.

Operating income in the U.S, decreased $57.6 million, or 14.9 percent, to $330.1 million in fiscal year
2006. Fiscal year 2005 included $16.6 million of fructose settlement income. The remaining decline in
U.S. operating income was attributed to higher cost of goods sold, continued carbonated soft drink volume
declines, a shift in our package mix to less profitable products and higher SD&A expenses.

Operating income in CEE increased $19.4 million to $20.9 million in fiscal year 2006, due io the
contribution made by the QABCL acquisition and the operating performance of the constant territories. Fiscal
year 2006 was favorably impacted by foreign currency translation of $3.9 million,

Operating income in the Caribbean increased $0.8 million to $5.0 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to
$4.2 million in fiscal year 2005. Volume growth and the increase in net pricing contributed to this
improvement.

Interest and Other Expenses. Net interest expense increased $i1.4 million to $1¢1.3 miilion in fiscal
year 2006 compared to $89.9 million in the prior year. This increase was due primarily to higher interest rates
on floating rate debt and higher overall debt levels. The higher debt levels were primarily due to the
acquisition of the remaining interest in QABCL in fiscal year 2006. Interest expense in fiscal year 2005
included a $5.6 million loss related to the early extinguishment of debt, partly offset by the receipt of
$1.5 million of interest income related to a real estate tax appeals refund on a previously sold parcel of land.

We recorded other expense, net, of $11.7 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to other expense, net, of
$5.0 million in fiscal year 2005. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded a $7.3 million other-than-temporary
impairment related to an equity security investment in Northfield Laboratories, Inc. This was partially offset
by foreign currency transaction gains of $1.3 million and a gain of $0.9 million on the sale of investments.
Fiscal year 2005 included foreign currency transaction losses of $3.3 million.

Income Taxes. The effective income tax rate, which is income tax expense expressed as a percentage of
income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and equity in net earnings of
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nonconsolidated companies, was 37.2 percent for fiscal year 2006 compared to 36.4 percent for fiscal year
2005. The current year’s rate was unfavorably impacted by the mix of our international operations.

In fiscal year 2005, we recorded a $1.6 million benefit related to the reversal of valuation allowances for
certain net operating loss carryforwards offset by tax contingency requirements. In addition, we recorded a
$0.9 million benefit from a state income tax law change in the state of Ohio.

Equity in Net Earnings of Nonconsolidated Companies. In June 2005, we acquired a 49 percent
interest in QABCL. Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies was $5.6 million in fiscal year 2006,
which reflects our equity interest in QABCL until we acquired the remaining 51 percent of the outstanding
common stock at the beginning of the third quarter of 2006.

Net Income. Net income decreased $36.4 million to $158.3 million in fiscal year 2006, compared to
$194.7 million in fiscal year 2005. The discussion of our operating results, included above, explains the
decrease in net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations increased by
$89.7 million to $433.5 million in fiscal year 2007, compared to $343.8 million in fiscal year 2006. This
increase can mainly be attributed to higher net income and the favorable year-over-year benefit from changes
in primary working capital. The benefit from changes in primary working capital was due to improvements in
cash flows from all components of primary working capital, namely accounts receivable, inventory and
accounts payable, due to the timing of cash flows and management of working capital items.

Net cash provided by operating activities was favorably impacted by the year-over-year decrease in
contributions made to our pension plans. We contributed $0.9 miilion to our pension plans in fiscal year 2007
compared to $10.0 million in fiscal year 2006. A minimum contribution of $0.4 million to our pension plans
is required under the minimum funding standards in fiscal year 2008. At the current time, we do not anticipate
making any additional contributions to our pension plans during 2008. We do not believe that any known
trends or uncertainties related to our pension plans will result in a material change in our results of operations,
financial condition, or our liquidity.

Investing Activities. Investing activities during fiscal year 2007 included capital investments of
$264.6 million, an increase of $95.3 million from capital investments of $169.3 million in fiscal year 2006.
Capital spending in fiscal year 2007 increased primarily due to higher spending on machinery and equipment,
marketing equipment and a progress payment on a corporate aircraft. Capital spending in fiscal year 2008 is
expected to be in the range of $250 million to $260 million.

In the third quarter of 2007, a PepsiAmericas and PepsiCo joint venture acquired an 80 percent interest in
Sandora. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the joint venture acquired the remaining 20 percent. Under the terms of
the joint venture agreement, we hold a 60 percent interest and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest in the joint
venture. The total purchase price of $679.4 million was net of cash received of $3.0 million. Of the total
purchase price, our interest was $407.6 million. Reflected in financing activities was cash received from
PepsiCo of $271.8 million. Additionally, we acquired $72.5 million of debt as part of the acquisition. As of
the end of fiscal year 2007, $45.0 million of total long-term debt was classified in “Short-term debt, including
current maturities of long-term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as we intend to refinance this debt
with short-term financing in fiscal year 2008,

In the third quarter of 2007, we purchased a 20 percent interest in a joint venture that owns Agrima.
Agrima produces, sells and distributes PepsiCo products and other beverages throughout Bulgaria.

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment in fiscal year 2007 were $29.2 million compared to
$9.7 million in fiscal year 2006. In fiscal year 2007, we received proceeds of $20.7 million related to the sale |
of non-core property, which consisted of railcars and locomotives.

In fiscal year 2005, we acquired 49 percent of the outstanding stock of QABCL for $51.0 million. During
fiscal year 2006, we acquired the remaining 51 percent of the outstanding stock of QABCL for $81.9 million,
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net of $17.0 milljon cash acquired. We acquired $55.4 million of debt as part of the acquisition, The increased
purchase price for the remainder of QABCL was due to the improved operating performance subsequent to the
initial acquisition of our 49 percent minority investment.

In fiscal year 2006, we also completed the acquisition of Ardea Beverage Co., the maker of the airforce
Nutrisoda line of drinks for $6.6 million. The purchase agreement contained contingent consideration of
$3.3 million that was finalized and paid in fiscal year 2007.

Financing Activities. Our total debt increased $438.0 million to $2,141.1 million as of the end of fiscal
year 2007, from $1,703.1 million as of the end of fiscal year 2006. During fiscal year 2007, we paid
$11.6 miliion at maturity of the 8.25 percent notes due February 2007 and $27.4 million at maturity of the
3.875 notes due September 2007,

In fiscal year 2007, we issued $300 million of notes with a coupon rate of 5.75 percent due July 2012.
The securities are unsecured, senior debt obligations and rank equally with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated indebtedness. Net proceeds from this transaction were $297.2 million, which reflected the
discount reduction of $0.8 million and the debt issuance costs of $2.0 million. The net proceeds from the
issuance of the notes were used to fund the acquisition of Sandora, to repay commercial paper and for other
general corporate purposes. In fiscal year 2007, we also borrowed $1.0 million in long-term debt in the
Bahamas.

In fiscal year 2006, we issued $250 million of notes due May 2011 with a coupon rate of 5.625 percent.
Net proceeds from this issuance were $247.4 million, which included a reduction for discount and issuance
costs. The proceeds from the issuance were used primarily to repay our commercial paper obligations and for
other general corporate purposes.

In January 2005, we issued $300 million of notes due Januvary 2015 with a coupon rate of 4.875 percent.
Net proceeds from the transaction were $297.0 million, which reflected the reduction for discount and issuance
costs. The proceeds from this issuance were used to fund the acquisition of CIC.

In May 2005, we issued $250 million of notes due May 2017 with a coupon rate of 5.0 percent and
$250 million of notes due May 2035 with a coupon rate of 5.5 percent. Net proceeds from these issuances
were $492.3 millton, which reflected the reduction for discount and issuance costs. The proceeds from these
issuances were used, in part, to fund the debt tender offer in May 2005,

In May 2005, we completed a cash tender offer related to $550 million of our outstanding debt. The total
principal amount of securities tendered was $388.0 million. The cash payment to the bondholders for this
transaction, including accrued interest and premiums, was $395.3 million. As a result of the tender offer we
recorded a loss on the early extinguishment of debt in fiscal year 2005 of $5.6 million, which is recorded in
“Interest expense, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Income.

We utilize revolving credit facilities both in the U.S. and in our international operations to fund short-
term financing needs, primarily for working capital. In the U.S., we have an unsecured revolving credit facility
under which we can borrow up to an aggregate of $600 million. The facility is for general corporate purposes,
including commercial paper backstop. It is our policy to maintain a committed bank facility as backup
financing for our commercial paper program. The interest rates on the revolving credit facility, which expires
in 2011, are based primarily on the London Interbank Offered Rate. Accordingly, we have a total of
$600 million available under our commercial paper program and revolving credit facility combined. We had
$269.5 million of commercial paper borrowings at the end of fiscal year 2007, compared to $164.5 million at
the end of fiscal year 2006. Internationally, excluding Sandora, we had revolving credit facility borrowings of
$8.7 million as of the end of fiscal year 2007 compared to $9.2 million as of the end of fiscal year 2006. We
acquired $15.8 million of short-term debt associated with Sandora, which decreased to $14.0 million at the
end of fiscal year 2007.

Since fiscal year 2001, we have executed a strategy to repurchase our stock. On July 21, 2005, our Board
of Directors approved the repurchase of 20 miilion additional shares under a previously authorized repurchase
program. This authorization was in addition to previous authorizations approved in both fiscal years 2001 and
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2002. At the end of fiscal year 2007, 7.2 million shares remained available for repurchase under the 2005
authorization. During fiscal year 2007, we repurchased 2.7 million shares of our common stock for
$59.4 million. During fiscal year 2006, we repurchased 6.3 million shares of our common stock for
$150.7 million. During fiscal year 2005, we repurchased 10.1 million shares of our common stock for
$239.2 million,

Our Board of Directors has declared quarterly dividends of $0.13 per share on PepsiAmericas common
stock for each quarter in fiscal year 2007. The fourth quarter dividend was payable January 2, 2008 to
shareholders of record on December 14, 2007. We paid cash dividends of $65.2 million in fiscal year 2007,
which included the fourth quarter of 2006 dividend of $15.9 million. The fourth quarter of 2006 dividend was
based on a dividend rate of $0.125 per share. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, $16.6 million of dividends
were declared and not yet paid and were included in “Payables” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. During
fiscal year 2006 and 2005, we paid cash dividends of $59.3 million and $35.1 million, respectively, based on a
quarterly dividend rate of $0.125 and $0.085 per share, respectively.

QOur debt agreements contain a number of covenants that limit, among other things, the creation of liens,
sale and leaseback transactions and the general sale of assets. Our revolving credit agreement requires us to
maintain an interest coverage ratio. We are in compliance with all of our financial covenants.

We believe that our operating cash flows are sufficient to fund our existing operations and contractual
obligations for the foreseeable future. In addition, we believe that our operating cash flows, available lines of
credit, and the potential for additional debt and equity offerings will provide sufficient resources to fund our
future growth and expansion. There are a number of options available to us and we continue to examine the
optimal uses of our cash, including reinvesting in our existing business, pursuing acquisitions with an
appropriate expected economic return, repurchasing our stock and paying dividends to our shareholders.

Contractual Obligations

The following table provides a summary of our contractual obligations as of the end of fiscal year 2007,
by due date. Long-term debt obligations do not include amounts related to the fair value adjustment for
interest rate swaps and unamortized discount from debt issuance. Our short-term and long-term debt, lease
commitments, purchase obligations and advertising and exclusivity rights are more fully described in Notes 12,
13 and 20, respectively, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our interest obligations relate
to our contractual obligations under our fixed-rate long-term debt.

Payments Due by Period

Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter

Commercial paper and notes

payable ................... $ 2888 %2888 $ — $ — §$ — $ — 5 —
Long-term debt obligations ... ... 1,834.3 45.1 150.1 0.1 250.1 300.1 1,088.8
Interest obligations . ........... 975.9 99.1 93.6 88.9 81.9 74.2 538.2
Advertising commitments and

exclusivity rights ... ......... 75.1 28.5 16.3 11.6 7.3 38 7.6
Raw material purchase

obligations. . . .............. 278 23.6 0.3 39 — — —
Lease obligations. . .. .......... 119.9 20.3 16.5 13.2 10.0 8.6 51.3
Other purchase obligations. .. . ... 5.0 — 5.0 — — — —

Total contractual cash obligations. . $3,326.8  $505.4  8$281.8 §117.7 $349.3 $386.7 $1.6859

Not included in the table above are contingent payments for uncertain tax positions of $36.4 million.
These amounts were not included due to our inability to predict the timing of the settlement of these amounts.

Discontinued Operations. We continue to be subject to certain indemnification obligations, net of
insurance, under agreements related to previously sold subsidiaries, including indemnification expenses for
potential environmental and tort liabilities of these former subsidiaries. There is significant uncertainty in
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assessing our potential expenses for complying with our indemnification obligations, as the determination of
such amounts is subject to various factors, including possible insurance recoveries and the allocation of
liabilities among other potentially responsible and financially viable parties. Accordingly, the uitimate
settlement and timing of cash requirements related to such indemnification obligations may vary significantly
from the estimates included in our financial statements. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we had recorded
$40.2 million in liabilities for future remediation and other related costs arising out of our indemnification
obligations. This amount excludes possible insurance recoveries and is determined on an undiscounted cash
flow basis. In addition, we have funded coverage pursuant to an insurance policy {the “Finite Funding™)
purchased in fiscal year 2002, which reduces the cash required to be paid by us for certain environmental sites
pursuant to our indemnification obligations, The Finite Funding receivable amount recorded was $11.5 million
as of the end of fiscal year 2007, of which $4.7 million is expected to be recovered in 2008 based on our
expenditures, and thus, was included as a current asset in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

During fiscal years 2007 and 2006, we paid, net of taxes, $10.4 million and $11.1 million, respectively,
related to such indemnification obligations, including the offsetting benefit of insurance recovery settlements
of $4.9 million and $6.5 million, respectively, on an after-tax basis. We expect to spend approximately
$19 million on a pretax basis in fiscal year 2008 related to our indemnification obligations, excluding possible
insurance recoveries and the benefit of income taxes (See “Environmental Matters” in ltem 1 and Note 20 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of discontinued operations and related environ-
mental liabilities).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

It is not our business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements, other than in the normat
course of business, nor is it our policy to issue guarantees to nonconsalidated affiliates or third parties.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to use estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience,
available information and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circum-
stances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates,
and revisions to estimates are included in our results for the period in which the actual amounts or revisions
become known. Presented in our notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements is a summary of our most
significant accounting policies used in the preparation of such statements. Significant estimates in the
Consolidated Financial Statements include recoverability of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
lives, environmental liabilities, income taxes, casualty insurance costs and pension and post-retirement benefits,
which are described in further detail below:

Recoverability of Goeodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives. Goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might be impaired.

Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step approach at the reporting unit level: U.S., CEE and
the Caribbean. First, we estimate the fair value of the reporting units primarily using discounted estimated
future cash flows. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, the second step of
the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of the potential loss. Goodwill
impairment is measured by comparing the “implied fair value” of goodwill with its carrying amount.

Our identified intangible assets with indefinite lives principally arise from the allocation of the purchase
price of businesses acquired, and consist primarily of trademarks and tradenames and franchise and
distribution agreements. Impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the
intangible asset exceeds its estimated fair value. The estimated fair value is generally determined on the
basis of discounted future cash flows.
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The impairment evaluation requires the use of considerable management judgment to determine the fair
value of the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives using discounted future cash flows,
including estimates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of cash flows, cost of capital and
growth rates.

Environmental Liabilities. We continue to be subject to certain indemnification obligations undet
agreements related to previously sold subsidiaries, including potential environmental liabilities (see
“Environmental Matters” in Item | and Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
discussion). We have recorded our best estimate of our probable liability under those indemnification
obligations. The estimated indemnification liabilities include expenses for the remediation of identified
sites, payments to third parties for claims and expenses (including product liability and toxic tort claims),
administrative expenses, and the expense of on-going evaluations and litigation. Such estimates and the
recorded liabilities are subject to various factors, including possible insurance recoveries, the allocation of
liabilities among other potentially responsible parties, the advancement of technology for means of
remediation, possible changes in the scope of work at the contaminated sites, as well as possible changes
in related laws, regulations, and agency requirements. We do not discount environmental liabilities.

Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax
planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. We have
established valuation allowances against a portion of the foreign net operating losses and state-related net
operating losses to reflect the uncertainty of our ability to fully utilize these benefits given the limited
carryforward periods permitted by the various jurisdictions. The evaluation of the realizability of our net
operating losses requires the use of considerable management judgment to estimate the future taxable
income for the various jurisdictions, for which the ultimate amounts and timing of such realization may
differ. The valuation allowance can also be impacted by changes in the tax regulations.

Significant judgment is required in determining our uncertain tax positions. We have established accruals
for uncertain tax positions using management's best judgment and adjust these liabilities as warranted by
changing facts and circumstances. A change in our uncertain tax positions in any given period could have
a significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows for that period.

Casualty Insurance Costs. Due to the nature of our business, we require insurance coverage for
certain casualty risks. We are self-insured for workers compensation, product and general liability up to
$1 million per occurrence and automobile liability up to $2 million per occurrence. The casualty
insurance costs for our self-insurance program represent the ultimate net cost of all reported and estimated
unreported losses incurred during the fiscal year. We do not discount casualty insurance liabilities.

Our liability for casualty costs is estimated using individual case-based valuations and statistical analyses
and is based upon historical experience, actuarial assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates
are subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and are based on the best data available
to us. These estimates, however, are also subject to a significant degree of inherent variability. We
evaluate these estimates on an annual basis and we believe that they are appropriate and within acceptable
industry ranges, although an increase or decrease in the estimates or economic events outside our control
could have a material impact on our results of operations and cash flows. Accordingly, the ultimate
settlement of these costs may vary significantly from the estimates included in our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits. Our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and
related costs are calculated using actuarial assumptions. Two critical assumptions, the discount rate and
the expected return on plan assets, are important elements of plan expense and liability measurement. We
evaluate these critical assumptions annually. Other assumptions involve demographic factors such as
retirernent, moriality, turnover, health care cost trends and rate of compensation increases.

The discount rate is used to calculate the present value of expected future pension and postretirement
cash flows as of the measurement date. The guideline for establishing this rate is high-quality, long-term
bond rates. A lower discount rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases pension
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expense. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on current and expected asset
allocations, as well as historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. A Jower-than-
expected rate of return on pension plan assets will increase pension expense. A 100 basis point increase
in the discount rate would decrease our annual pension expense by $1.6 million. A 100 basis point
decrease in the discount rate would increase our annual pension expense by $2.4 million. A 100 basis
point increase in our expected return on plan assets would decrease our annual pension expense by

$1.8 million. A 100 basis point decrease in our expected return on plan assets would increase our annual
pension expense by $1.8 miliion. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information regarding these assumptions.

Related Party Transactions
Transactions with PepsiCo

PepsiCo is considered a related party due to the nature of our franchise relationship and PepsiCo’s
ownership interest in us, As of the end of fiscal year 2007, PepsiCo beneficially owned approximately
44 percent of PepsiAmericas’ outstanding common stock. These shares are subject to a shareholder agreement
with our company. During fiscal year 2007, approximately 90 percent of our total net sales were derived from
the sale of PepsiCo products. We have entered into transactions and agreements with PepsiCo from time to
time, and we expect to enter into additional transactions and agreements with PepsiCo in the future. Material
agreements and transactions between our company and PepsiCo are described below.

Pepsi franchise agreements are subject to termination only upon failure to comply with their terms.
Termination of these agreements can occur as a result of any of the following: our bankruptcy or insolvency;
change of control of greater than 15 percent of any class of our voting securities; untimely payments for
concentrate purchases; quality control failure; or failure 1o carry ow the approved business plan communicated
to PepsiCo.

Bottling Agreements and Purchases of Concentrate and Finished Product. 'We purchase concentrates
from PepsiCo and manufaciure, package, distribuie and sell cola and non-cola beverages under various bottling
agreements with PepsiCo. These agreements give us the right to manufacture, package, sell and distribute
beverage products of PepsiCo in both bottles and cans and fountain syrup in specified territories. These
agreements include a Master Bottling Agreement and a Master Fountain Syrup Agreement for beverages
bearing the “Pepsi-Cola” and “Pepsi” trademarks, including Diet Pepsi, in the United States. The agreements
also include bottling and distribution agreements for non-cola products in the United States, and international
bottling agreements for countries outside the United States. These agreements provide PepsiCo with the ability
to set prices of concentrates, as well as the terms of payment and other terms and conditions under which we
purchase such concentrates. Concentrate purchases from PepsiCo included in cost of goods sold totaled
$892.4 million, $829.8 million and $763.2 million for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In
addition, we bottle water under the “Aquafina” trademark pursuant to an agreement with PepsiCo that provides
for payment of a royalty fee to PepsiCo, which totaled $54.3 million, $50.2 million and $36.9 million for the
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and was included in cost of goods sold. We also purchase
finished beverage products from PepsiCo and certain of its affiliates, including tea, concentrate and finished
beverage products from a Pepsi/Lipton partnership, as well as finished beverage products from a PepsiCof
Starbucks partnership. Such purchases are reflected in cost of goods sold and totaled $210.0 million,
$188.0 million and $161.0 million for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Bottler Incentives and Other Support Arrangements. We share a business objective with PepsiCo of
increasing availability and consumption of Pepsi-Cola beverages. Accordingly, PepsiCo provides us with
various forms of bottler incentives to promote its brands. The level of this support is negotiated regularly and
can be increased or decreased at the discretion of PepsiCo. To support volume and market share growth, the
bottler incentives cover a variety of initiatives, including direct marketplace, shared media and advertising
support. Worldwide bottler incentives from PepsiCo totaled approximately $230.2 miilion, $226.8 million, and
$203.3 million for the fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. There are no conditions or
requirements that could result in the repayment of any support payments we have received.
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In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer
(including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor,” bottler incentives that are directly
attributable to incremental expenses incurred are reported as either an increase to net sales or a reduction to
SD&A expenses, commensurate with the recognition of the related expense. Such bottler incentives include
amounts received for direct support of advertising commitments and exclusivity agreements with various
customers. All other bottler incentives are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold when the related
products are sold based on the agreements with vendors. Such bottler incentives primarily include base level
funding amounts which are fixed based on the previous year’s volume and variable amounts that are reflective
of the current year’s volume performance.

Based on information received from PepsiCo, PepsiCo also provided indirect marketing support to our
marketplace, which consisted primarily of media expenses. This indirect support is not reflected or included in
our Consolidated Financial Statements, as these amounts were paid by PepsiCo on our behalf to third parties.

Manufacturing and National Account Services. We provide manufacturing services to PepsiCo in
connection with the production of certain finished beverage products, and also provide certain manufacturing,
delivery and equipment maintenance services to PepsiCo’s national account customers. Net amounts paid or
payable by PepsiCo to us for these services were $19.6 million, $19.3 million, and $17.2 million for fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Sandora Joint Venture. During fiscal year 2007, we entered into a joint venture agreement with
PepsiCo to purchase the outstanding common stock of Sandora. We hold a 60 percent interest in the joint
venture and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest. The joint venture financial statements have been consolidated
in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Transactions. PepsiCo provides procurement services to us pursuant to a shared services
agreement. Under this agreement, PepsiCo acts as our agent and negotiates with various suppliers the cost of
certain raw materials by entering into raw material contracts on our behalf. The raw material contracts obligate
us to purchase certain minimum volumes. PepsiCo also collects and remits to us certain rebates from the
various suppliers related to our procurement volume. In addition, PepsiCo executes certain derivative contracts
on our behalf and in accordance with our hedging strategies. In fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we paid
$3.9 million, $3.9 million, and $3.4 million, respectively, to PepsiCo for such services.

Net amounts paid to PepsiCo and its affiliates for snack food products recorded in cost of goods sold
were $17.6 million, $12.5 million and $11.4 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.

During fiscal year 2005, we received payment of $2.1 million related to the settlement of the fructose
lawsuit for the former Heartland territories, which we acquired in 1999. The payment was originally made to
PepsiCo out of the settlement trust, and then the funds were remitted to us by PepsiCo. The amount is
included in “Fructose settlement income™ on the Consolidated Statement of Income.

As of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, net amounts due from PepsiCo were $3.1 million and
$24.2 million, respectively.
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In summary, the Consolidated Statements of Income include the following income and (expense)
transactions with PepsiCo (in millions):

2007 2006 2008
Net sales:
Bottler incentives. . ... ... ... e $ 329 §$ 306 $ 329
Manufacturing and national account services . ............... 19.6 19.3 17.2

$ 525 % 499 § 501

Cost of goods sold:

Purchases of concentrate .. ... ....... oo meneannen.. $(892.4) $(829.8) $(763.2)
Purchases of finished beverage products . . ... ............... (210.0) (188.0) (161.0)
Purchases of finished snack food products .................. (17.6) (12.5) (11.4)
Bottler incentives. . . ... ... oottt e e e 180.7 182.3 156.4
Agquafinaroyalty fee .. ... .. ... . .. . . i (54.3) {30.2) (36.9)
ProCUTEMENt SEIVICES - o v v v vt i et r e et e e e te e ene e innans (3.9 3.9 (3.4)

$(997.5) $(902.1) $(819.5)

Selling, delivery and administrative expenses:
Bottler inCentives. . . .« oo v vt e e e $ 166 3 139 § 140
Purchases of advertising materials ........................ 2.0) (1.8) (2.1)

$ 146 % 121 $ 119

Transactions with Bottlers in Which PepsiCo Holds an Equity Interest. We sell finished beverage
products to other bottlers, including The Pepsi Bottling Group, Inc. and Pepsi Bottling Ventures LLC, bottlers
in which PepsiCo owns an equity interest. These sales occur in instances where the proximity of our
production facilities to the other bottlers” markets or lack of manufacturing capability, as well as other
economic considerations, make it more efficient or desirable for the other bottlers to buy finished product from
us. Our sales to other bottlers, including those in which PepsiCo owns an equity interest, were approximately
$213.0 million, $170.1 million, and $128.8 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Our
purchases from such other bottlers were $0.3 million, $2.0 million, and $0.2 million in fiscal years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.

Agreements and Relationships with Dakota Holdings, LL.C, Starquest Securities, LL.C and Mr. Pohlad

Under the terms of the PepsiAmericas merger agreement, Dakota Holdings, LLC (“Dakota”), a Delaware
limited liability company whose members at the time of the PepsiAmericas merger included PepsiCo and
Pohlad Companies, became the owner of 14,562,970 shares of our common stock, including 377,128 shares
purchasable pursuant to the exercise of a warrant. In November 2002, the members of Dakota entered into a
redemption agreement pursuant to which the PepsiCo membership interests were redeemed in exchange for
certain assets of Dakota. As a resuit, Dakota became the owner of 12,027,557 shares of our common stock,
including 311,470 shares purchasable pursuant to the exercise of a warrant. In June 2003, Dakota converted
from a Delaware limited liability company to a Minnesota limited liability company pursuant to an agreement
and plan of merger. In January 2006, Starquest Securities, LLC (“Starquest”), a Minnesota limited liability
company, obtained the shares of our common stock previously owned by Dakota, including the shares of
common stock purchasable upon exercise of the above-referenced warrant, pursuant to a contribution
agreement. Such warrant expired unexercised in January 2006, resulting in Starquest holding 11,716,087 shares
of our common stock. In February 2008, Starquest acquired an additional 400,000 shares of our common stock
pursuant to open market purchases, bringing its holdings to 12,116,087 shares of common stock, or 9.4 percent,
as of February 22, 2008. The shares held by Starquest are subject to a shareholder agreement with our
company.
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Mr. Pohlad, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is the President and the owner of one-third of the
capital stock of Pohlad Companies. Pohlad Companies is the controlling member of Dakota. Dakota is the
controlling member of Starquest. Pohlad Companies may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the
securities beneficially owned by Dakota and Starquest and Mr. Pohlad may be deemed to have beneficial
ownership of the securities beneficiatly owned by Starquest, Dakota and Pohlad Companies.

Transactions with Pohlad Companies

In fiscal year 2005, we entered into an Aircraft Joint Ownership Agreement with Pohlad Companies for a
one-eighth interest in an aircraft and paid Pohlad Companies approximately $1.7 million. SD&A expenses
associated with the aircraft in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005 were $0.1 million, $0.2 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of new accounting pronouncements
that may impact our business.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

We are subject to various market risks, including risks from changes in commodity prices, interest rates
and currency exchange rates, which are addressed below. In addition, see Note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Commodity Prices. We purchase commodity inputs such as aluminum for our cans, resin for our PET
bottles, natural gas, diesel fuel, unleaded gasoline, high fructose corn syrup, and sugar to be used in our
operations. These commodities are subject to price fluctuations that may create price risk. Our ability to
recover higher product costs through price increases to customers may be limited due to the competitive
pricing environment that exists in the soft drink business. We use derivative financial instruments to hedge
price fluctuations for a portion of anticipated purchases of certain commaodities used in our operations. We
have policies governing the hedging instruments we may use, including a policy to not enter into derivative
contracts for speculative or trading purposes. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we had no outstanding hedges.

Interest Rates. During fiscal year 2007, the risk from changes in interest rates was not material to our
operations because a significant portion of our debt issues represented fixed rate obligations. As of the end of
fiscal year 2007, approximately 20 percent of our debt issues were variable rate obligations. Our floating rate
exposure relates to changes in the six-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) and the federal funds
rate. Assuming consistent levels of floating rate debt with those held as of the end of fiscal year 2007, a
50 basis point (0.5 percent) change in each of these rates would have an impact of approximately $2.2 million
on our annual interest expense. During fiscal year 2007, we had cash equivalents throughout the year,
principally invested in money market funds, which were most closely tied to the federal funds rate. Assuming
a 50 basis point change in the rate of interest associated with our short-term investments, interest income
would not have changed by a significant amount.

Currency Exchange Rates. Because we operate outside of the U.S., we are subject 1o risk resulting
from changes in currency exchange rates. Currency exchange rates are influenced by a variety of economic
factors including local inflation, growth, interest rates and governmental actions, as well as other factors. Any
positive cash flows generated have been reinvested in the operations, excluding repayments of intercompany
loans from the manufacturing operations in Poland and the Czech Republic. Our investment in markets outside
of the U.S. has increased during the past several years and as such, our exposure to currency risk has
increased.

Based on net sales, international operations represented approximately 24 percent of our total operations
in fiscal year 2007. Changes in currency exchange rates impact the translation of the operations’ results from
their local currencies into U.S. dollars. If the currency exchange rates had changed by ten percent in fiscal
year 2007, we estimate the impact on operating income would have been approximately $12 million. Our
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estimate reflects the fact that a portion of the international operations costs are denominated in U.S. dollars,
including concentrate purchases. This estimate does not take into account the possibility that rates can move in
opposite directions and that gains in one category may or may not be offset by losses from another category.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See Index to Financial Information on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures that is designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 29, 2007, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended December 29, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), is a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers and effected
by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets,

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

The scope of management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
includes all of our company’s consolidated entities except for Sandora LLC (“Sandora™), a business acquired
by a joint venture in which we hold a 60 percent interest during fiscal year 2007. Qur company’s consolidated
net sales for fiscal year 2007 were $4,479.5 million, of which Sandora represented approximately $88.7 million.
Our company’s consolidated total assets as of the end of fiscal year 2007 were approximately $5,308.0 million,
of which Sandora represented approximately $812.2 million.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 29, 2007. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COSO) in “Internal Control-Integrated Frame-
work.” Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 29, 2007, our internal control
over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
of PepsiAmericas, Inc.:

We have audited PepsiAmericas, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 29, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). The Company’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Intermal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 1o the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 29, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

The scope of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 29, 2007 includes all of the Company’s consolidated entities except for Sandora LLC (Sandora),
a business acquired by a joint venture in which the Company holds a 60 percent interest during fiscal year
2007. The Company’s consolidated net sales for fiscal year 2007 were approximately $4,479.5 million, of
which Sandora represented approximately $88.7 million. The Company’s consolidated total assets as of the
end of fiscal year 2007 were approximatety $5,308.0 million, of which Sandora represented approximately
$812.2 million. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an
evaluation of the internal control over the financial reporting of Sandora.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of PepsiAmericas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of the end of
fiscal years 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, and our report dated
February 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial staternents.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 26, 2008
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Proposal I: Election of
Directors”, “Our Board of Directors and Committees” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders to be held April 24,
2008.

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item 401(b)
of Regulation S-K, information regarding executive officers of PepsiAmericas is provided in Part [ of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under separate caption.

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer
and principal accounting officer. This code of ethics is available on our website at www._pepsiamericas.com
and in print upon written request to PepsiAmericas, Inc., 4000 Dain Rauscher Plaza, 60 South Sixth Street,
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, Attention: Investor Relations. Any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision
of our code of ethics will be posted to the above-referenced website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Our Board of Directors and
Committees — Management Resources and Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”,
“Qur Board of Directors and Committees -— Management Resources and Compensation Committee Report”,
“Non-Employee Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement for
the annual meeting of shareholders to be held April 24, 2008.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Our Largest Shareholders”
and “Shares Held by Our Directors and Executive Officers” in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held April 24, 2008.

Equity Compensation Plan Information. The following table summarizes information regarding com-
mon stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans as of the end of fiscal year 2007:

Number of Securities Number of Securities

to be Issued Weighted Average Remaining Available

upon Exercise of Exercise Price of for Future Issuance
QOutstanding Options, Quistanding Options, Under Equity

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders . . .......... 4,282,141V $15.57% 4,212,792

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders. . . .. — —

Total - v oo 482,141 4212792

() This number includes stock options, as well as 2,463,899 shares underlying unvested restricted stock
awards, granted or issued under stock incentive plans approved by our shareholders.

@ The weighted average exercise price of outstanding options and rights excludes unvested restricted stock
awards.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Our Board of Directors and
Committees™ and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our definitive proxy statement for the
annual meeting of shareholders to be held April 24, 2008.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Proposal 2: Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accountants” in our definitive proxy statement for the annuai
meeting of shareholders to be held April 24, 2008.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) See Index to Financial Information on page F-1 and Exhibit Index on page E-1.
{(b) See Exhibit Index on page E-1.
(c) Not applicable.
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*By:

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the
27th day of February 2008.

PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

By: /s/ ALEXANDER H. WARE

Alexander H. Ware
Execcutive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 27th day of February 2008.

Signature

/s/ ROBERT C. POHLAD

Title

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Robert C. Pohlad
/s/ ALEXANDER H. WARE

and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Alexander H. Ware
s/ TIMOTHY W. GORMAN

{Principal Financial Officer)

Senior Vice President and Controller

Timothy W. Gorman
/s/ HERBERT M. BAUM

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Herbert M. Baum
/s/ RICHARD G. CLINE

Director

Richard G. Cline
fsf MICHAEL J, CORLISS

Director

Michael J. Corliss
/s/ PIERRE S. du PONT

Director

Pierre S. du Pont
/s/ ARCHIE R. DYKES

Director

Archie R. Dykes
/s/ JAROBIN GILBERT Ir.

Director

Jarobin Gilbert Jr.

/s/ JAMES R. KACKLEY

Director

James R. Kackley
fs/ MATTHEW M. McKENNA

Director

Matthew M. Mckenna
fs/ DEBORAH E. POWELL

Deborah E. Powell
Isi ALEXANDER H. WARE

Director

Alexander H. Ware
Attorney-in-Fact
February 27, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
of PepsiAmericas, Inc.:

. We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PepsiAmericas, Inc. and subsidiaries

| (the Company) as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, and the rclated consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

|
|
|
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
|

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 29, 2007, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated
February 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/sf KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 26, 2008
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in millions, except per share data)

Fiscal Years 2007 2006 2005
N $4,4795 $39724 $3,726.0
Costof goods sold. . .. .. ... . ... . .. . .. . 2,656.2 2,364.3 2,163.5
Grossprofit . ... .. ... . ... .. e 1,823.3 1,608.1 1,562.5
Selling, delivery and administrative expenses . . . .................... 1,380.9 1,238.4 1,183.2
Fructose settlement income . ... ... .. ... ... it - — 16.6
Special charges . .. ... .. L e 6.3 13.7 2.5
Operating income. . . . ........ ... ... .. ... . e 436.1 356.0 3934
Interest eXpense, Met . .. ... .ottt ittt e e 109.2 101.3 89.9
Other eXpPense, M. . . .. .ottt e et e et et 0.6 11.7 50
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority
interest, and equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies . . . 326.3 243.0 298.5
Income taXes. . . ... . . e 112.0 90.5 108.8
MInomty INEBrest . . . ..ottt et e e et e 0.1) 0.2 0.1
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies ... .............. — 5.6 4.9
Income from continuing operations . . . ........................ 214.2 158.3 194.7
Loss from discontinued operations, netoftax . . ................. 2.1 — —
Netincome. .. .. ... ... . ... .. it $ 2121 § 1583 § 1947
Weighted average common shares:
BasiC. . ... e 126.7 127.9 134.7
incremental effect of stock options and awards . . . ................. 2.5 1.9 2.5
Diluted ... . e e 129.2 129.8 137.2
Earnings per share:
Basic:
Income from continuing operations. . ... ............. ..., $ 169 $ 124 § 145
Loss from discontinued operations ... .............c.iiiu.. (0.02) — —
Total .. .. e $ 167 $ 124 § 145
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations. . .. ........ . .. ... $ 166 $ 122 § 142
Loss from discontinued operations . .. ................. ... ... {0.02) — —
Total . ... . ... . $ 164 S 122 § 142
Cash dividends declared pershare . ... ... ... ... ... ............ $ 0352 §$ 050 % 034

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except per share data)

As of Fiscal Year End 2007 2006
ASSETS:
Current assets:
Cashand cash equivalents . . ... ... . . i i e e, $ 1897 $ 931
Receivables, net of allowance of $14.7 million and $16.1 million, respectively . ... 330.6 267.1
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies .. ... ... ... .. . ... e 144.5 104.2
Finished goods. . . .. ... i e e e 143.2 128.8
Total IIVENLOMIES. . . . . o v oot eee e e e e e e e e e e 287.7 233.0
Other COMTENt aSSELS . . . . . ..\ttt et e e e e 1141 81.9
Total CuITent ASSEIS . .. ...ttt i it e e e e e 922.1 675.1
Property and equipment:
Land . .o e e e e e 78.5 63.7
Buildings and improvements ... ... .. ... e e 508.2 4457
Machinery and equipment . . ... ... . ... e e e 2,263.8 2,067.0
Total property and equipment .. . . . ... ... ... e 2,850.5 2,576.4
Less: accumulated depreciation . . ........ ... . .. it i (1,520.9 (1,437.1)
Net property and equUIPIMENt . . .. ... ... ittt e e 1,329.6 1,138.7
Goodwill . ... e 24327 2,027.1
Intangible assets, Net. ... ... .. . e e e 545.6 299.9
Other assets ... ... ittt e e e 78.0 66.6
Total assets. . . ... ... e e s $53080 $42074
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt, including current maturities of long-termdebt. . ... ........... $ 3376 §$ 2129
Payables . . ... e e e, 224.0 189.4
Accrued expenses
Salaries and wages. . .. ... ... L e e 93.3 53.9
Customer INCENLIVES . . . ot vttt ettt et e et et i e 88.8 71.6
1] {3 26.6 21.5
Other. .« e 132.3 144.5
Total current Hiabilities . . .. ... ... ... ... 902.6 693.8
Long-term debt. .. .. .. ... . e e 1,803.5 1,490.2
Deferred InCOme taxes. . . .. ... .. .ttt e 282.5 243.1
MInority IBtErest . . . ...ttt 273.4 0.1
Other liabilities . . . ... . ... e e e e e e 187.7 175.6
Total liabilities . . . . . ... ... ... . e e 3,449.7 2,602.8
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value, 12.5 miilion shares authorized; no shares
FTET =T ) R A — —
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 350 million shares authorized; 137.6 million
shares issued — 2007 and 2006). .. . ... ... ... . i e e e e 1,292.7 1,2834
Retained income . ... .. . .. e 670.9 5254
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .. ... ... . L o oo 98.8 217
Treasury stock, at cost (9.5 million shares and 10.6 million shares, respectively) . . . (204.1) (225.9)
Total shareholders’ equity .. . ... ... .. ... .. . ... ... .. ... 1,858.3 1,604.6
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . . ... .......................... $53080 $42074

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)

Fiscal Years 2007 2006 2005
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEtIRCOME . . ... . e e e e e e $2121 $1583 $ 1947
Loss from discontinued operations . . .. ......... .. ..t 2.1 — —
Income from continuing operations .. .......... .. ... . .. .. 2142 1583 1947
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
operations:
Depreciation and amortization . . ............. .ttt 2044 1934 1847
Deferred incOme taxes .. .. ...ttt e e e 6.1 (2.5) 1.2)
Special charges . ... ... . . e 6.3 13.7 25
Cash outlays related to special charges . ............................. (14.3) (2.6} {1.6)
Pension contributions . . . ... .. ... .. ... (0.9) (100} (i16.8)
Lease eXit COSIS . .. ..ttt e e e — — 6.1
Loss on extinguishment of debt . ... . ... ... .. .. ... .. ... L. — — 5.6
Gain on sale of INVESHMENE . . . .. ...ttt ettt e —_ (0.9) —
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies. . . ................. —_ (5.6) (4.9)
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements . ............. (12.5) (6.8) —
Gain on sale of non-core property . ... ... .. ... Lo (10.2) —_ —
Marketable securities impairment . .. .. .. .. ... L L 4.0 73 —
OtheT . . . e e 28.6 18.2 17.8
Changes in assets and liabilities, exclusive of acquisitions:
(Increase) decrease inreceivables . . .. .. ... .. ... ... e e (30.0y (37.0) 0.6
InCrease im iMVENMIOTIES . . .. ..ttt et e e et e et et e e e T93) (24D {(5.9)
Increase inpayables. . ......... ... ... .. 235 0.5 13.7
Net change in other assets and liabilities. , . ............... .. ... ..., 33.6 42.0 42.5
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations, .. ........... 4335 3438 431.8
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Franchises and companies acquired, net of cash acquired .................... (682.7) (B8.5) (354.6)
Capital investments . . .. ... ... ...t e (264.6) (169.3) (180.3)
Purchase of equity investment . ... ... ... ... ..ttt (2.3) —  (51.0€)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment . . ........... ... ... ... .... 29.2 9.7 53
Proceeds from sales of investments . ............ ... .. ... .. .. ... — 0.9 —
Net cash used in investing activities . . .. ..., .. . ...t {920.4) (247.2) (580.6)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES:
Net borrowings of shortterm debt ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... ... ... . ... 105.9 13.6 753
Proceeds from issvance of long-termdebt. . .. .......... ... .. ... .......... 2082 2474 7933
Repayment of long-term debt. . . . ... ... .. . . .. ... (39.0) (185.8) (457.1)
Contribution from joint venture minority shareholder ....................... 271.8 — —
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements . ... .............. 12.5 6.8 —
Issuance of common stock . . . . ... ... e e 61.1 24.9 61.4
Treasury stock purchases . . .. ... ... . . i e e (59.4) (150.7) (239.2)
Cashdividends . ....... . . e (65.2) (59.3) (35.1)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . .. ..................... 5859 (103.1) 198.6
Net operating cash flows used in discontinued operations . . .................. (104 (1.1 (0.1)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . ............... 8.0 (5.3) 1.4
Change in cash and cash equivalents .. ............. . ... ... ............ 96.6 (229) 41.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. . .. . ... . ... ... ... ... ... 93.1 116.0 74.9
Cash and cash equivalents atendof year . ......... ... .. ... ... ... ccuo.... $ 189.7 93.1 $116.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
{in millions)

Total
Treasury Stock  ghareholders’
Shares Amount Equity

Accumulated
Ugearlr;ed c Oth]fr
tock- ‘omprehensive
_Common Stock pergined Based ncome
Shares Amount Income Compensation (Loss)
As of fiscal yearend 2004 .. ... ..... ... 167.6 $1,535.3 $579.6 $ (8.7 $ 160
Comprehensive income:
Netincome . . .......vvuvninnn.- 194.7
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . (23.5)
Unrealized loss on securities . . ... ...... (6. )]
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments . . . (3.6}
Minimum pension kiability adjustment . . . .. (5.3)
Total comprehensive income. . . ..........
Treasury stock purchases . . .............
Treasury stock retirements . . .. .. ........ (30.0) (276.3) (296.0)
Stock compensation plans . .. ... ... ... .. 8.1 (7.8)
Dividends declared . . .. .. ............. (46.3)
As of fiscal yearend 2005 ... ... ... .. .. 137.6 $1,267.1 $ 4320 $(16.5) $(25.1)
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ... ................... 158.3
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . 40.7
Unrealized loss on securities . . . ........ (4.1}
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments . . . (0.9)
Minimum pension liability adjustment. .. .. (12.1}
Total comprehensive income. . ... .. ... ...
Adjustment from the adoption of SFAS No. |58,
netoftax . ....... ... ..., 232
Treasury stock purchases . . .. ...........
Stock compensation plans .. .. ... ... ..., 16.3 6.5
Dividends declared . . . ................ {64.9)
As of fiscal yearend 2006 .. ........... 137.6 $1,2834 $5254 § — F217
Comprehensive income:
Netincome . ... ... ...uorviurnnnn. 2121
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . 66.6
Unrealized loss on securities . . . . ... .... 0.3)
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments . . 0.6
Change in unrecognized pension and
postretirement cost. . ... ........... 10.2
Total comprehensive income, . ... .., ... ..
Adjustment from the adoption of FIN 48. . . . . 0.6
Treasury stock purchases . . . ............
Stock compensation plans . .. ........... 9.3
Dividends declared . . . .. .. ............ (67.2)
As of fiscal yearend 2007 ... .......... 137.6 $1,2927 36709 $ — $ 988
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Significant Accounting Policies

LIS

Nature of operations. PepsiAmericas, Inc. (referred to herein as “PepsiAmerticas,” “we,” “our,” or “us”)
manufactures and distributes a broad portfolio of beverage products in the United States (“1).5.”), Central and
Eastern Europe (“CEE”) and the Caribbean. We operate under exclusive franchise agreements with soft drink
concentrate producers, including master bottling and fountain syrup agreements with PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo™)
for the manufacture, packaging, sale and distribution of PepsiCo branded products. There are similar
agreements with other companies whose brands we produce and distribute. The franchise agreements, in most
instances, exist in perpetuity and contain operating and marketing commitments and conditions for
termination.

We distribute beverage products to various customers in our designated territories and through various
distribution channels. We are vulnerable to certain concentrations of risk, mostly impacting the brands we sell,
as well as the customer base to which we sell, as we are exposed to a risk of loss greater than if we would
have mitigated these risks through diversification. Approximately 90 percent of our net sales were derived
from brands that we bottle under licenses from PepsiCo or PepsiCo joint ventures. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. is our
largest customer which constituted 13.6 percent, 11.8 percent and 10.2 percent of our net sales in our
U.S. operations for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively,

Principles of consolidation. The Consolidated Financial Statements include all wholly and majority-
owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. We
have an ownership interest in a joint venture that is considered a variable interest entity. Under the terms of
the joint venture agreement, we hold a 60 percent interest and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest in the joint
venture. Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Boards (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46(R) (“FIN 46(R)"),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, PepsiAmericas was determined to be the primary beneficiary
and, therefore, the joint venture financial statements have been consolidated in our financial statements. Due
to the timing of the receipt of available financial information, the results of Quadrant-Amroq Bottling
Company Limited (“QABCL” or “Romania™) and Sandora LLC (“Sandora”) are recorded on a one-month lag
basis.

Use of accounting estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and use assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Fiscal year. Our U.S. operations report using a fiscal year that consists of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the
Saturday closest to December 31. Our 2007, 2006 and 2005 fiscal years consisted of 52 weeks and ended on
December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Beginning in fiscal year 2007, our Caribbean operations aligned their reporting calendar with our
U.S. operations. Previously, our Caribbean operations fiscal years ended on December 31. The change to the
Caribbean fiscal year was not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our CEE operations fiscal
year ends on December 31 and therefore, are not impacted by the 53rd week.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits with banks and financial
institutions which are unrestricted as to withdrawal or use, and which have original maturities of three months
or less.

Sale of receivables. Our U.S. subsidiaries sell their receivables to Whitman Finance, a special purpose
entity and wholly-owned subsidiary, which in turn sells an undivided interest in a revolving pool of receivables
to a major U.S. financial institution. The sale of receivables is accounted for under Statement of Financial
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities.”

Inventories. Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventory is valued
using the average cost method.

Derivative financial instruments. Due to fluctuations in the market prices for certain commodities, we
use derivative financial instruments to hedge against volatility in future cash flows related to anticipated
purchases of commadities. We also use derivative instruments to hedge against the risk of adverse movements
in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We use derivative financial instruments to lock interest
rates on future debt issues and to convert fixed rate debt to floating rate debt. Our corporate policy prohibits
the use of derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes, and we have procedures in place to
menitor and control their use.

All derivative instruments are recorded at fair value as either assets or liabilities in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets, Derivative instruments are generally designated and accounted for as either a hedge of a
recognized asset or liability (“fair value hedge™), a hedge of a forecasted transaction (“cash flow hedge”), or
they are not designated as a hedge.

For a fair value hedge, both the effective and ineffective portions of the change in fair value of the
derivative instrument, along with an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item for fair value
| changes attributable to the hedged risk, are recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments that hedge
| interest rate risk, the fair value adjustments are recorded in “Interest expense, net,” in the Consolidated
i Statements of Income.

| For a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument that
are highly effective are deferred in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” until the underlying hedged
itemn is recognized in earnings. The applicable gain or loss recognized in earnings is recorded consistent with
the expense classification of the underlying hedged item. If a fair value or cash flow hedge were to cease to
qualify for hedge accounting or be terminated, it would continue to be carried on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at fair value until setiled, but hedge accounting would be discontinued prospectively. If a forecasted
transaction was no longer probable of occurring, amounts previously deferred in “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” would be recognized immediately in earnings.

We may also enter into derivative instruments for which hedge accounting is not elected, because they are
entered into to offset changes in the fair value of an underlying transaction recognized in earnings. These
instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value with changes in fair value recognized
in earnings.

Cash received or paid upon settlement of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges
or fair value hedges are classified in the same category as the cash flows from items being hedged in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow. Cash flows from the scttlement of commodity and interest rate
derivative instruments are included in “Cash provided by operating activities” in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flow.

Property and eguipment. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method. Generally, when
property is sold or retired, the cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and gains
ot losses are recorded in operating income. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Generally, the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets are 15 to 40 years for buildings and improvements
and 5 to 13 years for machinery and equipment. |

Goodwill and intangible assets. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized,
but instead tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that an asset might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step approach at the reporting
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

unit level: U.S., CEE, and Caribbean. First, we estimate the fair value of the reporting units primarily using
discounted estimated future cash flows. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, the
second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of the potential impairment
loss. Goodwill impairment is measured by comparing the “implied fair value” of goodwill with its carrying
amount. Our annual impairment evaluation for goodwill is performed in the fourth quarter and no impairment
of goodwill has been indicated.

Our identified intangible assets with indefinite lives principally arise from the allocation of the purchase
price of businesses acquired and consist primarily of franchise and distribution agreements. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the intangible asset exceeds its estimated fair value.
The estimated fair value is generally determined on the basis of discounted future cash flows. Based on our
impairment analysis performed in fiscal year 2007, the estimated fair value of our identified intangible assets
with indefinite lives exceeded the carrying amount.

The impairment evaluation requires the use of considerable management judgment to determine the fair
value of the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives using discounted future cash flows, including
estimates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of cash flows, cost of capital and growth rates.

Our definite lived intangible assets consist primarily of trademarks and tradenames, franchise and
distribution agreements, and customer relationships and lists. We compute amortization of definite lived
intangible assets using the straight-line method. The approximate lives used for annual amortization are 20 to
30 years for trademarks and tradenames, 20 years for franchise and distribution agreements, and 3 to 14 years
for customer relationships and lists.

Carrying amounts of long-lived assets. We evaluate the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets by
reviewing projected undiscounted cash flows. Such evaluations are performed whenever events and circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If the sum of the projected
undiscounted cash flows over the estimated remaining lives of the related asset group does not exceed the
carrying amount, the carrying amount would be adjusted for the difference between the fair value and the
related carrying amount. ‘

Investments. Investments are included in “Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and include
investments recorded under the equity method, available-for-sale equity securities, securities that are not
publicty traded, and other investments, including real estate. The equity method of accounting is used for
investments in affiliated companies which are not controlled by our company and in which our interest is
generally betweén 20 and 50 percent. Qur share of earnings or losses of affiliated companies is included in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Available-for-sale equity securities are carried at fair value, with
unrecognized gains and losses, net of taxes, recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income.” Fair
values of available-for-sale securities are determined based on prevailing market prices. Unrealized losses
determined to be other-than-temporary are recorded in “‘Other expense, net” on the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Securities that are not publicly traded and real estate investments are carried at cost, which
management believes is lower than net realizable value.

Environmental liabilities. We arc subject to certain indemnification obligations under agreements
related to previously sold subsidiaries, including potential environmental liabilities. We have recorded our best
estimate of the probable liability under those indemnification obligations. The estimated indemnification
liabilities include expenses for the remediation of identified sites, payments to third parties for claims and
expenses (including product liability and toxic tort claims), administrative expenses, and the expense of on-
going evaluations and litigation. Such estimates and the recorded liabilities are subject to various factors,
including possible insurance recoveries, the allocation of liabilities among other potentially responsible parties,
the advancement of technology for means of remediation, possible changes in the scope of work at the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

contaminated sites, as well as possible changes in related laws, regulations, and agency requirements. We do
not discount environmental liabilities.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits. Our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and
related costs are calculated vsing actuarial assumptions. Two critical assumptions, the discount rate and the
expected return on plan assets, are important elements of plan expense and liability measurement. We evaluate
these critical assumptions annually. Other assumptions involve demographic factors such as retirement,
mortality, turnover, health care cost trends and rate of compensation increases.

The discount rate is used to calculate the present value of expected future pension and postretirement
cash flows as of the measurement date. The guideline for establishing this rate is high-quality, long-term bond
rates. A lower discount rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases pension expense.
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on current and expected asset allocations, as well
as historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. A lower-than-expected rate of return on
pension plan assets will increase pension expense. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding these assumptions.

Revenue recognition. Revenue is recognized when title to a product is transferred to the customer.
Payments made to customers for the exclusive rights to sell our products in certain venues are recorded as a
reduction of net sales over the term of the agreement. Customer discounts and allowances are recorded in
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given
by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products)” and are reflected as a reduction of
net sales based on actual customer sales volume during the period and

Bottler incentives. PepsiCo and other brand owners, at their sole discretion, provide us with various
forms of marketing support. To promote volume and market share growth, the marketing support is intended to
cover a variety of initiatives, including direct marketplace, shared media and advertising support. Worldwide
bottler incentives totaled approximately $243.5 million, $240.8 million, and $217.2 million for the fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. There are no conditions or requirements that could result in the repayment
of any support payments we have received. Over 94 percent of the bottler incentives received in fiscal year
2007 were from PepsiCo or its affiliates.

In accordance with EITF Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer {including a Reseller) for Certain
Consideration Received from a Vendor,” bottler incentives that are directly attributable to incremental expenses
incurred are reported as either an increase to net sales or a reduction to selling, delivery and administrative
(“SD&A”) expenses, commensurate with the recognition of the related expense. Such bottler incentives include
amounts received for direct support of advertising commitments and exclusivity agreements with various
customers. All other bottler incentives are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold when the related
products are sold based on the agreements with vendors. Such bottler incentives primarily include base level
funding amounts, which are fixed based on the previous year’s volume and variable amounts that are reflective
of the current year’s volume performance.

PepsiCo also provided indirect marketing support to our marketplace, which consisted primarily of media
expenses. This indirect support is not reflected or included in our financial statements, as these amounts were
paid by PepsiCo on our behalf to third parties. Other brand owners provide similar indirect marketing support.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

The Consolidated Statements of Income include the following bottler incentives recorded as income or as
a reduction of expense (in millions):

2007 2006 2005
et SAEES. v vttt et e e e e e $ 363 $342 S 366
Costof goodssold . . ... ... .. ... . i 188.0 191.7 165.5
Selling, delivery and administrative eXpenses. .. ................. 19.2 14.9 15.1
Total. e $243.5 $240.8 $217.2

Advertising and marketing costs. We are involved in a variety of programs to promote our products.
Advertising and marketing costs are expensed in the year incurred. Certain advertising and marketing costs
incurred by us are partially reimbursed by PepsiCo and other brand owners in the form of marketing support.
Advertising and marketing expenses were $153.2 million, $122.5 million and $104.3 million in fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts are net of bottler incentives of $10.1 million, $10.5 million
and $11.2 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Shipping and handling costs. We record shipping and handling costs in SD&A expenses. Such costs
totaled $291.5 million, $278.7 million and $267.1 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Casualty insurance costs. Due to the nature of our business, we require insurance coverage for certain
casualty risks. We are self-insured for workers compensation, product and general liability up to $1 million
per occurrence and automobile liability up to $2 million per occurrence. The casualty insurance costs for our
self-insurance program represent the ultimate net cost of all reported and estimated unreported losses incurred
during the fiscal year. We do not discount casualty insurance liabilities.

Our liability for casualty costs is estimated using individual case-based valuations and statistical analyses
and is based upon historical experience, actuarial assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates are
subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and are based on the best data available to us.
These estimates, however, are also subject to a significant degree of inherent variability. We evaluate these
estimates on an annual basis and we believe that they are appropriate and within acceptable indusiry ranges,
although an increase or decrease in the estimates or economic events outside our control could have a material
impact on our results of operations and cash flows. Accordingly, the ultimate settlement of these costs may
vary significantly from the estimates included in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Stock-based compensation. We adopted the fair value based method of accounting for our stock-based
compensation of the revised SFAS No. 123, “Share-Based Payment” in fiscal year 2006. We used the modified
prospective method of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). We measure the cost of employee services in exchange
for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The total cost is reduced
for estimated forfeitures over the awards’ vesting period and the cost is recognized over the requisite service
period. Forfeiture estimates are reviewed on an annual basis. During fiscal year 2007 and 2006, the forfeiture
rate for restricted stock awards was 3.6 and 3.3 percent, respectively, and 2.0 percent for stock options during
both fiscal years.

Prior to fiscal year 2006, we used the intrinsic value method of accounting for our stock-based
compensation under Accounting Principles Board (“APB™) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” No stock-based employee compensation cost for stock options was reflected in net income, as all
stock options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the
date of grant. Compensation expense for restricted stock awards was reflected in net income, and this expense
was recognized ratably over the awards’ vesting period.

Income taxes. Our effective income tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning
opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. We have established valuation
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

allowances against a portion of the foreign net operating losses and state-related net operating losses to reflect
the uncertainty of our ability to fully utilize these benefits given the limited carryforward periods permitted by
the various jurisdictions. The evaluation of the realizability of our net operating losses requires the use of
considerable management judgment to estimate the future taxable income for the various jurisdictions, for
which the ultimate amounts and timing of such realization may differ. The valuation allowance can also be
impacted by changes in the tax regulations.

Significant judgment is required in determining our uncertain tax positions. We have established accruals
for uncertain 1ax positions using management’s best judgment and adjust these liabilities as warranted by
changing facts and circumstances. A change in our uncertain tax positions in any given period could have a
significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows for that peried.

Foreign currency translation. The assets and liabilities of our operations that have functional currencies
other than the U.S. dollar are translated at exchange rates in effect at year end, and income statements are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. In accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign
Currency Translation”, gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency financial statements
are recorded as a separate component of “Accumnulated other comprehensive income” in the shareholders’
equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is based upon the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share assumes the exercise of all options which are dilutive, whether
cxercisable or not. The dilutive effects of stock options, warrants, and non-vested restricted stock awards are
measured under the treasury stock method,

The following options and restricted stock awards were not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share because they were antidilutive:

2007 2006 2005
Shares under options outstanding . . . . ........ ... . ... — 1,337,700 471,410
Weighted-average exercise price pershare . .. ................ $— § 2263 % 2479
Shares under nonvested restricted stock awards ............... — -— 12,500
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share .. ............ $— 3 — § 24383

Reclassifications. Certain amounts in the prior period Consolidated Financial Statements have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurements,” to provide enhanced guidance when using fair value to measure assets and
liabilities. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in U.S. GAAP
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other pronounce-
ments require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured by fair value and, while not requiring new fair
value measurements, may change current practices. SFAS No. 157 becomes effective at the beginning of fiscal
year 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 157 will have on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.” We have adopted the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158, which
required us to fully recognize the funded status associated with our defined benefit plans. We will also be
required to measure our plans’ assets and liabilities as of the end of our fiscal year instead of our current
measurement date of September 30. The measurement date provisions will be effective as of the end of fiscal
year 2008, We have elected the alternative method of adoption for the measurement date provisions of
SFAS No. 158. We estimate that the adoption of the measurement date provisions will decrease retained
income by $0.3 miilion.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” FASB No. 139 provides guidance
on the measurement of financial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities at fair value on an
instrument-by-instrument basis under a fair value option provided by the FASB. SFAS No. 159 becomes
effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 159 will have
on our Consolidated Financial Statements,

In December 2007, the FASB issued a revised SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations.” SFAS No, 141(R}
amends the guidance relating to the use of the purchase method in a business combination. SFAS No. 141(R)
requires that we recognize and measure the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquired business at fair value. SFAS No. 141(R) also requires that we recognize
and measure the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase. Acquisition
costs to effect the acquisition and any integration costs are no longer considered a component of the cost of
the acquisition. SFAS No. 141(R) becomes effective with acquisitions occurring on or after the beginning of
fiscal year 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontroliing Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements-an amendment to ARB No. 51," to establish accounting and reporting standards on minority
interest. SFAS No. 160 requires that the parent report minority interest in the equity section of the balance
sheet but separate from the parent’s equity. SFAS No. 160 also requires net income attributable to the parent
and the noncontrolling interest be clearly identified and presented on the face of the income statement. All
changes in the parent’s ownership interest in the subsidiary must be accounted for consistently. Deconsolida-
tion of the subsidiary requires the recognition of a gain or loss using the fair value of the noncontrolling
equity investment rather than the carrying value. SFAS No. 160 becomes effective at the beginning of fiscal
year 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 160 will have on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48"}, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" at the beginning of fiscal year 2007, FIN 48 provides guidance
regarding the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position either taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. It requires the recognition of a tax position if it is more likely than not that the position
would be sustained during an examination based on the technical merits of the position. See Note 8 below for
additional information, including the effects of adoption on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

2. Investments

Equity securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value and included in “Other assets” in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Estimated fair values were $1.6 million and $6.1 million as of the end of
fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively. Unrealized gains and losses representing the difference between
carrying amounts and fair value are recorded in the “Accumulated other comprehensive income” component of
shareholders’ equity. This unrealized loss, net of tax, was $0.3 million as of the end of fiscal year 2007. There
were no unrealized gains or losses recorded as of the end of fiscal year 2006.

As of the end of fiscal year 2007, investments included common stock of Northfield Laboratories, Inc.
(“Northfield”). As a result of a significant decline in market valuation of our investment in Northfield, and in
accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, and EITF
Issue No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Invest-
ments”, we adjusted our investment in Northfield as of the end of fiscal year 2006 and as of the end of the
second quarter of 2007 to reflect the fair value and recorded these adjustments into income. The realized
marketable securities impairment on the Northfield investment resulted in a non-cash charge to income of
$4.0 million and $7.3 million in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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In fiscal year 2007, we purchased a 20 percent interest in a joint venture that owns Agrima JSC
(“Agrima”). Agrima produces, sells and distributes PepsiCo branded products and other beverages throughout
Buigaria. This investment was recorded under the equity method in accordance with APB Opinion No. 18,
“The Equity Method of Accounting for Investment in Common Stock,” and was reflected in “Other assets” on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Due to the timing of the receipt of available financial information, we record
equity in net earnings on a one-month lag basis.

3. Acquisitions

In the third quarter of 2007, a joint venture formed by PepsiAmericas and PepsiCo acquired an 80 percent
interest in Sandora. Sandora manufactures and distributes a variety of juice brands and is the market leader in
the high growth juice category in Ukraine. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the joint venture acquired the
remaining 20 percent interest in Sandora. Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, we hold a 60 percent
interest and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest in the joint venture. The joint venture financial statements
have been consolidated in our Consolidated Financial Statements, and PepsiCo’s equity was recorded as
minority interest. The total purchase price of $679.4 million was net of cash received of $3.0 million. Of the
total purchase price, our interest was $407.6 million. Additionally, we acquired $72.5 million of debt as part
of the acquisition. Due to the timing of the receipt of available financial information from Sandora, we record
results from such operations on a one-month lag basis.

In fiscal year 2005, we had acquired 49 percent of the outstanding stock of QABCL for $51.0 million.
QABCL is a holding company that, through subsidiaries, produces, sells and distributes PepsiCo branded and
other beverages throughout Romania with distribution rights in Moldova. In fiscal year 2006, we acquired the
remaining 51 percent of the outstanding stock of QABCL for $81.9 million, net of $17.0 million cash
acquired. We acquired $55.4 million of debt as part of the acquisition. The increase in the purchase price for
the remainder of QABCL compared to the original investment was due to the improved operating performance
subsequent to the initial acquisition of our 49 percent minority interest. In fiscal year 2006, we also completed
the acquisition of Ardea Beverage Co. (“Ardea”), the maker of the airforce Nutrisoda line of soft drinks, for
$6.6 mitlion. The purchase agreement contained contingent consideration that was finalized in fiscal year
2007. The amount of additional consideration paid for Ardea was $3.3 million.

In fiscal year 2003, we completed the acquisition of the capital stock of Central Investment Corporation
(“CIC™) and the capital stock of FM Vending for $354.6 million. CIC had bottling operations in southeast
Florida and central Ohio and was the seventh largest Pepsi bottler in the U.S.

The following information summarizes the allocation of the initial purchase price of the Sandora
acquisition (in millions):

Goodwill . . ... e e e e e e e e e e e $493.8
Trademarks and tradenames . . ... .. ... .. e e e e 109.0
Customer relationships and Tists . . . ... ... ... i e e 31.8
Net assets assumed, net of cash acquired . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... . ... 80.5
Deferred tax Habilities . . ... .o i i e et e (337
Total . .o e e e e 36794
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The following information summarizes the allocation of the purchase price of the QABCL acquisition (in
millions):

GoodWill . . . e e e e $ 464
Franchise and distribution agreements. . . ... .. ... . ... .. i i i 92.5
Customer relationships and lists . . ... ... ... . i e e 16.0
Net liabilities assumed, net of cash acquired . . .. .. ... ... .. .. o o ol (1.9)
Deferred tax Habilities . . ... ..ot i i i e e e e e e _{20.1)
0 2077 U 51329

The following unaudited pro forma information is provided for acquisitions assuming the Sandora
acquisition occurred as of the beginning of fiscal year 2006 and the QABCL acquisition occurred as of the
beginning of fiscal year 2005 (in millions, except per share amounts):

2007 2006 2005
NEE SAlES &+ oot et e e e e e e e e e e $4.7133  $42869 $3,8720
Operating inCOME . . .. . ..\ttt it i i e e s 473.7 402.8 413.8
NEUINCOME . . . o v ettt e e e et et et e 210.6 151.2 195.2
Earnings per share:
BaSIC . .t e e $§ 166 $ 118 § 145
Diluted . . ... e 1.63 1.16 1.42

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by geographic segment for fiscal years 2007 and 2006
were as follows (in millions):

US. CEE Caribbean Total
Balance at end of fiscal year 2005 .. ............. $1.821.3 § 21.2 $16.5 $1,859.0
Acquisitions. . .. ... ... i i N 148.8 —_ 156.5
Purchase accounting adjustments .............. (3.8) 1.5 (0.3) (2.6)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . ........ — 14.2 — 14.2
Balance at end of fiscal year 2006 .. ... .......... $1,825.2 $ 1857 $16.2 $2,027.1
Acquisitions. . . . ... .. i e e — 493.8 —_ 493.8
Purchase accounting adjustments .............. (1.1)  (103.4) 0.3 (104.8)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . .. ... ... — 16.7 0.1) 16.6
Balance at end of fiscal year 2007 . ... ........... $1,824.1 §592.8 $15.8 $2,432.7
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Intangible asset balances as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows (in millions):

2007 2006

Intangible assets subject to amortization;
Gross carrying amount

Trademarks and tradenames ... ......... ... ... ... . . .. .. $1090 § —

Customer relationships and lists. . . ... ... . ... . . L. 56.2 8.0

Franchise and distribution agreements . . ............ ... ... iiinn... 33 33

L1 _ 29 29
Total . . e e e e e e $1714 3 142
Accumulated amortization

Trademarks and tradenames . ................ .. ..., $ 1.2y § —

Customer relationships and lists. .. ... .. .. ... ... .. i i 6.3} (1.3)

Franchise and distribution agreements . .. ........ ... . ., (L1} 0.9

Other .. e __(0.8) (0.6
Total . . e e e $ 94 3§ (2.8)
Intangible assets subject to amertization,net. . . ... ... ... ... ........... $1620 $ 114
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:

Franchise and distribution agreements . . ... . ... ... . ... ... ... ... $383.6  $288.5
Total intangible assets, met . ... .......... ... ... ... .. .. .. ... .. ..., $545.6  $299.9

For intangible assets subject to amortization, we calculate amortization expense over the period we expect
to receive economic benefit. Total amortization expense was $6.6 million, $1.2 million and $0.9 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. The increase in amortization expense in fiscal year 2007 was
due to the recognition and amortization of intangible assets associated with the Romania and Sandora
acquisitions. The estimated aggregate amortization expense over each of the next five years is expected to be
$12.4 million per year.

The acquisition of Sandora in fiscal year 2007 resulted in a preliminary allocation of $493.8 million to
goodwill, $109.0 million to trademarks and tradenames and $31.8 million in customer relationships and lists in
CEE. The trademarks and tradenames are being amortized preliminarily over 20 to 30 years. The customer
relationships and lists are being amortized over 3 to 10 years. We are in the process of finalizing the valuation
of the assets, liabilities and intangibles acquired in connection with the Sandora acquisition, and we anticipate
that the valuation will be completed in the second quarter of 2008,

The process of valuing the assets, liabilities and intangibles acquired in connection with the acquisition of
QABCL was completed in the second quarter of 2007 and resulted in an allocation of $46.4 million to
goodwili and $108.5 million to other intangibles in CEE. We recorded $92.5 million and $16.0 million in
franchise and distribution agreements and customer relationships and lists, respectively. We have assigned an
indefinite life to the franchise and distribution agreement intangible asset. The customer relationships and lists
are being amortized over eight years.

Also in fiscal year 2006, we acquired Ardea which resulted in an allocation of $7.4 million to goodwill
and $2.4 million to other intangibles. The process of valuing the assets, liabilities and intangibles acquired in
connection with the Ardea acquisition was completed in the second quarter of 2006.

We reduced goodwill by $0.8 million and $3.3 miliion in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, due to
adjustments associated with net operating loss carryforwards acquired in prior year acquisitions.
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5. Fructose Settlement Income

In fiscal year 2005, we recorded income ‘of $16.6 million before taxes related to proceeds from the
settlement of a class action lawsuit (In re: High Fructose Corn Syrup Antitrust Litigation, MDL, No. 1087,
Master File No. 95-1447, in the United States District Court for the Central District of Illinois, Peoria
Division). The lawsuit alleged price fixing related to high fructose corn syrup purchased in the U.S. from
July 1, 1991 through June 30, 1995. We received all proceeds from the lawsuit settlement during fiscal year
2005,

6. Special Charges

2007 Charges. In fiscal year 2007, we recorded special charges of $6.3 million. In the U.S., we
recorded $4.8 million of special charges primarily related to severance and relocation costs associated with our
strategic realignment to further strengthen our customer focused go-to-market strategy. In CEE, we recorded
special charges of $1.5 million related to lease termination costs in Hungary and assgciated severance costs.

2006 Charges. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded special charges of $11.5 million in the U.S. related to
our strategic realignment. These special charges were primarily for severance and other employee related
costs, including the acceleration of vesting of certain restricted stock awards. In addition, we incurred costs
associated with consulting services in connection with the realignment project, which were included in the
special charges. We also recorded special charges of $2.2 million in CEE for a reduction in the workforce,
primarily for severance costs and related benefits.

2005 Charges. In fiscal year 2005, we recorded special charges of $2.5 million in CEE, primarily for a
reduction in the workforce in CEE and the consolidation of certain production facilities as we rationalized our
cost structure. These special charges were primarily for severance costs and related benefits and asset write-
downs.

The following table summarizes the activity associated with special charges during the periods presented
(in millions):
Beginning of End of

Fiscal Year  Special  Application of Other Fiscal Year
2007 Charges Special Charges Adjustments End 2007

2007 Charges

Employee related costs ... .......... $ 9.1 $54 $(14.3) — $0.2
Vesting of restricted stock awards. . . . .. 2.0 — (2.0) —_
Lease terminations and other costs . . . . . — 09 — — 09
Total Accrued Liabilities ... ......... $S1l.1 $6.3 $(16.3) $— $1.1
Beginning of End of
Fiscal Year Special  Application of Other Fiscal Year

2006 Charges Special Charges Adjustments End 2006

2006 Charges

Employee related costs . ............ $— $I1L.5 $(2.4) $— $ 9.1
Vesting of restricted stock awards. . . . .. — 2.0 — — 2.0
Lease terminations and other costs. . . .. — 0.1 (0.2) 0.1 —
Assetwrite-downs . ... ........... .. = 0.1 {0.1) — —
Total Accrued Liabilities . . .......... 5— $13.7 - $(2.7) $0.1 $11.1

|
|
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Beginning of End of

Fiscal Year  Special  Application of Other Fiscal Year
2005 Charges Special Charges Adjustments End 2005

2002 Charges

Employee related costs .. ........... $03 $— $(0.3) $— $—
Lease terminations and other costs . . ... (0.2) — 0.2 — =
Total ... ... oo 0.1 — 0.1) —
2004 Charges
Employee related costs . ............ 0.1 i 0.1) = —
Total . ........ ... ... . ... ... 0.1 — 0.1) — —
2005 Charges
Employee related costs . ............ — 1.4 (1.4) — -
Asset write-downs . .. .............. — 11 (1.1} — =
TOLal ........................... i 2 (2.5) _— —::
Total Accrued Liabilities . ........... 0.2 $2.5 827 $— $—
7. Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net, was comprised of the following (in millions):
2007 2006 2005
INTErest EXPENSE . . . vttt et ettt et e e e $1124  $105.2 $93.4
1y =t T T 11U 3.2) 3.9 (3.5)
Interest EXPEnSe, NEL . . .\ oottt it e e $109.2 $101.3 $89.9
Income Taxes
Income taxes were comprised of the following (in millions):
2007 2006 2005

Current:

Federal . . ... .. .. $ 782 $85.2 § 884

Foreign. . ... ... . e 19.8 1.9 0.2

State and Tocal ., ... ... .. .. e 7.9 5.9 10.2

Total current . . ... .. e 105.9 93.0 98.8

Deferred:

Federal .. ... ... 0.9 (7.4) 144

Foreign. . .. e 52 4.0 (3.7)

Stateand local .. ......... . e — 0.9 (0.7)

Total deferred . . . ... .. .. e 6.1 (2.5) 10.0

INCOme taXeS ...t v it $112.0 %905 $108.8
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The U.S. and foreign income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity in net earnings of
nonconsolidated companies is set forth in the table below (in millions):

2007 2006 2005
L $2325 $231.1 %3016
FOreign. . oo e e 93.8 11.9 3.1
Income before income taxes, minority interest and equity in net -
earnings of nonconsolidated companies . ......... ... ... ..., $326.3  $243.0 32985

The table below reconciles the income tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate to our actual income
tax provision (in millions):

2007 2006 ) 2005
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
Income taxes at the federal statutory rate. . . .. $1142 350 $851 350 51045 350
State income taxes, net of federal income tax
benefit ........ .. ... . ..t 58 1.8 6.3 26 5.1 1.7
Foreign rate differential. . . ... ............ (8.5) (2.6) 4.0 1.6 0.3 0.1
Enactedrate change .. .................. 2.0 0.6 — — 0.9 0.3
Change in valuation allowance ............ — — (1.8 (07 “@.n (1.4
Otheritems, net . .........c v eenne.. _ (L5 05 _{(3.1) {13 21 07
INCOME taX . . v vt et v e e e s $1120 343 $905 372 $108.8 364
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Deferred income taxes are attributable to temporary differences, which exist between the financial
statement bases and tax bases of certain assets and liabilities. As of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006,
deferred income taxes (including discontinued operations) are attributable to (in millions):

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Foreign net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards . .. .............. $ 235 § 355
U.S. state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. . .. ............ 14.0 13.9
Provision for special charges and previously sold businesses ............. 14.1 23.5
Unrealized net losses on investments and cash flow hedges .. ........ ..., 14.7 134
Pension and postretirement benefits. . ......... .. ... ... . . .. 04 6.5
Deferred compensation. . .. ... ... .. .. . e 253 159
Other . . . 10.3 10.3
Gross deferred (aX assets. . . .. ... L e 102.3 119.0
Valuation allowance . .. ... ... it e e (30.2) (38.3)
Net deferred tax assets . ... ...... ... iiniinneenennn, 72.1 80.7
Deferred tax liabilities:
PrOpertY . . . (129.2) (156.7)
Intangible assets. . ... .. ... . . e, (202.0)  (143.3)
L 11 1T (2.2) (3.6)
Total deferred tax Habilities. . . . ....... ... ittt (333.4) (303.6)
Net deferred tax liability . ... ......... ... .. . . i, $(261.3) $(222.9)
Net deferred tax liability included in:
Other CUITeNT 885815 . .. v vttt ettt ettt e et ettt et e et $ 212 $ 202
Deferred InCOme taXes . ... ... vttt ettt e e (282.5)  (243.1)
Net deferred tax liability ... ....... ... i $(261.3) $(222.9)

In connection with the merger with the former PepsiAmericas, we became the successor to U.S. federal,
state and foreign net operating losses (“NOLs") and tax credit carryforwards. As of the end fiscal year 2005,
all of our U.S. NOLs related to the merger had been utilized. We also have, and continue to generate, NOLs
related to certain U.S. states and certain foreign jurisdictions. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, our foreign
NOLs amounted to $95.0 million, which expire at various periods from 2008 through 2015, except for
$13.1 million that do not expire. Utilization of state NOLs and foreign NOLs is limited by various state and
international tax laws. We have provided a valuation allowance against all of our state NOLs and a portion of
the foreign NOLs. These valuation allowances reflect the uncertainty of our ability to fully utilize these
benefits given the limited carryforward periods permitted by the various taxing jurisdictions. Any future
reductions to the valuation allowances related to the NOLs succeeded to us in connection with the merger with
the former PepsiAmericas will be recorded as an adjustment to goodwill.

Deferred taxes are not recognized for temporary differences related to investments in foreign subsidiaries
that are essentially permanent in duration. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we have cumulative undistributed
earnings of approximately $78.5 million.

In fiscal years 2006 and 2005, we recorded a net change of $1.8 million and $4.1 million, respectively,
for tax benefits related to the reversal of valuation allowances for certain net operating loss carryforwards on
our international businesses due in part to the improved operating performance of those operations. These
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changes in the valuation allowance and an increase in federal tax deductions related to the opening CIC
balance sheet also resulted in a $3.3 million and $14.2 million reduction of goodwill, in fiscal years 2006 and
2005, respectively. Additionally, in fiscal year 2005, we recorded a $0.9 million benefit from a state income
tax law change in Ohio. In fiscal year 2007, we recorded a $0.8 million decrease to goodwill to record NOLs
for the Ardea acquisition.

We adopted FIN 48 at the beginning of fiscal year 2007. As a result of the implementation, we recorded
a $0.6 million increase to the beginning balance in retained income on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. At the
beginning of fiscal year 2007, we had approximately $25.9 million of total unrecognized tax benefits. Of this
total, $15.4 million (net of the federal income tax benefit on state tax issues and interest) would favorably
impact the effective income tax rate in any future period, if recognized.

During fiscal year 2007, our gross unrecognized tax benefits increased by $10.5 million, of which
$6.7 million was due to tax positions from prior periods for which a deferred tax asset was recorded.

The table below reconciles the changes in the gross unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal year 2007:

2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year. .. ... .. oo $259
Increases due to tax positions inpriorperiod . ... ... . i 7.8
Decreases due to tax positions inprior period. . ... ... . oo i 0.1
Increases due to tax positions in current period. . .. ... o il i 5.2
Lapse of statute of lmitations . . ... .. o i (2.4)
Unrecognized tax benefits atend of year ........ ... .. i $36.4

During fiscal year 2007, the net unrecognized tax benefits that impacted our effective tax rate was
$1.6 million. Of the $36.4 million total unrecognized tax benefits at year end 2007, $17.0 million (net of the
federal income tax benefit on state tax issues and interest) would favorably impact the effective income tax
rate in any future period, if recognized. During fiscal year 2007, we recorded $2.4 million of gross interest
related to unrecognized tax benefits.

During the next 12 months it is reasonably possible that a reduction of gross unrecognized tax benefits
will occur in a range of $4 million to $7 million as a result of the resolution of positions taken on previously
filed returns.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, state income tax in multiple state tax jurisdictions, and foreign
income tax in our CEE and Caribbean tax jurisdictions. We have concluded all U.S. federal income tax
examinations for years through 2004. The following table summarizes the years that are subject to examination
for each primary jurisdiction as of the end of fiscal year 2007:

Jurisdiction Subject to Examination
Federal . ..o o e e e e e 2005-2006
THHROIS - © o vt e e et et e et e e e e e e 1999-2006
IRAIAMA . .. ottt 2004-2006
JOWA & e e e et e e 2004-2006
|20y 1o - U A 2002-2006
POlaANd . . ottt e e e e 2001-2006
Czech Republic . ...... .. oo i 2003-2006
UKTAINE © v o o e ettt et s e et et et e e e e 2005-20006




PEPSIAMERICAS, INC,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Upon adoption of FIN 48, our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters
in income tax expense. Formerly, interest was recorded in interest expense, We had $6.5 million and
$4.1 million accrued for interest and no amount accrued for penalties as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and
upon adoption of FIN 48, respectively.

9, Sales of Receivables

In fiscal year 2002, Whitman Finance, our special purpose entity and wholly-owned subsidiary, entered
into an agreement (the “‘Securitization™) with a major U.S. financial institution to sell an undivided interest in
its receivables. The Securitization involves the sale of receivables, on a revolving basis, by our U.S. bottling
subsidiaries to Whitman Finance, which in turn sells an undivided interest in the revolving pool of receivables
to the financial institution. The potential amount of receivables eligible for sale is determined based on the
size and characteristics of the receivables pool but cannot exceed $150 million based on the terms of the
agreement. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, the maximum amount of receivables eligible for sale was
$150 million, Costs related to this arrangement, including losses on the sale of receivables, are included in
“Interest expense, net.”

The receivables sold to Whitman Finance under the Securitization program totaled $261.8 million and
$250.0 million as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively. Receivables for which an undivided
ownership interest was sold to the financial institution were $150 million as of the end of fiscal years 2007
and 2006, which were reflected as a reduction in our receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
receivables were sold to the financial institution at a discount, which resulted in losses of $7.0 million,
$8.1 million and $5.3 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are recorded in “Interest
expense, net” on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The retained interests of $108.1 miltion and
$94.7 million are included in receivables at fair value as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The fair value incorporates expected credit losses, which are based on specific identification of uncollectible
accounts and application of historical collection percentages by aging category. Since substantially all
receivables sold to Whitman Finance carry 30-day payment terms, the retained interest is not discounted. The
weighted-average key credit loss assumnption used in measuring the retained interests as of the end of fiscal
years 2007 and 2006, including the sensitivity of the current fair value of retained interests as of the end of
fiscal year 2007 to immediate 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes in the credit loss assumption, are as
follows (in millions);

As of Fiscal Year End 2007

As of Fiscal 10% Adverse 20% Adverse
Year End 2006 Actual Change Change

Expected creditlosses .. .. .............. 22% 1.4% 1.6% 1.7%
Fair value of retained interests. . .......... $94.7 $108.1 $107.7 $107.3

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value
based on a 10 percent or 20 percent variation should not be extrapolated because the relationship of the
change in assumption 10 the change in fair value may not always be linear. Whitman Finance had $1.6 million
and $2.1 million of net receivables over 60 days past due as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Whitman Finance’s credit (recoveries) losses were ($0.4) million, $0.7 million and $1.5 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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10. Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Receivables, net of allowance, as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following (in
millions):

2007 2000
Trade receivables, net of securitization .. ......... .. o oniiu iy $290.6 $220.0
Funding and rebates, Net. . . ... ...\ itier e 42.3 452
OtHEr 1eCIVADIES . o oot e e s e ettt e e e 12.4 18.0
Allowance for doubtful aCCOUNLS. . . . .. .\ oottt et e (14.7) (16.1)
Receivables, netof allowance . .......... .t $330.6 $267.1

The changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows (in
millions):
2007 2006 2005

Balance at the beginning of the year . .. ....... ... .ot $16.1 3152 $15.1
Provision for IoSSes. .. .o v it i e i et e 0.6 2.8 35
Write-offs and recoveries . ... ... it e e 3.3 3.7 3.2)
ACQUISITIONS . .. ..o i e 0.1 0.8 0.4
Foreign currency translation . ....... ... .. 1.2 1.0 (0.6)

Balance attheend of the year. . .. .. ... .ot it o ine i $147 8161 $15.2

The purpose of the allowance is to provide an estimate of losses with respect to trade receivables. Our
estimate in each period requires consideration of historical toss experience, judgments about the impact of
present economic conditions, in addition to specific losses for known accounts,

11. Payables
Payables as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following (in millions):

0072w
Trade Payables . . .. .. oo vtiu e $189.4 $1594
Dividends payable ... ... ... ... e 16.6 159
Income tax and other payables - .. ...t ii it __ 180 14.1
Payables . . oottt e e $2240 §$1894
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12, Debt
Long-term debt as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following (in millions):
2007 2006
3.875% notes due 2007 . ... . e $ — § 274
6.375% notes due 2009 . .. ... e 150.0 150.0
5.625% notes due 2011 . ... ... e 250.0 250.0
ST5% notesdue 20012 . ... e e 300.0 —_
45% notes due 2013, L. . .. e e e, 150.0 150.0
4875% notes due 2015 .. ... ... e 300.0 300.0
500% notes due 2017 . . ... e 250.0 2500
7.44% notes due 2026 (due 2008 at option of note holder) . . .. ........... 25.0 25.0
729% notesdue 2026, . .. ... . e e 100.0 100.0
550% notes due 2035 . .. .. L e 2500 250.0
Various other debt. .. .. ... . L 593 24.9
Capital lease obligations ... ....... . ... . ... . .. . . 203 2.0
Fair value adjustment from interest rate swaps . ... ......... ........... 36 6.1
Unamortized diSCOUNL . . . . .00ttt i it et e e (5.8) (6.0)
Total debt . ... ..o e e 1,852.4 1,529.4

Less: amount included in short-term debt. . ., ., ... .. ... ... ... ... ..., 48.9 39.2
Total long-termdebt . .. .. ... . . ... ... e $1.803.5 $1,490.2

Our debt agreements contain a number of covenants that limit, among other things, the creation of liens,
sale and leaseback transactions and the general sale of assets. Our revolving credit agreement requires us to
maintain an interest coverage ratio. We are in compliance with all of our financial covenants. Substantially all
of our debt securities are unsecured, senior debt obligations and rank equally with all of our other unsecured
and unsubordinated indebtedness.

In July 2007, we issued $300 million of notes with a coupon rate of 5.75 percent due July 2012. Net
proceeds from this transaction were $297.2 million, which reflected the discount reduction of $0.8 million and
the debt issuance costs of $2.0 million. The net proceeds from the issuance of the notes were used to fund the
acquisition of Sandora, to repay commercial paper and for other general corporate purposes. The notes were
issued from our automatic shelf registration statement filed May 16, 2006 (the “Registration Statement™).
Additional debt securities may be offered under the Registration Statement. In fiscal year 2007, we also
borrowed $1.0 million in long-term debt in the Bahamas.

In May 2006, we issued $250 million of notes with a coupon rate of 5.625 percent due May 2011. Net
proceeds from this transaction were $247.4 million, which reflected the discount reduction of $1.0 million and
debt issuance costs of $1.6 million. A portion of the proceeds from the issuance was used to repay our
commercial paper and other general obligations. The notes were issued under the Registration Staterment.

During fiscal year 2007, we paid $11.6 million at maturity of the 8.25 percent notes due February 2007
and $27.4 million at maturity of the 3.875 notes due September 2007. In February 2006, we repaid
$134.7 million of the 6.5 percent notes and the 5.95 percent notes. In addition, in December 2006 we paid
$51.1 million of long-term debt acquired in the QABCL acquisition.

We utilize revolving credit facilities both in the U.S. and in our international operations to fund short-
term financing needs, primarily for working capital. In the U.S., we have an unsecured revolving credit facility
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under which we can borrow up to an aggregate of $600 million. The facility is for general corporate purposes,
including commercial paper backstop. It is our policy to maintain a committed bank facility as backup
financing for our commercial paper program. The interest rates on the revolving credit facility, which expires
in 2011, are based primarily on the London Interbank Offered Rate. Accordingly, we have a total of

$600 million available under our commercial paper program and revolving credit facility combined. There
were $269.5 million and $164.5 million of borrowings under the commercial paper program as of the end of
fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively. The weighted-average borrowings under the commercial paper
program during fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were $209.9 million and $279.4 million, respectively. The
weighted-average interest rate for borrowings outstanding under the commercial paper program as of the end
of fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were 5.1 percent and 5.0 percent, respectively.

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries maintain operating lines of credit. The total amount available under
these lines is $127.7 million. Interest rates are based primarily upon Interbank Offered Rates for borrowings in
the subsidiaries’ local currencies. The outstanding balances were $19.2 million and $9.2 million as of the end
of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.

As of the end of fiscal year 2007, $45.0 million of long-term debt acquired as part of the Sandora
acquisition, and included in the caption “Various other debt” in the table above, was classified as ““Short-term
debt, including current maturities of long-term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as we intend to
refinance this debt with short-term debt in fiscal year 2008.

The amounts of long-term debt, excluding obligations under capital leases, scheduled to mature in the
next five years are as follows (in millions):

2. 101 2 R 45.1*
1 2 I 150.1
) (0 R 0.1
w13 15 A R R R 250.1
2 0] 1 U IR 300.1

* The 7.44 percent notes due in 2026 are subject to a one-time investor put option of $25 million in fiscal
year 2008. We do not expect the noteholders to exercise this put option; therefore, the notes are not
included in the table above.

13. Leases

We have entered into noncancelable lease commitments under operating and capital leases for fleet
vehicles, computer equipment (including both software and hardware), land, buildings, machinery and
equipment.
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As of the end of fiscal year 2007, annual minimum rental payments required under capital leases and
operating leases that have initial noncancelable terms in excess of one year were as follows (in millions):

Capitat  Operating

Leases Leases
2008 L e e 347 $15.6
200G e 43 12.2
2010 L e e 4.2 9.0
200 e e 42 5.8
P2 A 43 43
Thereafter. . .. ... .o e 4.0 47.3
Total minimum lease payments . . .. ... ..ot in it e e 257 $94.2
Less: imputed interest. . ... ... .. e e (5.4)
Present value of minimum lease payments. ... ... ....... ... ... covuen... $20.3

Total rent expense applicable to operating leases was $26.7 million, $26.4 million and $34.1 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. A majority of our leases provide that we pay taxes,
maintenance, insurance and certain other operating expenses. In fiscal year 2005, we recorded $1.4 miilion of
expense for the early termination of a real estate lease and $6.1 million of expense related to lease exit costs
as a result of the relocation of our corporate offices in the Chicago area.

14. Financial Instruments

We use derivative financial instruments to reduce our exposure to adverse fluctuations in commodity
prices and interest rates. These financial instruments are “over-the-counter” instruments and generally were
designated at their inception as hedges of underlying exposures. We do not use derivative financial insuruments
for speculative or trading purposes.

Cash flow hedges. In anticipation of long-term debt issuances, we had entered into treasury rate lock
instruments and a forward starting swap agreement. We accounted for these treasury rate lock instruments and
the forward starting swap agreement as cash flow hedges, as each hedged against the variability of interest
payments atiributable to changes in interest rates on the forecasted issuance of fixed-rate debt. These treasury
rate locks and the forward starting swap agreement were considered highly effective in eliminating the
variability of cash flows associated with the forecasted debt issuance.

The following table summarizes the net derivative iosses deferred into “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” and reclassified to income in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions):

2007 2006 2005

Unrealized (losses) gains on derivatives at beginning of year . .......... $(3.3) $24 $ 12
Deferral of net derivative losses in accumulated other comprehensive

34 LaT 0 1 1 (0.2) o.n 167
Reclassification of net derivative gains (iosses) to income ... .......... 0.3 {0.8) 7.1
Unrealized losses on derivatives atend of year .. ................... $2.7) 333 % (24

Fair value hedges. Periodically, we enter into interest rate swap contracts to convert a portion of our
fixed rate debt to floating rate deht, with the objective of reducing overall borrowing costs. We account for
these swaps as fair value hedges, since they hedge against the change in fair value of fixed rate debt resulting
from fluctuations in interest rates. In fiscal year 2004, we terminated all outstanding interest rate swap
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contracts and received $14.4 million for the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts. Amounts included in
the comulative fair value adjustment to long-term debt will be reclassified into earnings commensurate with
the recognition of the related interest expense. As of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, the cumulative fair
value adjustments to long-term debt were $3.6 million and $6.1 million, respectively.

Derivatives not designated as hedges. During fiscal year 2007, we entered into heating ocil swap
contracts to hedge against volatility in future cash flows on anticipated purchases of diese! fuel. These
derivative financial instruments were not designated as hedging instruments. All outstanding heating oil swap
contracts were settled by the end of fiscal year 2007, and therefore, we have not recorded any unrealized gains
or losses associated with these contracts. Realized gains and losses were recorded in cost of goods sold and
SD&A expenses, where the associated diesel fuel purchases were recorded. During fiscal year 2007,
$2.7 million and $3.8 million of realized gains were recorded in cost of goods sold and SD&A expenses,
respectively.

Other financial instruments. The carrying amounts of other financial assets and liabilities, including
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued expenses, approximate fair
values due to their short maturity.

The fair value of our floating rate debt as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006 approximated its
carrying amount. Our fixed rate debt, which includes capital lease obligations, had a carrying amount of
$1,852.4 million and an estimated fair value of $1,845.7 million as of fiscal year end 2007. As of the end of
fiscal year 2006, our fixed rate debt had a carrying amount of $1,529.4 million, and an estimated fair value of
$1,520.0 million. The fair value of the fixed rate debt was based upon quotes from financial institutions for
instruments with similar characteristics or upon discounting future cash flows.

15. Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Company-sponsored defined benefit pension plans. Prior to December 31, 2001, salaried employees
were provided pension benefits based on years of service that generally were limited to a maximum of
20 percent of the employee's average annual compensation during the five years preceding retirement. Plans
covering non-union hourly employees generally provided benefits of stated amounts for each year of service.
Plan assets are invested primarily in common stocks, corporate bonds and government securities. In connection
with the integration of the former Whitman Corporation and the former PepsiAmericas U.S. benefit plans
during the first quarter of 2001, we amended our pension plans to freeze pension benefit accruals for
substantially all salaried and non-union employees effective December 31, 2001. Employees age 50 or older
with 10 or more years of vesting service were grandfathered such that they will continue to accrue benefits
after December 31, 2001 based on their final average pay as of December 31, 2001. The existing U.S. salaried
and non-union pension plans were replaced by an additional employer contribution to the 401(k) plan
beginning January 1, 2002.

Postretirement benefits other than pensions. We provide substantially all former U.8. salaried employ-
ees who retired prior to July 1, 1989 and certain other employees in the U.S., including certain employees in
the territories acquired from PepsiCo, with certain life and health care benefits. U.S. salaried employees
retiring after July 1, 1989, except covered employees in the territories acquired from PepsiCo in 1999,
generally are required to pay the full cost of these benefits. Effective January 1, 2000, non-union hourly
employees are also eligible for coverage under these plans, but are also required to pay the full cost of the
benefits. Eligibility for these benefits varies with the employee’s classification prior to retirement. Benefits are
provided through insurance contracts or welfare trust funds. The insured plans generally are financed by
monthly insurance premiums and are based upon the prior year’s experience. Benefits paid from the welfare
trust are financed by monthly deposits that approximate the amount of current claims and expenses. We have
the right to modify or terminate these benefits.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.” SFAS No. 158 requires, among other things, that we fully recognize
the funded status associated with our defined benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Each overfunded plan is recognized as an asset and each underfunded plan is
recognized as a liability. Any unrecognized prior service costs or credits and net actuarial gains and losses as
well as subsequent changes in the funded status is recognized as a component of “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” in shareholders’ equity. The recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 were effective as
of the end of fiscal year 2006. We are also required to measure our plans” assets and liabilities as of the end
of our fiscal year instead of our current measurement date of September 30, The measurement date provisions
will be effective as of the end of fiscal year 2008.

The following tables outline the changes in benefit obligations and fair values of plan assets for our
pension plans and postretirement benefits other than pensions and reconcile the pension plans’ funded status to
the amounts recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006 (in
millions):

Other
Postretirement
Pension Plans Plan
2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in Benefit Obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year. . .............. $176.6 $1816 $201 §$21.7
Service cost. . ... ... . e 34 34 — 0.1
Interestcost. . ..., ... .. .. ... . L 10.7 10.1 1.1 I.1
Plan participant contributions. . . .................. — — 1.2 1.1
AMENAMENTS . . ..ttt ittt et 0.6 0.5 — (0.1
Actoarial gain . . ........ ... L L L (5.5) (10.8) (2.0) (.9
Benefitspaid. .. ......... ... .. i i, (8.4) (8.2) (2.0) (1.9)

Benefit obligation atendof year .. .................. $1774 $1766 $184 §20.1

Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets:

Plan assets at beginning of year. .. .................. $1765 51495 $ — § —
Actual return on plan assets . .. .. ................. 23.2 14.1 0.8 0.8
Employer contributions .. ......... .. ... ... . ... 0.9 21.1 1.2 1.1
Benefitspaid. .. ....... ... ... ... . o {8.4) (8.2) (2.0 (1.9)

Plan assets atend of year ......................... $192.2 $1765 § — $ —

Funded Status . . . ........... ... ... ... ... .. ... $ 148 § (0.1) 3$(184) $(20.1)
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The following table summarizes the net prior service cost (credit) and net actuarial loss (gain} deferred
into “Accumulated other comprehensive income” and reclassified to income in fiscal year 2007 {in millions):
Other

Postretirement
Net Prior Service Cost (Credit), net of tax Pension Plan Plan Total

Unrealized losses (gains) on net prior service cost at
beginning of year . . . ....... i $15 $(0.4) $ 1.1

Deferral of net prior service cost in accumulated other
comprehensive inCome . . ... ovvuie e

Reclassification of net prior service cost to income .. ....... (0.2) —
Unrealized gains (losses) on net prior service cost at end of
VAT . . ottt et e e $1.7 $(0.4) $ 1.3

Net Actuarial Loss (Gain), net of tax

Unrealized losses (gains) on net actuarial (gain) loss at

beginning of year . ... ... ... ..o $30.4 $(3.5) $26.9
Deferral of net actuarial gains in accumulated other

comprehensive income .. .. .. ... . {8.0) (1.1 @.1n
Reclassification of net actuarial (losses) gains to income . . . .. (1.8) 0.5 (1.3)

Unrealized losses (gains) on net actuarial (gain) loss at end of
. T N $20.6 $4.1) $16.5

The amount of net prior service cost and net actuarial loss for our pension and other postretirement plans
expected to be reclassified into income during fiscal year 2008 are $0.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively.
The amount of net actuarial gain for our other post-employment plan expected to be reclassified into income
during fiscal year 2008 is $0.9 million. The amount of net prior service credit expected to be reclassified into
income for the other postretirement plan is not material.

Net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 included
the following components (in millions}):

Other Postretirement

Pension Benefit Costs Benefit Costs
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
SEIVICE COSE. . ottt it ce i s e $ 34 % 34 % 31 8§ — 301 $0.1
INtErest COSE . . v vttt e e i 10.7 101 95 1.1 .1 1.1
Expected return on plan assets . ... (14.7) (13.8) (11.8) — — —
Amortization of net loss . . . ... ... .o 28 3.8 28 (0.8) (0.5) (04)
Amortization of prior service cost. .. ... ... 0.3 0.2 01 — — —
Net periodic COST ... .o vvvin i $ 25 % 37 % 37 3503 $07 $08

Accumulated other comprehensive income amounts are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets net
of tax of $15.7 million and $16.6 million at the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006, respectively. We use
September 30 as the measurement date for plan assets and obligations. The plan assets of our pension plans as
of fiscal year end 2007 were approximately $4.4 million lower than plan assets at the September 30
measurement date.
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Pension costs are funded in amounts not less than minimum levels required by regulation. The principal

economic assumptions used in the determination of net periodic pension cost and benefit obligations were as
follows:

Net Periodic Pension Cost: 2007 2006 2005
DHSCOUNE TALES . . o oottt e o e s e e e e 6.16% 35.715% 6.00%
Expected long-term rates of return on assets . . . .......... ...l on... 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Benefit Obligation: ' 2007 2006 2005
Discount rates . . ... ... ... e e e 6.49% 6.16% 5.75%
Expected long-term rates of return on assets . .. ........ .. ..., 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%

Discount Rate. Since pension liabilities are measured on a discounted basis, the discount rate is a
significant assumption. An assumed discount rate is required to be used in each pension plan actuarial
valuation. The discount rate assumption reflects the market rate for high quality (for example, rated “AA” or
higher by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s in the U.8.), fixed-income debt instruments based on the expected
duration of the benefit payments for our pension plans as of the annual measurement date and is subject to
change each year.

A 100 basis point increase in the discount rate would decrease our annual pension expense by
$1.6 million. A 100 basis point decrease in the discount rate would increase our annual pension expense by
$2.4 million.

Expected Return on Plan Assets. The expected long-term return on plan assets should, over time,
approximate the actual long-term returns on pension plan assets. The expected return on plan assets
assumption is based on historical returns and the future expectation for returns for each asset class, as well as
the target asset allocation of the asset portfolio.

A 100 basis point increase in our expected return on plan assets would decrease our annual pension
expense by $1.8 million. A 100 basis point decrease in our expected return on plan assets would increase our
annual pension expense by $1.8 mitlion.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension
plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $13.7 million, $13.7 million and
$10.6 million, respectively, as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and $14.0 million, $14.0 million and $9.4 mitlion,
respectively, as of fiscal year end 2006. Plans with a projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation, and fair value of plan assets that were overfunded were $163.7 million, $163.7 million and
$181.6 million, respectively, as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and $162.6 million, $162.6 million and
$167.1 million, respectively, as of the end of fiscal year 2006.

Our pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 by asset
category were as follows:
September 30,  September 30,
2006

Asset Category 2007

Equity securities. . ... .. ... e 70% 66%
Debl SeCUMtESs . . . .ottt i e e e e 26% 25%
Other ........ovvvvinven.. [ 4% 9%
Total ... e e e 100% 100%

The plan's assets are invested in the PepsiAmericas Defined Benefit Master Trust (“Master Trust™). The
Master Trust’s investment objectives are to seek capital appreciation with a level of current income and long-
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term income growth. Broad diversification by security and moderate diversification by asset class are achieved
by investing in domestic and international equity index funds, a domestic bond index fund, and money market
funds. The Master Trust’s target investment allocations are 60 percent to 75 percent equities, 25 percent to

35 percent bonds, and up to 5 percent in other assets. The Master Trust does not hold any of our common
stock.

Health care assumptions. The principal economic assumptions used in the determination of net periodic
benefit cost for the post-employment benefit plan were as follows:

Net Periodic Benefit Cost: 2007 2006 2005
DI iSCOUNE TRIES « « v v v v v v e e e et ettt e e ae s e e e 597% 5.75% 6.00%
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year. .. ......... ... .. .. 90% 10.0% 10.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate rate). . . 50% 5.0% 50%
Year that the rate reached the ultimate trend rate . . ... ......... .. ..... 2011 2011 2009
Benefit Obligation: 2007 2006 2005
DISCOUNE TALES © o o o ot e et et e et i e e a e a e 6.34% 597% 5.75%
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year. .. ... ... .. ... o 9.0% 9.0% 10.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate rate). . . 50% 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reached the ultimate trend rate ... ............. .. ... 2012 2011 2011

Expected benefit payments. A minimum contribution of $0.4 million is required under the minimum
funding standards in fiscal year 2008, We do not expect to make any additional contributions in fiscal year
2008. The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to
be paid (in millions):

Other
Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
2008 . e § 89 $1.4
. 1 93 1.4
2000 . e e e e 9.7 1.4
7. 11 10 T T P 10.2 1.5
. 3 1 R 10.8 1.6
.10} 1 .4 ) L 63.3 7.9

Company-sponsored defined contribution plans. Substantially all U.S. salaried employees and certain
U.S. hourly employees participate in voluntary, contributory defined contribution plans to which we make
partial matching contributions. Also, in connection with the aforementioned freeze of our pension plans, we
began making supplemental contributions in 2002 to substantially all U.S. salaried employees’ and eligible
hourly employees’ 401(k) accounts, regardless of the leve! of each employee’s contributions. In addition, we
make contributions to a supplemental, deferred compensation plan that provides eligible U.S. executives with
the opportunity for contributions that could not be credited to their individual 401(k) accounts due to Internal
Revenue Code limitations. The expense recorded amounted to $20.6 million, $19.7 million and $18.9 million
in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Multi-employer pension plans. We participate in a number of multi-employer pension plans, which
provide benefits to certain union employee groups. Amounts contributed to the plans totaled $5.2 million,
$5.3 million and $4.7 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Multi-emplover post-retirement medical and life insurance. 'We participate in a number of multi-
empioyer plans, which provide health care and-survivor benefits to union employees during their working lives
and after retirement. Portions of the benefit contributions, which cannot be disaggregated, relate to post-
retirement benefits for plan participants. Total amounts charged against income and contributed to the plans
{including benefit coverage during participating employees’ working lives) amounted 1o $19.2 million,
$17.9 million and $14.8 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

16. Stock Repurchase Program

During fiscal year 2007, we repurchased a total of 2.7 million common shares at an average price of
$22.19 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $59.4 million. During fiscal year 2006, we repurchased a
total of 6.3 million shares at an average price of $23,77 per share for an aggregate purchase price of
$150.7 million. The purchases of these shares were made pursuant to the share repurchase program previously
authorized by our Board of Directors. As of fiscal year end 2007, the total remaining shares authorized under
the repurchase program was 7.2 million shares.

During fiscal year 2005, we retired 30 million shares of PepsiAmericas common stock. The stock
retirement resulted in a reduction to the ireasury stock account of $572.3 million, a reduction to retained
income of $296.0 million and a reduction to common stock of $276.3 million.

17. Share-Based Compensation and Warrants

Qur 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan™), originally approved by shareholders in fiscal year 2000,
provides for granting incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, related stock appreciation rights
(“SARs”), restricted stock awards, performance awards or any combination of the foregoing. These awards
have various vesting provisions. All awards vest immediately upon a change in control as defined by the 2000
Plan, with sertlement of those awards in cash.

Generally, outstanding nonqualified stock options are exercisable during a ten-year period beginning one
to three years after the date of grant. The exercise price of all options is equal to the fair market value on the
date of grant. We generally use shares from treasury to satisfy option exercises. There are no outstanding stock
appreciation rights under the 2000 Plan as of the end of fiscal year 2007.

Restricted stock awards are granted to key members of our U.S. and Caribbean management teams and
members of our Board of Directors under the 2000 Plan. Beginning with shares granted in fiscal year 2004,
restricted stock awards granted to empioyees vest in their entirety on the third anniversary of the award.
Restricted stock awards granted to employees before 2004 vest ratably on an annual basis over a three-year
period. Employees must complete the requisite service period in order for their awards to vest. Restricted
stock awards granted to directors vest immediately upon grant. Pursuant to the terms of such awards, directors
may not sell such stock while they serve on the Board of Directors. Dividends are paid to the holders of
restricted stock awards either at the dividend payment date or upon vesting, depending on the terms of the
resiricted stock award. We have a policy of using shares from treasury to satisfy restricted stock award vesting.
We measure the fair value of restricted stock based upon the market price of the underlying common stock at
the date of grant.

Restricted stock units are granted to key members of our CEE management team. The restricted stock
units are payable to these employees in cash upon vesting at the prevailing market value of PepsiAmericas
common stock plus accrued dividends. Restricted stock units vest after three years, which equals the
employees’ requisite service period. We measure the fair value of the restricted stock unit award liability based
upon the market price of the underlying common stock at the date of grant and each subsequent reporting
date.
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Under the 2000 Plan, 14 million shares were originally reserved for share-based awards. As of the end of
fiscal year 2007, there were 4,212,792 shares available for future grants.

Our Stock Incentive Plan (the “1982 Plan™), originally established and approved by the shareholders in
1982, has been subsequently amended from time to time. Most recently in 1999, the shareholders approved an
allocation of additional shares to this plan. The types of awards and terms of the 1982 Plan are similar to the
2000 Plan. There are no outstanding stock appreciation rights under the 1982 Plan as of the end of fiscal year
2007.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”. We
used the modified prospective method of adoption as provided by SFAS No. 123(R). Accordingly, financial
statement amounts for the prior periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have not been restated.

Changes in options outstanding are summarized as follows:

Options Outstanding

Range of Weighted-Average
Options Shares Exercise Prices Exercise Price
Balance, fiscal yearend 2004 .. ... ... .. ... .. ... .... 10,900,873 $10.81 - 22.66 $16.36
Exercised . . ..o oot i e e (3,842,314) 10.81 - 22.66 15.98
Forfeited .. ... ittt i s {117,064} 11.97 - 18.92 16.87
Balance, fiscal year end 2005 .. ....... ... ... ... ... ... 6,941,495 10.81 - 22.63 16.57
Exercised . . oo oo e e e (1,677,651} 10.81 - 22.63 14.84
Forfeited . ... oot ettt i s (20,558) 12.01 - 22.63 17.76
Balance, fiscal year end 2006 ... ................... 5,243,286 10.81 - 22.63 17.11
EXercised . ..o ot et e (3,404,899) 10.81 - 22.63 17.93
Forfeited ... v oot (20,145) 12.01 - 18.92 18.03
Balance, fiscal year end 2007 . ... .................. 1,818,242 10.81 - 22.63 15.57

The Black-Scholes model was used to estimate the grant date fair values of options. There were no
options granted during fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005. We recorded $0.3 million ($0.2 million net of tax)
and $2.4 million ($1.5 million net of tax) of compensation expense related to options in SD&A expenses in
the Consolidated Statements of Income for fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to the fiscal year
2004 option grant. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were
$33.2 million and $14.0 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of fully vested options as of the end of
fiscal year 2007 was $34.3 million.

The following table summarizes information regarding stock options outstanding and exercisable as of the
end of fiscal year 2007:

Options Quistanding and Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted-

Range of Options Remaining Life Average
Exercise Prices Qutstanding (in years) Exercise Price

$10.81-12.75 955,460 39 $12.32

14.37 - 17.72 212,732 28 16.12

18.48 - 22.63 650,050 43 20.17

Total Options 1,818,242 39 15.57
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Changes in nonvested restricted stock awards are summarized as follows:

Weighted-Average
Range of Grant-Date Grant-Date Fair

Nonvested Shares Shares Fair Value Value

Balance, fiscal yearend 2005. ... .. ............... 1,645,292 $12.01 - 24.83 $19.15
Granted. . . ... ... e e 970,877 2431 24.31
Vested . . . e e (405,026) 12.01 - 24,31 12.54
Forfeited . . .. ... ... .. . (70,512) 1892 - 24.31 22.78
Balance, fiscal yearend 2006. . ... .. ... ... ... ..... 2,140,631 18.92 . 24383 22.62
Granted. ... ... o e 990,278 22.11 22.11
Vested. . .. o e s (532,352) 18.92 - 24.31 20.00
Forfeited . .. ... ... . i e (134,658) 18.92 - 24.31 22.76
Balance, fiscal yearend 2007 . ... ................. 2,463,899 22.11 - 2431 22.96

The weighted-average fair value (at the date of grant) for restricted stock awards granted in fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $22.11, $24.31, and $22.55, respectively. We recognized compensation expense of
$18.0 million ($11.8 million net of tax), $14.5 miltion ($9.1 million net of tax), and $10.2 millicn ($6.5 million
net of tax) in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related to restricted stock award grants. In
addition, we recognized an acceleration of vesting of certain restricted stock awards of $2.0 million related to
our U.S. strategic realignment. This amount is recorded in “Special charges” in fiscal year 2006 in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. The fair value of restricted stock awards that vested during fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $10.6 million, $9.3 million and $12.0 million, respectively.

We grant restricted stock units to key members of management in CEE. In fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005, we granted 83,675, 72,900 and 78,440 restricted stock units, respectively, at a weighted average fair
value of $22.11, $24.31 and $22.52, respectively, on the date of grant. We recognized compensation expense
of $3.5 million, $1.0 million and $0.6 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related to
restricted stock unit grants, There are currently 227,765 restricted stock units outstanding as of the end of
fiscal year 2007, and no restricted stock units vested during fiscal years 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), cash retained as a result of excess tax benefits relating to stock-
based compensation is presented in cash flows from financing activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. Previously, cash retained as a result of excess tax benefits was presented in cash flows from operating
activities. Tax benefits resulting from stock-based compensation deductions in excess of amounts reported for
financial reporting purposes were $12.5 million and $6.8 million during fiscal years 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

As of the end of fiscal year 2007, there was $21.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of
estimated forfeitures of $2.2 million, related to nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements. This
compensation cost is expected to be recognized over the next 1.8 years.

In periods prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we used the intrinsic value method of accounting
for our stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees.” No stock-based employee compensation cost for options was reflected in net
income, as all options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock
on the date of grant. Compensation expense for restricted stock awards and restricted stock units was reflected
in net income, and this expense was recognized ratably over the awards’ vesting period. The following table
illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share had compensation expense been recognized based
upon the estimated fair value on the grant date of the awards in accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
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for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion — Transition and Disclosure” (in millions, except per share data):

2005
Net income, 8 TEPOMEA . . . . oo v vttt vt e e et s e e et $194.7
Add: total stock-based compensation expense included in net income as reported, net of tax. .. .. 6.8
Deduct: total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all
options and restricted SHOCK, nEL Of 1AX. .. ..ot {9.3)
Pro forma NELANCOME . o . v\ vt et et e et e e it ia s o e s s $192.2
Earnings per share:
Basic:  ASTEPOMEU . . ..\ o\ et s ettt et $ 145
PrO 0TIl « & o oot e e ettt e e e $ 143
Diluted: ASTEPOMEd . .« ..ottt $ 142
PRO FOTIIA « o vt et ettt et i r e et e e e e $ 140

In connection with the merger with the former PepsiAmericas, we converted former PepsiAmericas
warrants into warrants to acquire shares of our stock. The warrants were exercisable originally by Dakota
Holdings, LLC, PepsiCo and V. Suarez & Co., Inc. for the purchase of 311,470, 65,658, and 94,282 shares,
respectively, of our common stock at $24.79 per share, anytime until January 17, 2006. None of these warrants
were exercised by the expiration date.

18. Shareholder Rights Plan and Preferred Stock

On May 20, 1999, we adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend of one preferred share
purchase right (a “Right™) for each outstanding share of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share. The
dividend was paid on June 11, 1999 to the shareholders of record on that date. Each Right entitles the
registered holder to purchase from us one one-hundredth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a price of $61.25 per one one-hundredth of a share of such
Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment. The Rights will become exercisable if someone buys 15 percent or
more of our common stock or following the commencement of, or announcement of an intention to
commence, a tender or exchange offer to acquire 15 percent or more of our common stock. In addition, if
someone buys 15 percent or more of our common stock, each right will entitle its holder (other than that
buyer) to purchase, at the Right’s $61.25 purchase price, a number of shares of our common stock having a
market value of twice the Right’s $61.25 exercise price. If we are acquired in a merger, each Right will entitle
its holder to purchase, at the Right’s $61.25 purchase price, a number of the acquiring company’s common
shares having a market value at the time of twice the Right’s exercise price. The plan was subsequently
amended on August 18, 2000 in connection with the merger agreement with the former PepsiAmericas. The
amendment to the rights agreement provides that:

» None of Pohlad Companies, any affiliate of Pohlad Companies, Robert C. Pohlad, affiliates of Robert
C. Pohlad or the former PepsiAmericas will be deemed an “Acquiring Person” (as defined in the rights
agreement) solely by virtue of (1) the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger
agreement, (2) the acquisition by Dakota Holdings, LLC of shares of our common stock in connection
with the merger, or (3) the acquisition of shares of our common stock permitied by the Pohlad
shareholder agreement;
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* Dakota Holdings, LL.C will not be deemed an “Acquiring Person” (as defined in the rights agreement)
so long as it is owned solely by Robert C. Pohlad, affiliates of Robert C. Pohlad, PepsiCo and/or
affiliates of PepsiCo; and

+ A “Distribution Date” (as defined in the rights agreement} will not occur solely by reason of the
execution, delivery and performance of the merger agreement or the consummation of any of the
transactions contemplated by such merger agreement.

Prior to the acquisition of 15 percent or more of our stock, the Rights can be redeemed by the Board of
Directors for one cent per Right. Qur Board of Directors also is authorized to reduce the thresheld to
10 percent. The Rights will expire on May 20, 2009. The Rights do not have voting or dividend rights, and
until they become exercisable, they have no dilutive effect on our per-share earnings.

We have 12.5 million authorized shares of Preferred Stock. There is no Preferred Stock issued or
outstanding.
19. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Net cash provided by operating activities reflected cash payments and receipts for interest and income
taxes as follows (in millions):

2007 2006 20058
IteTest paild . - .. o e e e $1044 31057 § 913
Interest received . . . . L 31 3.9 3.7
Income taxes paid. . . ... ... .. e 115.5 87.7 102.5
Income tax refunds . . .. ... e e e 1.9 0.1 13.6

20. Environmental and Other Commitments and Contingencies

Current Operations. 'We maintain compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations relating
to materials used in production and to the discharge of wastes, and other laws and regulations relating to the
protection of the environment. The capital costs of such management and compliance, including the
modification of existing plants and the installation of new manufacturing processes, are not material to our
continuing operations.

We are defendants in lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course of business, none of which is expected to
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, although amounts recorded in any given period could
be material to the results of operations or cash flows for that period.

We participate in a number of trustee-managed multi-employer pension and health and welfare plans for
employees covered under collective bargaining agreements. Several factors, including unfavorable investment
performance. changes in demographics and increased benefits to participants could result in potential funding
deficiencies, which could cause us to make higher future contributions to these plans.

Discontinued Operations — Remediation. Under the agreement pursuant to which we sold our subsid-
iartes, Abex Corporation and Pneumo Abex Corporation {collectively, “Pneumo Abex™), in 1988 and a
subsequent settlement agreement entered into in September 1991, we have assumed indemnification obliga-
tions for certain environmental liabilities of Pneumno Abex, after any insurance recoveries. Pneumo Abex has
been and is subject to a number of environmental cleanup proceedings, including responsibilities under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and other related federal and state
laws regarding release or disposal of wastes at on-site and off-site locations. In some proceedings, federal,
state and local government agencies are involved and other major corporations have been named as potentially
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responsible parties. Pneumo Abex is also subject to private claims and lawsuits for remediation of properties
previously owned by Pneumo Abex and its subsidiaries.

There is an inherent uncertainty in assessing the total cost to investigate and remediate a given site. This
is because of the evolving and varying nature of the remediation and allocation process. Any assessment of
expenses is more speculative in an early stage of remediation and is dependent upon a number of variables
beyond the control of any party. Furthermore, there are often timing considerations, in that a portion of the
expense incurred by Pneumo Abex, and any resulting obligation of ours to indemnify Pneumo Abex, may not
occur for a number of years,

In fiscal year 2001, we investigated the use of insurance products to mitigate risks related to our
indemnification obligations under the 1988 agreement, as amended. We oversaw a comprehensive review of
the former facilities operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex. Advances in the techniques of retrospective risk
evaluation and increased experience (and therefore available data) at our former facilities made this compre-
hensive review possible. The review was completed in fiscal year 2001 and was updated in fiscal year 2005.

During fiscal year 2007, we recorded a charge of $2.1 million, net of taxes, related to revised estimates
for environmental remediation, legal and related administrative costs. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we
had $40.2 million accrued to cover potential indemnification obligations, compared to $60.3 million recorded
as of the end of fiscal year 2006. The decrease was primarily due to payments made during the year for
remediation activities, legal and administrative fees and settlement costs or negotiations. This indemnification
obligation includes costs associated with approximately 15 sites in various stages of remediation or
negotiations. At the present time, the most significant remaining indemnification obligation is associated with
the Willits site, as discussed below, while no other single site has significant estimated remaining costs
associated with it. Of the total amount accrued, $19.5 million and $26.2 million were classified as a current
liability as of the end of fiscal year 2007 and 2006, respectively. The amounts exclude possible insurance
recoveries and are determined on an undiscounted cash flow basis. The estimated indemnification liabilities
include expenses for the investigation and remediation of identified sites, payments to third parties for claims
and expenses (including product liability and toxic tort claims), administrative expenses, and the expenses of
on-going evaluations and litigation. We expect a significant portion of the accrued liabilities will be spent
during the next five years.

Included in our indemnification obligations is financial exposure related to certain remedial actions
required at a facility that manufactured hydraulic and related equipment in Willits, California. Various
chemicals and metals contaminate this site. A final consent decree was issued in August 1997 and amended in
December 2000 in the case of the People of the State of California and the City of Willits, California v. Remco
Hydraulics, Inc. The final consent decree established a trust (the “Willits Trust™) which is obligated to
investigate and clean up this site. We are currently funding the Willits Trust and the investigation and interim
remediation costs on a year-to-year basis as required in the final amended consent decree. We have accrued
$15.4 million for future remediation and trust administration costs, with a majority of this amount to be spent
over the next several years.

Although we have certain indemnification obligations for environmental liabilities at a number of sites
other than the site discussed above, including Superfund sites, it is not anticipated that additional expense at
any specific site will have a material effect on us. At some sites, the volumetric contribution for which we
have an obligation has been estimated and other large, financially viable parties are responsible for substantial
portions of the remainder. In our opinion, based upon information currently available, the ultimate resolution
of these claims and litigation, including potential environmental exposures, and considering amounts already
accrued, should not have a material effect on our financial condition, although amounts recorded in a given
period could be material to our results of operations or cash flows for that period.
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Discontinued Operations — Insurance. During fiscal year 2002, as part of a comprehensive program
concemning environmental liabilities related to the former Whitman Corporation subsidiaries, we purchased
new insurance coverage related to the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and
its subsidiaries. In addition, a trust, which was established in 2000 with the proceeds from an insurance
settlement (the “Trust”), purchased insurance coverage and funded coverage for remedial and other costs
(“Finite Funding”) related to the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and its
subsidiaries.

Essentially all of the assets of the Trust were expended by the Trust in connection with the purchase of
the insurance coverage, the Finite Funding and related expenses. These actions were taken to fund remediation
and related costs associated with the sites previously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and
its subsidiaries and to protect against additional future costs in excess of our self-insured retention. The
original amount of self-insured retention (the amount we must pay before the insurance carrier is obligated to
begin payments) was $114.0 million of which $50.2 million has been eroded, leaving a remaining self-insured
retention of $63.8 million at the end of fiscal year 2007. The estimated range of aggregate exposure related
only to the remediation costs of such environmental liabilities is approximately $20 million to $45 million. We
had accrued $23.7 million as of the end of fiscal year 2007 for remediation costs, which is our best estimate
of the contingent liabilities related to these environmental matters. The Finite Funding may be used to pay a
portion of the $23.7 million and thus reduces our future cash obligations. Amounts recorded in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets related to Finite Funding were $11.5 million and $13.7 million as of the end of
fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, and were recorded in “Other assets,” net of $4.7 miilion and
$4.2 million recorded in “Other current assets,” as of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In addition, we had recorded other receivables of $2.6 mitlion and $7.8 million as of the end of fiscal
years 2007 and 2006, respectively, for future probable amounts to be received from insurance companies and
other responsible parties. These amounts were recorded in “Other current assets™ as of the end of fiscal year
2007 and “Other assets” as of the end of fiscal year 2006 in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Of this total, no
portion of the receivable was reflected as current as of the end of fiscal year 2006.

On May 31, 2005, Cooper Industries, LLC (“Cooper”) filed and later served a lawsuit against us, Pneumo
Abex, LLC, and the Trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee™), captioned Cooper Industries, LLC v. PepsiAmericas,
Inc., et al., Case No. 05 CH 09214 (Cook Cty. Cir. Ct.). The claims involve the Trust and insurance policy
described above. Cooper asserts that it was entitled to access $34 million that previously was in the Trust and
was used to purchase the insurance policy. Cooper claims that Trust funds should have been distributed for
underlying Pneumo Abex asbestos claims indemnified by Cooper. Cooper complains that it was deprived of
access to money jn the Trust because of the Trustee’s decision to use the Trust funds to purchase the insurance
policy described above. Pneumo Abex, LLC, the corporate successor to our prior subsidiary, has been
dismissed from the suit.

During the second quarter of 2006, the Trustee’s motion to dismiss, in which we had joined, was granted
and three counts against us based on the use of Trust funds were dismissed with prejudice, as were all counts
against the Trustee, on the grounds that Cooper lacks standing to pursue these counts because it is not a
beneficiary under the Trust. We then filed a separate motion to dismiss the remaining counts against us, Our
motion was granted during the second quarter of 2006 and all remaining counts against us were dismissed
with prejudice. Cooper subsequently filed a notice of appeal with regard to all rulings by the court dismissing
the counts against us and the Trustee. Prior to any oral argument, the appellate court on September 7, 2007
issued an opinion affirming the trial court’s opinion. Cooper subsequently filed motion papers asking the
Ilinois Supreme Court to accept a discretionary appeal of the rulings. The Trustee then filed an opposition
brief explaining why the Illinois Supreme Court should not allow another appeal, and we joined in that brief.
On November 29, 2007, the Supreme Court of Illinois denied Cooper’s petition for leave to appeal the
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appellate court’s September 7, 2007 ruling. Cooper has until February 27, 2008 to file a petition for certiorari
seeking discretionary review by the United States Supreme Court.

Discontinued Operations — Product Liability and Toxic Tort Claims. We also have certain indemnifi-
cation obligations related to product liability and toxic tort claims that might emanate out of the 1988
agreement with Pneumo Abex. Other companies not owned by or associated with us also are responsible to
Pneumo Abex for the financial burden of all asbestos product liability claims filed against Pneumo Abex after
a certain date in 1998, except for certain claims indemnified by us.

In fiscal year 2004, we noted that three mass-filed lawsuits accounted for thousands of c¢laims for which
Preumo Abex claimed indemnification. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, these and other related
claims were resolved for an amount we viewed as reasonable given all of the circumstances and consistent
with our prior judgments as to valuation. We have received year-end 2007 claim statistics from law firms and
Pneumo Abex which reflect the resolution of those claims and the remaining cases for which Pneumo Abex
claims indemnification from PepsiAmericas. After giving effect to the noted resolution of prior mass-filed
claims, there are less than 7,500 claims for which indemnification is claimed at the end of fiscal year 2007, Of
these claims, approximately 5,500 are filed in federal court and are subject to orders issued by the Multi-
District Litigation panel, which effectively stay all federal claims, subject to specific requests to activate a
particular claim or a discrete group of claims. The remaining cases are in state court and some are in “pleural
registries” or other similar classifications that cause a case not to be allowed to go to trial unless there is a
specific showing as to a particular plaintiff. Over 50 percent of the state court claims were filed prior to or in
1998. Prior to 1980, sales ceased for the asbestos-containing product claimed to have generated the largest
subset of the open cases, and, therefore, we expect a decreasing rate of individual claims for that subset of
cases. We oversee monitoring of the defense of the underlying claims that are or may be indemnifiable by us.

As of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, we had accrued $4.0 million and $5.5 million, respectively,
related to product liability. These accruals primarily relate to probable asbestos claim settlements and legal
defense costs. We also have additional amounts accrued for legal and other costs associated with obtaining
insurance recoveries for previously resolved and currently open claims and their related costs. These amounts
are included in the total liabilities of $40.2 million accrued as of the end of fiscal year 2007. In addition to the
known and probable asbestos claims, we may be subject to additional asbestos claims that are possible for
which no reserve had been established as of the end of fiscal year 2007. These additional reasonably possible
claims are primarily asbestos related and the aggregate exposure related to these possible claims is estimated
to be in the range of $4 million to $17 million. These amounts are undiscounted and do not reflect any
insurance recoveries that we will pursue from insurers for these claims.

In addition, three lawsuits have been filed in California, which name several defendants including certain
of our prior subsidiaries. The lawsuits allege that we and our former subsidiaries are liable for personal injury
and/or property damage resulting from environmental contamination at the Willits facility. There are approx-
imately 125 personal injury plaintiffs in the lawsuits seeking an unspecified amount of damages, punitive
damages, injunctive relief and medical monitoring damages. We are actively defending the lawsuits. At this
time, we do not believe these lawsuits are material to our business or financial condition.

We have other indemnification obligations related to product liability matters. In our opinion, based on
the information currently available and the amounts already accrued, these claims should not have a material
effect on our financial condition.

We also participate in and monitor insurance-recovery efforts for the claims against Pneumo Abex.
Recoveries from insurers vary year by year because certain insurance policies exhaust and other insurance
policies become responsive. Recoveries also vary due to delays in litigation, limits on payments in particular
periods, and because insurers sometimes seck to avoid their obligations based on positions that we believe are
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improper. We, assisted by our consultants, monitor the financial ratings of insurers that issued responsive
coverage and the claims submitted by Pneumo Abex.

Advertising commitments and exclusivity rights. We have entered into various long-term agreements
with our customers in which we pay the customers for the exclusive right to sell our products in certain
venues. We have also committed to pay certain customers for advertising and marketing programs in various
long-term contracts. These agreements typically range from one to ten years. As of the end of fiscal year
2007, we have committed approximately $75.1 million related to such programs and advertising commitments.

Purchase obligations. In addition, PepsiCo has entered into various raw material contracts on our behalf
pursuant to a shared services agreement in which PepsiCo provides procurement services to us. Certain raw
material contracts obligate us to purchase minimum volumes. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, we had total
purchase obligations of $27.8 million related to such raw material contracts.

21. Segment Reporting

We operate in one industry located in three geographic areas — U.S., CEE and the Caribbean. We operate
in 19 states in the U.S. Internationally, we operate in Poland, Hungary, the Czech Republic, Republic of
Slovakia, Romania, Ukraine, Puerto Rico, Jamaica, the Bahamas, and Trinidad and Tobago. We have
distribution rights in Moldova, Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania which is recorded in the CEE geographic
segment and Barbados, which was recorded in the Caribbean geographic segment. Net sales and operating
income from the Sandora acquisition since the date Sandora was consolidated were included in the CEE
geographic segment in the table below.

Operating income is exclusive of net interest expense, other miscellaneous income and expense items,
and income taxes. Operating income is inclusive of net special charges of $6.3 million, $13.7 million and
$2.5 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively (see Note 6 for further discussion).

In fiscal year 2005, U.S. operating income was impacted by a gain of $16.6 million from the settlement
of a class action lawsuit (see Note 5 for further discussion). Also impacting U.S. operating income was
$1.4 million of expense recorded for the early termination of a real estate lease and $6.1 million of expense
related to lease exit costs as a result of the relocation of our corporate headquarters in Chicago.

Non-operating assets are principally cash and cash equivalents, investments, property and miscellaneous
other assets, Long-lived assets represent net property, investments, net intangible assets and other miscella- I
neous assets. I

Selected financial information related to our geographic segments is shown below (in millions):

Net Sales Operating Income
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

U $3384.9 $32458  $3,156.1 $331.6  $330.1 $387.7
CEE. ... i 8494 484.1 343.5 100.5 20.9 1.5
Caribbean. . ............. ... ... .... 245.2 242.5 2264 4.0 5.0 4.2
Total. .. ........ .. $4479.5 $3,9724  $3,726.0 436.1 356.0 3934
Interest expense, net . .. ............... 109.2 101.3 89.9
Other expense, net . ... ... ..o uue... 0.6 1.7 5.0
Income before income taxes, minority

interest and equity in net earnings of

nonconsolidated companies . .......... $3263 32430  $298.5

F-40




PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Capital Depreciation
Investments and Amortization
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
U S e e $1904 $129.6 $1429 $1482 $151.8 $1465
CEE . . it e e e 56.6 249 19.4 42.7 278 25.1
Caribbean . ... ... .ot 17.6 14.8 18.0 12.6 11.6 10.8
Total operating .. ...........ouieieninnn $2646 $1693  $180.3 203.5 191.2 182.4
Non-operating. . . . ... vit et 0.9 2.2 2.3
Total . oo e e $2044 $1934 $184.7
Assets Long-Lived Asseis
2007 2006 2007 2006
U, e e $3,241.5 $3,205.8 $3,001.9 $2,953.2
CEE. ... . i e e 1,603.8 590.3 1,223.2 396.8
Caribbean. ... ...... .. o 215.8 215.7 136.7 133.7
Total operating . .. ..o, 5,061.1 4,011.8 4,361.8 3,483.7
NOD-OPErating. . . . ..o v vv i i ae e e 246.9 195.6 24.1 48.4
Total. ... ..o e $5,308.0 $4207.4 $43859 $3,532.1

22. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with PepsiCo

PepsiCo is considered a related party due to the nature of our franchise relationship and PepsiCo’s
ownership interest in us. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, PepsiCo beneficially owned approximately
44 percent of PepsiAmericas’ outstanding common stock. These shares are subject to a shareholder agreement
with our company. During fiscal year 2007, approximately 90 percent of our total net sales were derived from
the sale of Pepsi-Cola products. We have entered into transactions and agreements with PepsiCo from time to
time, and we expect to enter into additional transactions and agreements with PepsiCo in the future. Material
agreements and transactions between our company and PepsiCo are described below.

Pepsi franchise agreements are subject to termination only upon failure to comply with their terms.
Termination of these agreements can occur as a result of any of the following: our bankruptcy or insolvency;
change of control of greater than 15 percent of any class of our voting securities; untimely payments for
concentrate purchases; quality control failure; or faiture to carry out the approved business plan communicated
to PepsiCo.

Bottling Agreements and Purchases of Concentrate and Finished Product. We purchase concentrates
from PepsiCo and manufacture, package, distribute and sell cola and non-cola beverages under various boitling
agreements with PepsiCo. These agreements give us the right to manufacture, package, sell and distribute
beverage products of PepsiCo in both bottles and cans and fountain syrup in specified territories. These
agreements include a Master Bottling Agreement and a Master Fountain Syrup Agreement for beverages
bearing the “Pepsi-Cola” and “‘Pepsi” trademarks, including Diet Pepsi in the United States. The agreements
also include bottling and distribution agreements for non-cola products in the United States, and international
bottling agreements for countries outside the United States. These agreements provide PepsiCo with the ability
to set prices of concentrates, as well as the terms of payment and other terms and conditions under which we
purchase such concentrates. Concentrate purchases from PepsiCo included in cost of goods sold totaled
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$892.4 million, $829.8 million and $763.2 million for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In
addition, we bottle water under the “Aquafina” trademark pursuant to an agreement with PepsiCo that provides
for payment of a royalty fee to PepsiCo, which totaled $54.3 million, $50.2 million and $36.9 million for the
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and was included in cost of goods sold. We also purchase
finished beverage products from PepsiCo and certain of its affiliates, including tea, concentrate and finished
beverage products from a Pepsi/Lipton partnership, as well as finished beverage products from a PepsiCo/
Starbucks partnership. Such purchases are reflected in cost of goods sold and totaled $210.0 million,

$188.0 million and $161.0 million for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Bottler Incentives and Other Support Arrangements, We share a business objective with PepsiCo of
increasing availability and consumption of Pepsi-Cola beverages. Accordingly, PepsiCo provides us with
various forms of bottler incentives to promote its brands. The level of this support is negotiated regularly and
can be increased or decreased at the discretion of PepsiCo. To support volume and market share growth, the
bottler incentives cover a variety of initiatives, including direct marketplace, shared media and advertising
support. Worldwide bottler incentives from PepsiCo totaled approximately $230.2 million, $226.8 million, and
$203.3 million for the fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005. There are no conditions or requirements that
could result in the repayment of any support payments we received.

In accordance with EITF Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (including a Reseller) for Certain
Consideration Received from a Vendor,” bottler incentives that are directly attributable to incremental expenses
incurred are reported as either an increase to net sales or a reduction to SD&A expenses, commensurate with
the recognition of the related expense. Such bottler incentives include amounts received for direct support of
advertising commitments and exclusivity agreements with various customers. All other bottler incentives are
recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold when the related products are sold based on the agreements
with vendors. Such bottler incentives primarily include base level funding amounts which are fixed based on
the previous year's volume and variable amounts that are reflective of the current year's volume performance.

Based on information received from PepsiCo, PepsiCo also provided indirect marketing support to our
marketplace, which consisted primarily of media expenses. This indirect support is not reflected or included in
our Consolidated Financial Statements, as these amounts were paid by PepsiCo on our behalf to third parties.

Manufacturing and National Account Services. We provide manufacturing services to PepsiCo in
connection with the production of certain finished beverage products, and also provide certain manufacturing,
delivery and equipment maintenance services to PepsiCo’s national account customers. Net amounts paid or
payable by PepsiCo to us for these services were $19.6 million, $19.3 million, and $17.2 million for fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Sandora Joint Venture. During fiscal year 2007, we entered into a joint venture agreement with
PepsiCo to purchase the outstanding common stock of Sandora. We hold a 60 percent interest in the joint
venture and PepsiCo holds a 40 percent interest. The joint venture financial statements have been consolidated
in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Transactions. PepsiCo provides procurement services to us pursuant to a shared services
agreement. Under this agreement, PepsiCo acts as our agent and negotiates with various suppliers the cost of
certain raw materials by entering into raw material contracts on our behalf. The raw material contracts obligate
us to purchase certain minimum volumes. PepsiCo also collects and remits to us certain rebates from the
various suppliers related to our procurement volume. In addition, PepsiCo executes certain derivative contracts
on our behalf and in accordance with our hedging strategies. In fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we paid
$3.9 million, $3.9 million, and $3.4 million, respectively, to PepsiCo for such services.

Net amounts paid to PepsiCo and its affiliates for snack food products recorded in cost of goods sold
were $17.6 million, $12.5 million and $11.4 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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During fiscal year 2003, we received payment of $2.1 million related to the settlement of the fructose
lawsuit for the former Heartland territories, which we acquired in 1999. The payment was originally made to
PepsiCo out of the settlement trust, and then the funds were remitted to us by PepsiCo. The amount is
included in “Fructose settlement income” on the Consolidated Statement of Income.

As of the end of fiscal years 2007 and 2006, net amounts due from PepsiCo were $3.1 million and
$24.2 million, respectively.

In summary, the Consolidated Statements of Income include the following income and (expense)
transactions with PepsiCo (in millions}):

2007 2006 2005
Net sales:
Bottler INCENLIVES . . . v vttt it e e e $ 329 § 306 $ 329
Manufacturing and national account services ................ 19.6 19.3 17.2

$§ 525 § 499 § 50.1

Cost of goods sold:

Purchases of CONCENITALE . . .. . v vt in e i v iae e $(892.4) $(829.8) $(763.2)
Purchases of finished beverage products . . . ............... .. (210.0) (188.0) (161.0)
Purchases of finished snack food products . ................. (17.6) {12.5) (11.4)
Bottler INCENIVES. . o v v e e et et e e e 180.7 182.3 156.4
Aquafina royalty fee ........ ... . i (54.3) (50.2) (36.9)
PIrOCUIEMENE SEIVICES « & v v v v e vt e v eea s cne e aanns s {3.9) 3.9 3.4)

$(997.5) $(902.1) $(819.5)

Selling, delivery and administrative expenses:
BOttler INCENIVES . . . o v vt e e et ettt eaae e $ 166 3 139 $ 140
Purchases of advertising materials . ....................... 2.0) (1.8) (2.1)

$ 146 $ 121 $ 119

Transactions with Bottlers in Which PepsiCo Holds an Equity Interest. We sell finished beverage
products to other bottlers, including The Pepsi Bottling Group, Inc. and Pepsi Bottling Ventures LLC, bottlers
in which PepsiCo owns an equity interest. These sales occur in instances where the proximity of our
production facilities to the other bottlers’ markets or lack of manufacturing capability, as well as other
economic considerations, make it more efficient or desirable for the other bottlers to buy finished product from
us. Our sales to other bottlers, including those in which PepsiCo owns an equity interest, were approximately
$213.0 million, $170.1 million, and $128.8 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Our
purchases from such other bottlers were $0.3 million, $2.0 million, and $0.2 million in fiscal years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.

Agreements and Relationships with Dakota Holdings, LLC, Starquest Securities, LLC and Mr. Pohlad

Under the terms of the PepsiAmericas merger agreement, Dakota Holdings, LLC (“Dakota”), a Delaware
limited liability company whose members at the time of the PepsiAmericas merger included PepsiCo and Pohlad
Companics, became the owner of 14,562,970 shares of our common stock, including 377,128 shares purchasable
pursuant to the exercise of a warrant. In November 2002, the members of Dakota entered into a redemption
agreement pursuant to which the PepsiCo membership interests were redeemed in exchange for certain assets of
Dakota. As a result, Dakota became the owner of 12,027,557 shares of our common stock, including
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311,470 shares purchasable pursuant to the exercise of a warrant. In June 2003, Dakota converted from a
Delaware limited liability company to a Minnesota limited liability company pursuant to an agreement and plan
of merger. In January 2006, Starquest Securities, LL.C (*Starquest”), a Minnesota limited liability company,
obtained the shares of our common stock previously owned by Dakota, including the shares of common stock
purchasable upon exercise of the above-referenced warrant, pursuant to a contribution agreement. Such warrant
expired unexercised in January 2006, resulting in Starquest holding 11,716,087 shares of our commeon stock. In
February 2008, Starquest acquired an additional 400,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to open market
purchases, bringing its holdings to 12,116,087 shares of common stock, or 9.4 percent, as of February 22, 2008.
The shares held by Starquest are subject to a sharcholder agreement with our company.

Mr. Pohlad, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is the Presideat and the owner of one-third of the
capital stock of Pohlad Companies. Pohlad Companies is the controlling member of Dakota. Dakota is the
controlling member of Starquest. Pohlad Companies may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the
securities beneficially owned by Dakota and Starquest and Mr. Pohlad may be deemed to have beneficial
ownership of the securities beneficially owned by Starquest, Dakota and Pohlad Companies.

Transactions with Pohlad Companies

In fiscal year 2005, we entered into an Aircraft Joint Ownership Agreement with Pohlad Companies for a
one-eighth interest in an aircraft and paid Pohlad Companies approximately $1.7 million. SD&A expenses
associated with the aircraft in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005 were $0.1 million, $0.2 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.

23. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows (in millions):

Foreign Unrealized Accumulated
Currency Unrealized (Losses) Pension and Other
Translation Gains (Losses} Gains on Postretirement Comprehensive
Adjustment on Investments Derivatives Liability Adjustment Income (Loss)
As of fiscal year end 2004 . . ... .. .. $ 358 $12.8 $1.2 $(33.8) $16.0
Other comprehensive loss .. ........ (23.5) (8.7 (3.6) {3.3) (41.1)
As of fiscal yearend 2005 . . . ... . .. 12.3 4.1 (2.4) (39.1) (25.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss) . . . 40.7 {4.1) (0.9) 11.1 46.8
As of fiscal year end 2006 . . .. ... .. 530 — (3.3) (28.0) 21.7
Other comprehensive income (loss) . . . 66.6 {0.3) 0.6 10.2 711
As of fiscal year end 2007 .. ... .. .. $119.6 $(0.3) $(2.7) $(17.8) $98.38

Unrealized gains {losses) on investments are shown net of reclassifications into net income of ${2.5) mil-
lion and $6.5 million in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively. Unrealized (losses) gains on derivatives are
shown net of reclassifications into net income of $0.8 million, $(0.8)} million, and $7.1 million in fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively, Unrealized losses on pension and other postretirement costs are shown net
of reclassificattons into net income of $1.5 miltion, $2.3 million, and $1.5 million, respectively.

Unrealized gains (losses) on investments are shown net of income tax benefit of $0.2 million, $2.4 million,
and $5.2 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Unrealized {(losses) gains on derivatives are
shown net of income tax (expense) benefit of $(0.3) million, $0.5 million, and $2.2 million in fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Unrecognized pension and postretirement costs are shown net of income
tax (expense) benefit of $(5.3) million, $(6.6) million, and $3.2 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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24, Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
{(in millions, except per share data)

First Second Third Fourth Fiscal
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Fiscal Year 2007:
Netsales. .. oo .inn e $960.2  $1,1989 $1,183.1 $1,137.3  $4,479.5
Gross profit. .. . ..o oein i s $384.2 $ 4971 § 4839 § 458.1 $1,8233
NEtIICOME + o v vve s v v et e emee e eaenenns $206 $ 780 $ 715 $ 420 $ 2121
Weighted average common shares:
Basic........coviiiiin N 126.2 125.7 126.6 127.9 126.7
Incremental effect of stock options and awards . . . 1.8 1.9 2.4 2.6 2.5
Diluted . ... ... 128.0 127.6 129.0 130.5 129.2
Earnings per share:
Basic
income from continuing operations . . . . ...... $016 $ 064 $ 056 § 033 § 1.69
Loss from discontinued operations .......... —_ (0.02) — — (0.02)
Total ... ...t $016 $ 062 $ 056 3 033 $ 167
Diluted
Income from continuing operations. ......... $016. § 063 §$ 055 § 032 § 166
Loss from discontinued operations .. ........ — (0.02) — — {0.02)
Total ....... ..o $016 $ 061 $ 055 §$§ 032 § 164
Fiscal Year 2006:
Netsales. .. ... eiriet i $848.5 $1,065.2 $1,064.2 $ 9945 $39724
Gross profit. .. ... ..ot $3478 % 4295 $ 4336 $ 3972 $1,608.1
NetiNCOME . o v vt i e i e e s $141 % 650 § 531 $ 261 § 1583
Weighted average common shares:
BasiC. .. i e e 130.3 127.7 126.6 126.9 127.9
Incremental effect of stock options and awards . . . 2.1 1.9 1.8 1.7 1.9
Diluted ... ..o _1324 129.6 128.4 128.6 129.8
Earnings per share:
BasiC. . i v e e $0I11 $ 051 §$ 042 § 021 3 124
Diluted . ...t e $011 $ 050 $ 041 $ 020 $ 122

Quarterly and fult year computations of basic and diluted earnings per share are made independently. As
such, the summation of the quarterly amounts may not equal the total basic and diluted earnings per share

reported for the year,
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4.7

48
4.9
10.1

10.2

10.3

C 104

10.5

10.6
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-64292) filed on June 29, 2001).

By-Laws, as amended and restated on December 14, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on December 18, 2006).

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 20, 1999, to the Indenture dated as of January 15,
1993, between Whitman Corporation and The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-64292) filed on December 29, 2005).

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 1999, between Whitman Corporation and First Chicago
Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 001-15019) filed on May 25, 1999).

Amendment, as of August 18, 2000, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 1999, between
Whitrnan Corporation and First Chicago Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-46368) filed on
September 22, 2000).

Appointment of Successor Rights Agent, dated as of September 9, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. (001-15019) filed on March 28, 2003).

Indenture dated as of August 15, 2003 between PepsiAmericas, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank
Minnesota, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form $-3 (File No. 333-108164) filed on August 22, 2003}).

PepsiAmericas, Inc. Salaried 401(k) Plan (incorporated by reference to Post-Effective Amendment
No. | to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-64292) filed on
December 29, 2005).

PepsiAmericas, Inc. Hourly 401(k) Plan (incorporated by reference to Post-Effective Amendment
No. | to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-8 (File No. 333-64292) filed on
December 29, 2005).

Form of Debt Security (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-15019) filed on May 24, 2006).

Form of 5.75% Note due 2012 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019} filed on July 12, 2007).

Stock Incentive Plan, as amended through May 20, 1999 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019) filed on August 17, 1999).

PepsiAmericas, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, as Amended and Restated January 1,
2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019)
filed on March 6, 2006).

PepsiAmericas, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated Effective
January 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 001-15019) filed on March 15, 2004).

PepsiAmericas, [nc. Supplementat Pension Plan, as Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2001
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019) filed
on March 15, 2004).

2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended through February 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Definitive Schedule 14A (Proxy Statement) (File No. 001-15019) filed on March 12,
2004).

PepsiAmericas, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-46368) filed on December 21, 2000).

Pepsi-Cola Puerto Rico Bottling Company Qualified Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-46368) filed on December 21,
2000}.
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10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Description of Exhibit

Pepsi-Cola Puerto Rico Bottling Company Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No, 333-46368) filed on
December 21, 2000).

Form of Master Bottling Agreement between PepsiCo, Inc. and PepsiAmericas, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on March 25,
2002).

Form of Master Fountain Syrup Agreement between PepsiCo, Inc. and PepsiAmericas, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019} filed
on March 25, 2002).

Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement Dated as of May 24, 2002 among Pepsi-Cola
General Bottlers, Inc., Pepsi-Cola General Bottlers of Ohio, Inc., Pepsi-Cola General Bottlers of
Indiana, Inc., Pepsi-Cola General Bottlers of Wisconsin, Inc., Pepsi-Cola General Bottlers of Iowa,
Ine., lowa Vending, Inc., Marquette Bottling Works, Incorporated, Northern Michigan Vending, Inc.,
Delta Beverage Group, Inc. and Dakbev, LLC, as originators and Whitman Finance, Inc. as Buyer
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 00H-15019)
filed on August 11, 2004).

Amendment No. 3 to the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on February 25, 2005).

Form of Restricted Stock Award under the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on February 28,
2007).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference o the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on
February 28, 2007).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option under the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-36994) filed on

May 12, 2000).

Form of Incentive Stock Option under the Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on February 25,
2005.

Form of Restricted Stock Award under the Company’s Revised Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on February 25,
2005).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option under the Company’s Revised Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019) filed on
August 17, 1999).

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Pepsi-Cola Puerto Rico Bottling Company Non-Qualified
Stock Option Plan {incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-15019) filed on February 25, 2005).

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Pepsi-Cola Puerto Rico Bottling Company Qualified
Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-15019) filed on February 25, 2005).

Form of Agreement for Separation and Waiver under the PepsiAmericas Severance Policy
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-15019) filed
on February 28, 2007).

Second Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement by and between PepsiAmericas, Inc. and
PepsiCo., dated September 6, 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on September 7, 2005).

Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement by and between PepsiAmericas, inc., Pohlad
Companies and Robert C. Pohlad, dated September 6, 2005 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on September 7, 2005).
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23
24
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321
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Description of Exhibit

10b5-1 Repurchase Plan between PepsiAmericas, Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC, dated
February 28, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-15019) filed on March 1, 2006).

Underwriting Agreement by and among PepsiAmericas, Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC, and
J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., dated May 23, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on May 24, 2006).

U.S. $600,000,000 Five Year Credit Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2006, among PepsiAmericas, Inc.
as a borrower, certain initial lenders and initial issuing bank, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.V., as a
syndication agent, Bank of America, N.V. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
documentation agents, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as joint lead
arrangers, and Citibank, N.V., as agent for the lenders (incorporaled by reference to the Company’s
8-K (File No. 001-15019) filed on June 8, 2006).

Put and Call Option Agreement by and among PepsiAmericas, Inc., PepsiCo, Inc., Marina Bezzub
and Agne Tumenaite dated as of June 7, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019) filed on August 3, 2007).

Shareholder Agreement between PAS Luxembourg s.a.r.l. and Linkbay Limited (PepsiCo Cyprus) and
Sandora Holdings, B.V. dated as of August 14, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019) filed on November 1, 2007).

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement by and among PepsiAmericas, Inc., PepsiCo, Inc.,
Igor Yevgenovych Bezzub, and Raimondas Tumenas dated as of August 17, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019} filed on

November 1, 2007).

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement by and among PepsiAmericas, Inc., PepsiCo,
Sergiy Oleksandrovych Sypko, Olena Mykhailivna Sypko, Oleksiy Sergiyovich Sypko and Andriy
Sergiyovich Sypko dated as of August 17, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-15019) filed on November 1, 2007).

Underwriting Agreement by and among PepsiAmericas, Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as representatives of the several underwriters, dated July 11,
2007 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15019)
filed on July 12, 2007).

Statement of Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Subsidiaries of the Company.

Consent of KPMG, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Powers of Attorney.

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
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PEPSIAMERICAS, INC,

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENTS
(unaudited and in millions, except per share data)

In addition to the GAAP results provided in this Annual Report to Shareholders, we have provided certain
non-GAAP financial measurements, which include adjusted operating cash flow, adjusted return on invested
capital and adjusted comparisons, including adjusted diluted earnings per share. Reconciliation from GAAP
results to non-GAAP measurements are presented in the tables below.

Our management, as well as certain investors, use these non-GAAP measures to analyze our current and
expected future financial performance. These non-GAAP measures do not replace the presentation of our
GAAP financial results. These measures simply provide supplemental information to assist our management
and certain investors in analyzing our performance. We have provided this information to investors to enable
them to perform meaningful comparisons of past, present and future performance and as a means to better
understand the results of our core on-going operations.

Adjusted Operating Cash Flow. Adjusted operating cash flow is the primary measure that management
uses to monitor our cash flow performance, and therefore, management believes this information is useful to
investors. We define adjusted operating cash flow as our cash generated from operating activities of continuing
operations, plus proceeds from the sales of property and equipment, less capital investments and cash used in
discontinued operations, The costs of acquisitions are excluded from the calculation.

Adjusted operating cash flow is a measure of cash that is available for financing and other investing
activities, including discretionary distributions in the form of dividends, reduction of borrowings and
reinvestments in our business, as well as non-discretionary distributions. Such non-discretionary expenditures
include mandatory debt service requirements and other contractual cash obligations relating to our advertising
commitments and exclusivity rights, raw material purchase obligations and lease obligations. These contractual
obligations are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. This non-GAAP measure is provided as
supplemental information and should not be considered in lieu of the GAAP measures.

Adjusted operating cash flow can be defined as a formula as follows:

+ Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
— Capital investments

+ Proceeds from the sales of property and equipment

— Net operating cash flows used in discontinued operations
Adjusted operating cash flow

Adjusted operating cash flow in any one year may be affected by investment initiatives or by the timing
of routine cash receipts and disbursements. Qur capital spending for fiscal year 2007 was $264.6 million. Our
fiscal year 2007 adjusted operating cash flow was $187.7 million; this compares to adjusted operating cash
flow of $173.1 million and $246.7 million in fiscal years 2006 and 2003, respectively. The reconciliation to
the most comparable U.S. GAAP measurement is calculated as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations .. $433.5 $343.8 $4318

Capital investments . . . ...ttt it (264.6)  (169.3)  (180.3)
Proceeds from the sales of property and equipment. . ... ......... 29.2 9.7 53
Net operating cash flows used in discontinued operations . ... ... .. (10.4) (11.1) (10.1)

Adjusted operating cash flow . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... $1877 $173.1  $246.7




PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENTS
(unaudited and in millions, except per share data)

The GAAP measures of cash flows from investing and financing activities for the periods presented above
are presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Net cash used in investing activities. . .. ..................... $(920.4) 3(247.2) $(580.6)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . ... ......... $(585.9) 3(103.1) $198.6

Adjusted Return on Invested Capital. Our adjusted return on invested capital (“Adjusted ROIC™) is a
measure of how effectively we allocate our capital in our core operations, We also use Adjusted ROIC as part
of our initial capital spending and potential acquisition review processes to ensure that each capital dollar
spent achieves a certain hurdle rate of return.

In calculating Adjusted ROIC, management excludes the impact of the 53rd week, other (expense)
income, and discontinued operations. Management excludes these items because we do not consider them to
be components of Adjusted ROIC. The 53rd week represents an item that, due to our fiscal year, occurs every
five or six years. Discontinued operations represent items that we do not consider to be a component of our
ongoing core operations. Other {(expense) income, net of tax is excluded from the Adjusted ROIC calculation,
as this line item in the statements of income includes such items as realized and unrealized foreign currency
transaction gains and losses, which we do not consider to be components of our Adjusted ROIC. The impact
of these adjustments immaterially increases Adjusted ROIC in our three most recent fiscal years. There are
limitations in the use of Adjusted ROIC due to the subjective nature of items excluded by management in
calculating Adjusted ROIC. This non-GAAP Adjusted ROIC measure is provided as supplemental information
and should not be considered in lieu of the GAAP measure. Management uses Adjusted ROIC to measure how
effectively we are allocating capital in our core operations, and therefore, management believes this
information is useful to investors.

We define Adjusted ROIC as follows:
* Numerator (rolling 12-periods):

+ Net income

+ Amortization expense

+ Interest expense, net of tax

— Other (expense) income, net of tax

— Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
= Adjusted net operating profit after taxes

* Denominator (average 4 quarters):

+ Total assets

+ Accumulated amortization

— Cash

— Current liabilities, excluding short-term debt
= Other liabilities, excluding long-term debt
= Adjusted average invested capital

» Adjusted ROIC:
Adjusted net operating profit after taxes / Average adjusted invested capital

For the fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005, we had an Adjusted ROIC of 7.8 percent, 6.7 percent
and 7.7 percent, respectively. In fiscal years 2007 and 2006, Adjusted ROIC was negatively impacted by 10
and 30 basis points, respectively, from special charges. Excluding the impact of special charges, Adjusted




PEPSIAMERICAS, INC.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENTS
(unaudited and in millions, except per share data)

ROIC was 7.9 percent in fiscal year 2007, and 7.0 percent in fiscal year 2006. The reconciliation to the most
comparable U.S. GAAP measurements for the numerator and denominator are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Calculation of adjusted net operating profit afler taxes
Net ICOME . o o v vt e et et e e e e ae e $ 2122 % 1583 % 1947
Amortization eXpense . . ... .. ... .. 6.6 1.2 09
Interest expense, netof tax . ......... ... ... ... . ... .. 70.7 63.5 56.4
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. . ............ 2.1 — —
Otherexpense, netof tax. . . ..... ... ... ... ... oo..t. (0.4) (7.1) (3.1)
Adjusted net operating profit after taxes. . . ............... $ 2920 $ 2300 § 2551
Calculation of adjusted invested capital
Total A88ELS . . . .t it e e e e $5,308.0 $4,2074  $4,053.8
Accumulated amortization . . .. ...... .. ... o oL 263.8 257.3 256.1
Cash. . ... e (189.7) (93.1) (116.0)
Current liabilities, excluding short-term debt . ............. (565.00 (480.9) (431.6)
Other liabilities, excluding long-term debt . ............... (743.6) (418.8) (476.6)
Adjusted invested capital . . . . ..., .. ... o $4,073.5 $34719  $3,285.7
Average adjusted invested capital * ... . ... ... ... . L $3,7459 $3,4214  $3,294.5
Adjusted ROIC .. ....... ... ... .. .. ... . .. 7.8% 6.7 % 7.7%

*  Amounts represent the average of adjusted invested capital for each period-end for the four previous con-
secutive quarters of the fiscal year ends presented.

Adjusted Comparisons. In order to provide a supplemental comparison of current period results of
operations to prior periods, we have adjusted for and summarized the nature of certain transactions or events,
These adjustments relate to operating income, net income and diluted earnings per share. To calculate the
adjusted comparisons, management has excluded the marketable securities impairment, special charges relating
to various restructuring initiatives, fructose settlement income, the property tax refund, the loss on extinguish-
ment of debt, lease exit costs and various tax adjustments.

Management believes that the adjusted comparisons provide a supplemental view of operations that
excludes itemns that are unusual, infrequent or unrelated to the ongoing core operations. Management believes
these non-GAAP measures provide useful information to investors through the summarization of transactions
impacting the current period results of operations that are not necessarily indicative of our future results, nor
comparable with prior period results. These non-GAAP measures are provided as supplemental information,
and should not be considered in lieu of the GAAP measures. There are limitations in the use of adjusted
comparisons due to the subjective nature of items excluded by management in calculating adjusted
comparisons.

These supplemental comparisons are consistent with the manner in which management internally reviews
results of operations and evaluates performance in that management reviews the results of operations on both a
GAAP basis and using adjusted comparisons. Management does not use the adjusted comparisons in licu of
the comparable GAAP measures, but rather uses the adjusted comparisons to supplement its review of
operations.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENTS
{unaudited and in millions, except per share data)

We have provided the table below that summarizes the adjustments discussed above that impact
comparability of fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005. Details of the adjustment items can be found starting on
page 23 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating Diluted Earnings
Income Net Income Per Share
Fiscal year 2007, asreported ... .................. $436.1 $212.1 $1.64
Special charges. . ........ ... ... . ... . ... ... .. 6.3 4.0
Marketable securities impairment . ................ —_ 2.5
Giain on sale of non-core property . ................ — (6.5)
Fiscal year 2007, as adjusted . ... .................. $442.4 $212.1 $1.64*
Fiscal year 2006, as reported . . ................... $356.0 $1583 $1.22
Special charges. .. ...... .. ... ... ... ... 13.7 8.6
Marketable securities impairment .. ............. .. — 4.6
Fiscal year 2006, as adjusted . . .. .................. $369.7 3171.5 $1.32
Fiscal year 2005, asreported . .. .................. $393.4 $194.7 $1.42
Fructose settlement income . . .................... (16.6) (10.4)
Propertytax refund . . . .. ... ... . ... ... — (3.5
Othertax adjustments . . .. ..... ... ... ... ...... —_ (.1
Leaseexitcosts ........... ... .. ..., 6.1 38
Loss on extinguishment of debt, .. ................ — 3.5
Special charges. . .. ... ...... .. ... ... ... .. ..., 2.5 1.6
Fiscal year 2005, as adjusted . . . ................... $385.4 $188.6 $1.37

* Includes a 30.02 per share reduction related to discontinued operations.
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“or copies of annual reports, Forms 10-K
andd 10-Q and other PepsiAmericas
>ublications, please contact:

PeosiAmericas, Inc.

4000 Dain Rauscher Plaza
60 South Sixth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Attention. Investor Relations
612-661-3883

rhese reports are also avalable via
>ur website.

Independent Reaistered
Public Accountants
{PMG LLP

1200 Wells Fargo Center

30 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402

"ris repart contains certain forward-tocking statements of expected future developmentis, as defined in the Private Secunties Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forwar
ooking statements in this report refer 1o our expeclations regarding continuing operating improvement and other matters. These forward-looking statements retlect our
1xpectations and are based on currently avallable data; however, actual results are subject to future nsks and uncertainties, which could materially affect actual performance,
: 1 rth under “Risk Factors"in the attached Form 10-K
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Electronic Access to
PepsiAmericas’ Proxy
Statement, Annual Report and
Form 10-K

PepsiaAmericas offers shareholders access to
its Proxy Statement, Annual Report and Form
10-K online as a convenient and cost-effective
alternative to mailing the printed materials. To
sign up for electronic delivery. please go to ocur
website al www.pepsSIamencas.com under
Investors/electronic delivery enroliment.

Transfer Agent, Registrar,
Dividend Reinvestment
Communications about share ownership,
book-entry accounts, dividend payments,
transfer requirements, changes of aclcress.
lost stock certificates, account status and
sale of shares should be directed to:

PepsiAmericas, Inc.

¢/o Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Shareowner Services

P.O. Box 64854

St. Paul, MN  55164-0854
877-602-761

email access via:
wwwwellsfargo.com/shareownerservices

Wells Farge Bank, N.A. provides the
Shareowner Service Plus Plan for
PepsiAmericas shareowners, under which
current shareowners may elect to reinvest
dividends and/or make optional cash investrnents
in PepsiAmericas common stock. The program
also allows cash investments in PepsiAmericas
common stock by first-time investors, with a
$250 minimum initial investment.

For a brochure and details of the program,
please direct inquines to:

Wells Farge Bank, N.A.
Investment Plan Services
P.O. Box 64863

St. Paul, MN 55164-0863
B77-602-7611

Legal Counsel
Briggs and Morgan. P A,
2200 IDS Center

80 South Eighth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402

Common Stock Symbol
PAS

Stock Exchange Listing
The New York Stock Exchange is the
principal market for PepsiAmericas stock.

Certifications

Our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have filed the
certifications reguired by the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to the
attached Form 10-K.

Our Chief Executive Officer filed with the
NYSE 1in 2007 the CEO cervfication require|
oy Section 303412 of the NYSE histing standar
without qualfication. This certification state
that he 1s unaware of any violation by our
company of NYSE corparate governance
isting standards.

This publication contains many of the
valuable tradernarks owned and used by
PepsiCo, Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliat
in the U.S. and internationally.

This report is printed on
recycled paper.
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Accountability

“Accountability comes from
within. it's about setting stretch
goals and running the business
as if it were your own.”

Teamwork

“Ambitious goals require that
people work together. Qur
ability to rely on each other is
- what makes us great.”

Respect

“You show respect when you
appreciate and value the
differences, interests and unigque
ideas of those around you.”

®
p—— Integrity

“Integrity is what we do,
what we say, and what we
say we do.”

Passion

“Passion is excitement with
inspiration, motivation and a
pinch of creativity. It's looking at
each workday not as a challenge,
but as an opportunity.”
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